
 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy    www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy  

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Local Pension Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Friday, 22 January 2021 at 10.10 am 

Location: Microsoft Teams. 

Contact: Miss C Tuohy (0116 305 5483). 

Email: cat.tuohy@leics.gov.uk 

 
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will not be open to the public in line with Government 
advice on public gatherings. This meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast 
via the Council's Youtube Channel:- 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item  Report By  Marked 

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 
2020.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 12) 

2.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

Funding Strategy Statement - Employer Risks 
and Exits  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 13 - 68) 

7.  
  

Draft Responsible Investment Plan 2021.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 69 - 98) 

8.  
  

Annual Review of the Asset Strategy and 
Structure.  

Director of 
Corporate 

(Pages 99 - 162) 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.facebook.com/LeicsDemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCWFpwBLs6MnUzG0WjejrQtQ


 Resources 
 

9.  
  

Date of the Next Meeting.  
 

 
 

 

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to take place on 26 
February 2021 at 9.30am. 
 

 

10.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

TO: 
   

Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. T. Barkley CC  
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
 
Leicester City Council 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. M. Hunt CC 
 

Cllr. A. Clarke 
Cllr. R. Govind 
 

 

District Council Representatives 
 
Cllr. C. Frost  
Cllr. M. Graham MBE 
 
 
University Representative   
  
Mr. Z. Limbada 
 

 

 

Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. N. Booth 
Ms. J. Dean 
Mr. A. Wilson  
 
 
 
 



 

  

 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Local Pension Committee held at County Hall, 
Glenfield on Friday, 27 November 2020.  
   

PRESENT: 
Leicestershire County Council 
 

 

Mr. P. C. Osborne CC (Chairman) 
Mr. T. Barkley CC 
Mr. P. Bedford CC 
 

Dr. S. Hill CC 
Mr. Max Hunt CC 
 

Leicester City Council 
 

 

 Cllr. Ratilal Govind 
 Cllr. Adam Clarke 
 

 

District Council Representative 
 
Cllr. Malise Graham MBE 
  
Staff Representatives  
  
Mr. N. Booth 
 

Ms. J. Dean 
 

Independent Advisers and Managers  
 
Clare Scott  
 

40. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2020 were taken as read, confirmed 
and signed.  
 

41. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
34. 
 

42. Questions asked by members. 
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

43. To advise of any other items which the Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

44. Declarations of interest.  
 

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

45. Governance Review.  
 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding a 
governance review undertaken by the Fund’s Independent Advisor. A copy of the report 
marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed with these minutes. 

Arising from the presentation set out by Clare Scott, the Fund’s Independent Advisor the 
following points were noted:- 

  
i. The Local Pension Board’s role was to assist the Authority and Local Pension 

Committee. It had no decision-making powers, other than to report breaches to the 
Pensions Regulator where necessary. 

 

ii. Further consideration by officers would be given to how the Committee and 
Investment Subcommittee oversaw investments, longer-term performance and net 
new money. A report setting out arrangements would be brought to a future 
meeting.  

 

iii. Members were encouraged to complete the Training Knowledge Assessment form 
provided, to enable officers to create an individualised training plan and update the 
Training Policy if needed.  

 

RESOLVED: 

That the report be noted.  

 
46. Terms of Reference.  

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarded the 
revised Terms of Reference. A copy of the report is marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with 
these minutes. 

RESOLVED: 

That the revised Terms of Reference be approved.  

 
47. Annual Report and Accounts 2019/2020.  

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
Leicestershire Pension Fund’s Annual Report and Accounts 2019/20. A copy of the report 
is filed with these minutes, marked ‘Agenda Item 8’. 
 
Arising from discussion the following points were noted:-  
 

i. Grant Thornton audited Leicestershire County Council account’s and the 

Leicestershire Pension Fund jointly. The Committee noted that the Corporate 

Governance Committee was responsible for the maintenance of high standards 

within the Authority in relation to the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance and 

4



 
 

 

had discussed the report at its meeting on 25 November.  Members were pleased to 

note that the Fund received a clean audit with no significant issues of concern. 

 

ii. One risk, related to the County Council’s ERP Finance Software, was queried by 

the Committee. The Director informed Members that the risk was not material to the 

Fund. The Fund’s own IT systems and website was supported by Haywood’s, the 

system creator that ensured security remained up to date. Additionally, Hymans 

Robertson aided checks of data quality in relation to monthly posting while the 

Council’s Internal Audit Team monitored processes within the Pensions Team. 

 

iii. The increase of £36million to £40million in investment manager costs was a result 

of the asset base of the Fund increasing and additional transitional costs to LGPS 

Central. The Committee noted that transitions to Central had been slower than 

initially planned.  

 

iv. Administration performance was reported to the Local Pension Board quarterly. A 

handful of targets had been missed partly due to the IT system upgrade and new 

legislation being introduced. The Board would continue to scrutinise and monitor the 

situation and highlight any issues to the Committee.  

 

v. The Fund was committed to responsible investment as had been set out in its 2020 

plan, there were a few remaining milestones to reach and a further plan would be 

created for 2021 that would be brought to Committee. 

RESOLVED: 
That the Pension Fund Annual Report and Accounts for 2019/20 be approved. 
 

48. Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments.  
 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
Fund’s response to the consultation on the Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments 
and the Fund’s proposed solution for dealing with impacted cases.  A copy of the report is 
filed with these minutes, marked ‘Agenda Item 9’. 
 
The Director informed the Committee that on 4 November 2020 the Restriction of Public 
Sector Exit Payments Regulations came into effect, which would reduce the total benefit 
package of a scheme member that breached the £95,000 cap.  
 
The Committee noted the current inconsistency with current LGPS Regulations where if a 
member retired on either redundancy or efficiency grounds aged 55 or over, a pension 
strain cost was calculated and paid by the employer to the Fund, funding the early 
release of unreduced pension benefit to the scheme member. It was expected that the 
LGPS regulations would be aligned with the Exit Cap the first quarter of 2021. 
 
In the interim, the Fund had taken legal advice and followed the Local Government 
Associations guidance and proposed a solution to deal with cases where the member 
retires from 4 November 2020, as was set out in the report, which the Committee 
supported.  
 
The Pensions Manager had informed employers of the situation and asked that they 
inform employees that may be affected by such changes. The Committee noted that the 
Fund was unable to provide financial advice as to what action employers and employee 
would take. 

5



 
 

 

 
Members remained concerned that until legislation was confirmed and finalised it was 
impossible to understand the potential impact the £95k cap may have on employees, 
employers and the Fund (in relation to pension strain). The Committee was assured that 
they would be kept updated on the matter.   
 
RESOLVED: 

a) That the Committee note the Fund’s reply to the consultation on the Restriction of 
Public Sector Exit Payments. 
 

b) That the Fund’s proposal for dealing with impacted cases from 4 November 2020 
be approved. 

 
49. Action agreed by the Investment Subcommittee and LGPS Central Transitions Update.  

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
action agreed by the Investment Subcommittee on 14 October 2020 and progress with 
LGPS Central transitions. A copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked 
‘Agenda Item 10’. 
 
RESOLVED: 

That the report be noted.  

 
50. Summary Valuation of Pension Fund Investments.  

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the 
Summary Valuation to 30 September 2020. A copy of the report is filed with these 
minutes, marked ‘Agenda Item 11’. 
 
The Committee noted that as at quarter end not all of the 2020 Asset Allocation moves 
had been enacted, such as the investment into Central’s Multi-Asset Credit Fund. 
Members were pleased to note however, that the Fund hoped to transition its Ashmore 
holding to LGPS Central’s two manager Active Emerging Market Debt fund in early 
December 2020. 

The Fund held £133million in cash reserves, part of which would be invested in the 
expected LGPS Central Multi-Asset Credit fund in 2021. Instruction had further been 
provided to the Fund’s existing property managers to consider properties that may fit with 
the current Fund profile. The updated 2021 asset allocation would continue to look at the 
balance of asset allocation within the Fund. 

RESOLVED:- 

That the report be noted. 

 
51. Risk Management and Internal Controls.  

 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources the purpose 
of which was to provide an update on risk management, internal control and the Fund’s 
Budget.  A copy of the report marked ‘12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

6



 
 

 

That the revised risk register be approved. 
 
 

52. Responsible Investing Update.  
 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Corporate Resources regarding 
Responsible Investing. A copy of the report is filed with these minutes, marked ‘Agenda 
Item 13’. 
 
Arising from the discussion the following points were noted: 
 

i. The Fund submitted voting recommendations at 864 company meetings containing 
8,891 resolutions in the quarter. At 480 of those meetings the Fund, via its 
managers, recommended voting against or abstaining on over 5,600 separate 
resolutions. Of those 44% were board structure related, 14% renumeration related.  
 

ii. The Committee were pleased to note that good progress had been made to 
completing actions within the 2020 Responsible Investment Plan. The following 
years plan would developed with LGPS Central and be brought in early 2021 for 
comment and approval. 
 

iii. The Fund was a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, an 
association of 80 local authority pension funds. The Forum sought to protect and 
enhance the value of members shareholdings by optimising funds influences as 
shareholders on environmental, social and governance issues and thereby to 
promote corporate social responsibility and high standards of corporate 
governance. Leicestershire contributed £10,000 annually to the Forum. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

53. Date of Next Meeting.  
 
That the next meeting of the Committee take place on 22 January 2021 at 9.30am. 
 

54. Exclusion of the Press and Public.  
 
That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public be excluded 
from the meeting for the remaining items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Act. 
  
 

55. Climate Risk Report.  
 
The Committee received a presentation from LGPS Central which detailed the Climate 
Risk Report. The presentation was not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 3 and 10 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. The Committee welcomed 
Amelia Gaston, Gordon Ross Laura Michie and Valborg Lie from LGPS Central.  
 
Arising from the discussions the following points were noted:-  

7



 
 

 

 
i. LGPS Central used an external service provider to conduct the Climate 

Scenario within the Climate Risk Report. Having considered the implications 
different climate scenarios would have on business sectors and each of the 
Fund’s asset classes it considered that a two-degree scenario was the most that 
could be sustained, which aligned to the commitments of the Paris Agreement.  
 

ii. The Committee noted that the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) had recently stated that a 1.5 degree impact was as much as could be 
sustained. The International Energy Agency had also recently published a long-
term energy scenario reflecting that scenario. It was expected a revised 
scenario would be developed in due course as the market moved towards the 
1.5 degree scenario as standard. This would produce more accurate data that 
could be modelled against the Fund’s assets.  

 

iii. LGPS Central would continue to monitor its managers climate performance, 
where there was underperformance Central would engage with managers to 
understand any justification or motivation behind decisions made.   

 

iv. The Committee were pleased to note that the report evidenced that the revised 
Asset Allocation, approved by the Committee in January 2020, had improved 
the Fund’s performance in such climate scenarios with its increase in weighting 
to low carbon equities. Hymans Robertson, the Fund’s independent advisor 
would further consider the Climate Risk Report as part of its 2021 review of the 
Fund’s Asset Allocation which the Committee would consider January 2021.  

 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

56. LaSalle Property Markets Update.  
 
The Committee received a presentation from LaSalle providing an update on Property 
Markets. The presentation was not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 3 and 10 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
The Committee welcomed Amelia Gaston, Anne Lucking and Alistair Dryer from La Salle. 
 
The Committee were pleased to note that La Salle believed in taking care in 
Environmental, Social and Governance factor per best practice, understanding that it only 
enhanced performance for the Fund’s investments. LaSalle’s commitment was evidenced 
having achieved A+ in strategy in governance for the past four years with its submission 
to the Principles for Responsible Investing.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the presentation be noted. 
 

57. LGPS Central Quarterly Report.  
 

8



 
 

 

The Committee considered a report by LGPS Central, a copy of which marked 'Agenda 
Item 18’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

58. LGPS Central Quarterly Emerging Markets Equity and Global Equity Reports.  
 
The Committee considered a report by LGPS Central, a copy of which marked 'Agenda 
Item 19’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

59. Legal and General Investment Manager Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered a report by Legal and General Investment Manager, a copy of 
which marked 'Agenda Item 20’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for 
publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

60. Adams Street Partners Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by Adams Street Patners, a copy of which marked 
'Agenda Item 21’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

61. LGPS Central Global Active Investment Grade Corporate Bond Fund.  
 
The Committee considered a report by LGPS Central, a copy of which marked 'Agenda 
Item 22’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

62. LGPS Central - Property Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by LGPS Central, a copy of which marked 'Agenda 
Item 23’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

63. Aegon Asset Manager Quarterly Report  

9



 
 

 

 
The Committee considered a report by Aegon,, a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 24’ 
is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 
and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

64. JP Morgan Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered a report by JP Morgan, a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 
25’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

65. IFM Investors Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered a report by IFM Investors, a copy of which marked 'Agenda 
Item 26’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of 
paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

66. Kohlberg Kravis Roberts (KKR)  Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by KKR, a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 27’ is 
filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 
10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

67. LaSalle Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by La Salle, a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 
28’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 
3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

68. Stafford Timberland Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered a report by Stafford Timberland, a copy of which marked 
'Agenda Item 29’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

69. Millennium Global Quarterly Report  

10



 
 

 

 
The Committee considered a report by Millennium Global a copy of which marked 
'Agenda Item 30’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 
of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

70. Christofferson Robb & Company Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by Christofferson Robb & Company, a copy of which 

marked 'Agenda Item 31’ is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue 

of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

71. Partners Quarterly Report.  
 
The Committee considered a report by Partners, a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 32’ is filed 

with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of Part 1 

of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 

72. LGPS Central Emerging Market Debt Quarterly Report  
 
The Committee considered a report by LGPS Central a copy of which marked 'Agenda Item 33’ 

is filed with these minutes. The report was not for publication by virtue of paragraphs 3 and 10 of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12(A) of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
RESOLVED: 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

Error! Unknown document property name. CHAIRMAN 
27 November 2020 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



 
 

 
LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE - 22 JANUARY 2021   

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
FUNDING STRATEGY STAETMENT – EMPLOYER RISKS AND EXITS  
 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee of proposals to amend 
the Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement following regulation changes on 
employer risks and exits and to seek approval to undertake consultation with 
the Fund’s Employers on the proposed changes.  

 
 Background 
 
2. Pension Fund Officers already monitor employer risk, and these were 

considered at the last Pension Fund Valuation. 
 
3.  At the valuation employers were grouped by risk and this was used to 

determine some factors when assessing their contributions and deficit 
recovery repayment terms. 

 
4.  The Pension Fund also manages the risk of higher risk employers having to 

fund unexpected costs by requiring them to have a bond to cover potential 
redundancy situations, and also having ill health insurance in place. In the 
event that an employer is in serious financial failure and unable to pay 
pension strain costs the Fund can call upon the bond. The bond will then be 
paid to the Fund to cover the value required. This acts as a security for the 
Fund. 

 
5.  Officers monitor the bond values and their termination dates and arrange 

extensions or changes to the bond values, as required. 
 
6.  When an employer exits the Fund, Officers request a cessation termination 

value from the Fund Actuary and the employer usually pays the value as a 
single payment. However, there are some occasions when this is not 
possible, and the employer and Officers work together to form a repayment 
plan. 

 
7.  Currently there are five closed Community Admission Bodies (CABs) in the 

Fund. These tend to be older Fund employers without a guarantor or security, 
with either none or a very small number of active members, but still retain a 
Fund deficit. 

 

13 Agenda Item 6



8.  At the last valuation the CABs were offered opportunity to crystallise their 
deficit positions and set up repayment plans with the Pension Fund. One CAB 
chose to do this and is making its repayment contributions. On receipt of the 
final payment, this employer will then be able to “walk away” from the Fund 
having fully met its Fund responsibilities. 

 
9.  The CABs that did not chose to crystallise their deficit plans will be assessed 

again at the next valuation, or earlier if the employer requests it. 
 
 

Changes 
 
10.  On the 23 September 2020 new Regulations regarding employer risk came 

into force. These Regulations are named - Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Amendment) (Number 2) Regulations.  

 
11. Whilst there is no requirement for the Fund to use any of the new powers, 

however it is useful to note that some of the Regulations changes support 
what the Fund already does. These Regulations effectively fall into three 
areas; 
 

i. Review of employer contributions – Currently officers monitor the risk of the 
Funds employers. However, the Regulations now require the Fund to have a 
policy on when a review of employer contributions is necessary (outside of the 
formal Fund valuation process) and the process the Fund will take in doing so.  

  
Areas that should be included are; 
 
a. Factors the Fund will use to determine whether a contribution review 

for an employer or a group of employers should take place, taking into 
account actuarial advice. 

b. How the Fund will assess the risk/impact of an employer contribution 
on other fund employers. 

c. How an employer will be involved in a contribution review and the 
Fund’s procedure on consulting other potentially impacted employers. 

d. The periods in the triennial valuation cycle during which the Fund 
considers it may be inappropriate to conduct a review. 

e. That the Fund will take actuarial advice on the calculation of an 
employer’s revised contribution rate considering the following; 

i. The scale of the liability change 
ii. Changes in the employer’s covenant and their ability to meet 

obligations to the Scheme 
f. The process required for an employer to apply for a review, the 

evidence they are required to submit, and how the cost to the employer 
will be calculated. 

 
Other areas that should be covered are; 
 

g. Timetable for the review, noting this may vary. 

14



h. How any change in contribution rate and the employer’s circumstances 
may be monitored after implementation and a statement that 
employers will be required to support any reasonable information 
requests in order to allow effective monitoring of the changes in 
covenant. 

 
The Fund’s approach to a Review of Employer Contributions  
 

12.  The Fund is not minded allowing reviews of employer contributions as this is 
the purpose of the Fund’s valuation. However, in one exceptional 
circumstance the Fund may consider it if an employer contacts the Fund in 
writing. 
 

13.  The exceptional circumstance is if an employer is in genuine financial difficulty 
and this option increases the chance of repayment. The employer will need to 
provide evidence of the reason within six months of the change.  
 

14.  The Fund would only consider this if this was the least risk option to other 
Fund employers, and if the original outsourcing employer (if applicable) 
agrees, and acts as guarantor. The Fund would also assess the potential to 
put additional security in place and seek actuarial advice in all cases.     
 

15.  Ideally the Fund would not consider requests if it is within 12 months of the 
next valuation the Fund, however if the employer can prove their financial 
difficulty is imminent, the Fund would consider allowing the review. 
 

16.  The Fund proposes a legal document would be prepared by the Fund and 
must be signed by all relevant parties prior to allowing a change in rate. The 
document would include how future assessments of the case would be made, 
but ideally the employer would resort back to the standard actuarial 
assessment and employer rate setting, at the next valuation.  
 

17.  If there is no guarantor, the Fund would seek a clause in the legal document 
acting as priority over security of the employer’s assets, effectively acting as 
though the Fund is a secured creditor.  
 

18.  All costs of the arrangement to be met by the employer, such as the cost of 
advice to the Fund. 
 

19.  All cases will be taken to the Local Pension Committee for consideration and 
each case will be considered on its individual merit. Decisions may be made 
by the Chairman in consultation with Officers if an urgent decision is required 
between Committee meetings. 

 
20.  The Fund’s approach to this change is included on page 14 in the Fund’s 

proposed Funding Strategy Statement – see Appendix A.  
 
  

  

15



ii. Spreading exit payments – When an employer last active member leaves the 
scheme the cessation termination value is calculated. Usually the exiting 
employers pays the value as a single amount. However, there are rare 
occasions when the employer requests the payment is spread over a period of 
time. Officers already allow this to happen in exceptional circumstances and this 
Regulation change supports this action.  

 

21. The Regulations now require the Fund to have a policy on when the Fund will 
allow spreading exit payments and the process the Fund will take in doing so.  

 

Areas that should be included are; 
 

a. Factors the Fund will use to determine whether an employer’s exit 
payment should be spread (taking account of actuarial advice, 
covenant, legal and other advice as necessary). 

b. Circumstances the Fund considers it will not be appropriate to 
spread an exit payment. 

c. The appropriate length of time for an exit payment to be spread, 
including its maximum period. 

d. The process the Fund will adopt for consulting the Fund employer. 
e. Evidence the Fund will require from an employer to consider 

spreading an exit payment. 
f. How the Fund will inform an employer of its decision and matters 

such as 
i. The spreading period 
ii. Annual payments 
iii. Interest rates 
iv. Other costs payable 
v. Responsibility of the employer during the repayment period 

g. The Fund’s approach to monitoring the exit period and 
circumstances which could trigger a review. 

 
Other areas that should be covered are; 
 

h. Timetable for the review, noting this may vary. 
i. The Fund will take actuarial, covenant, legal and other advice as 

necessary in considering a case, and, 
j. The process for employers to share updated information if/when 

their circumstances change to allow effective monitoring of the 
arrangement. 
 

The Fund’s approach to a Spreading Exit Payments  
 
22.  Whilst the Fund still prefers payment of the cessation amount as a 

single value the Fund is willing to allow this in exceptional circumstance 
if the employer requests this in writing. 

 
23.  The exceptional circumstance is if an employer is in genuine financial 

difficultly and this option increases the chance of repayment. 
 

16



24.  The Fund proposes spreading the amount by no more than three 
years, but this could be extended in extreme circumstances.  

 
25.  The Fund would consider written requests from exiting employers 

within six months of exiting the Fund and would require detailed 
financial information from them to support their request for spreading. 

 
26.  The fund would take into account the amount of any security offered 

and seek actuarial and legal advice in all cases.  
 
27.  The Fund proposes a legal document would be prepared by the Fund 

and must be signed by all relevant parties prior to allowing a spreading 
of the exit payment. Interest would be added to the cessation value to 
account for the period the spreading covered, and payments would be 
made on a monthly basis until full payment is received. The first 
payment would start as quickly as possible after confirmation of the 
cessation value and the repayment plan would be written into the legal 
document.  

 
28.  The Fund would monitor payments from the employer and if any 

payment was breached the full remaining cessation amount would be 
requested.  

 
29.  All cases will be taken to the Local Pension Committee for 

consideration and each case will be considered on its individual merit. 
Decisions may be made by the Chairman in consultation with Officers if 
an urgent decision is required between Committee meetings. 

 
30.  The Fund’s approach to this change is included on page 18 in the 

Fund’s proposed Funding Strategy Statement – see Appendix A.  
 

iii. Deferred Debt Agreements (DDA) – This introduces a new “deferred 
employer status” and deferred debt agreements for exiting employers. 
This formally allows Secondary contributions to be certified for 
employers with no active members who have not paid their cessation 
termination value in full.  
 

31. The Regulation allows the Secondary contributions to be subject to 
review at formal Fund valuations and the DDA must set out the period 
over which the arrangement will run. This offers similar employer 
flexibilities to spreading exit payments, but without crystallising the 
debt. However, the key difference is that the employer remains invested 
within the Fund and its funding position will ultimately change at 
subsequent valuations – which may positively or negatively affect the 
employer. Given the level of prudence established in all funding plans, 
the expectation is that this arrangement would benefit the employer 
through positive investment performance and the ability to wind down 
some of its liabilities over time. 

  
 

17



32. Areas that should be included are; 
 

a. Factors the Fund will use to determine whether to enter into a DDA 
with an employer (taking account of actuarial advice) 

b. Circumstances the Fund considers it will not be appropriate to enter 
in a DDA 

c. The process the Fund will adopt for consulting with the exiting fund 
employer  

d. Evidence the Fund will require from a Fund employer to consider a 
DDA, including the cost and timing of an application, noting the 
requirement for actuarial advice and covenant, legal or other advice 
as applicable. 

e. Matters the Fund expects to include in the DDA, including; 
i. Responsibilities of the deferred employer 
ii. Conditions triggering the implementation of a recovery plan 
iii. Circumstance triggering a cessation of the arrangement leading 

to an exit payment becoming payable 
f. Fund’s approach to monitoring a DDA and the circumstances in 

which the Fund may consider; 
i. Approaching the employer to seek to agree a variation to the 

length of the agreement, and, 
ii. Serving notice on the fund employer that it is reasonably 

satisfied that the deferred employer’s ability to meet the 
contributions payable under the arrangement has weakened or 
is likely to weaken materially in the next 12 months. 

 
33. Other areas that should be covered are; 

 
g. Timetable for the review, noting this may vary. 
h. The Fund will take actuarial, covenant, legal and other advice as 

necessary in considering a case, and, 
i. The process for employers to share updated information if/when 

their circumstances change to allow effective monitoring of the 
arrangement. 

 
 
The Fund’s approach to a Deferred Debt Agreement  
 
34. By virtue of the old CABs in the scheme that have not crystallised their 

debts the Fund already provides for this. However, the Fund would not 
wish to allow new cases to arise, instead using the “spreading exit 
payment” route for future cases. 

 
35. The only time the Fund would consider a DDA is if payment of the 

crystallised cessation value, even with spreading payments, was to 
create a high risk of bankrupting the exiting employer. 

 
36. If this was to occur the Fund would work closely with the exiting 

employer, Fund Actuary, Fund and employer’s Legal Teams and any 
other relevant parties, to sign a legal document produced by the Fund 

18



detailing repayment terms based on an ongoing basis. The Fund would 
still wish to move the employer to the spreading exit payment route as 
soon as this became viable and the cessation termination was suitable. 

 
37. The Fund would wish to have some form of security in place, e.g. a bond 

that the Fund could call upon if the employer became bankrupt. Fund 
Officers would monitor the financial position and review the DDA 
arrangement annually, working closely with the employer. If the financial 
position improved significantly the intention would be to end the DDA, 
crystallise the debt and move over to spreading exit payments. 

 
38. All costs of the arrangement to be met by the employer, such as the cost 

of advice to the Fund, ongoing monitoring of the arrangement and 
correspondence on any ongoing contribution and security requirements. 

 
39. All cases will be taken to the Local Pension Committee for consideration 

and each case will be considered on its individual merit. Decisions may 
be made by the Chairman in consultation with Officers if an urgent 
decision is required between Committee meetings. 

 
40. The Fund’s approach to this change is included on page 19 in the Fund’s 

proposed Funding Strategy Statement – see Appendix A.  
 

Consultation 
 

41. It is proposed that the Fund consult with employers over four weeks 
following approval from the Committee.  A further report detailing the 
outcome of the consultation and presenting a final version of the Funding 
Strategy Statement will be brought to the Committee at a later date. 

  
  Recommendation 
 

42.  It is recommended that Committee; 
 

a. Approves the draft Funding Strategy Statement, in relation to changes on 
employer risks and exits, for consultation with the Fund’s Employers.  
 

b. Notes that a further report will be submitted to the Committee presenting 
the outcome of the consultation and seek final approval for the Fund’s 
Funding Strategy Statement  

  
 Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 
None specific 
 
Appendix 
 
The Fund’s proposed Funding Strategy Statement  
 
 

19



 
 
Officer to Contact 
 
Ian Howe  
Pensions Manager  
Telephone: (0116) 305 6945 
Email: Ian.Howe@leics.gov.uk 
 
Declan Keegan  
Assistant Director of Strategic Finance and Property  
Telephone: (0116) 305 6199 
Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

20



 

 

  

 

 

L
e

ic
e
s
te

rs
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
ty

 

C
o

u
n
c
il 

P
e
n
s
io

n
 F

u
n
d

 
F

u
n
d
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 S

ta
te

m
e
n
t 

 J
a
n
u

a
ry

 2
0

2
1
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  

 

January 2021  

 
C

o
n

te
n

ts
 

 

Funding Strategy Statement PAGE 

 

1 Introduction 1 
2 Basic Funding issues 4 
3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 9 
4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 24 
5 Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds 25 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 27 
Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 29 
Appendix C – Key risks and controls 31 
Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 35 
Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 38 
Appendix F – Glossary 42 

Appendix G- Exit Credit Policy                                                              44   

 

 

22



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  001 

 

January 2021  

1 Introduction 

1.1 What is this document? 

This is the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) of the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”), 

which is administered by Leicestershire County Council, (“the Administering Authority”).  

It has been prepared by the Administering Authority in collaboration with the Fund’s actuary, Hymans Robertson 

LLP, and after consultation with the Fund’s employers and investment adviser.  It is effective from TBC.  This 

FSS supersedes the FSS that had been in place from September 2020. 

1.2 What is the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund? 

The Fund is part of the national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  The LGPS was set up by the UK 

Government to provide retirement and death benefits for local government employees, and those employed in 

similar or related bodies, across the whole of the UK.  The Administering Authority runs the Leicestershire 

County Council Pension Fund, in effect the LGPS for the Leicestershire area, to make sure it:  

 receives the proper amount of contributions from employees and employers, and any transfer payments; 

 invests the contributions appropriately, with the aim that the Fund’s assets grow over time with investment 

income and capital growth; 

 uses the assets to pay Fund benefits to the members (as and when they retire, for the rest of their lives), 

and to their dependants (as and when members die), as defined in the LGPS Regulations. Assets are 

also used to pay transfer values and administration costs. 

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties involved in the management of the Fund are summarised in 

Appendix B. 

1.3 Why does the Fund need a Funding Strategy Statement? 

Employees’ benefits are guaranteed by the LGPS Regulations, and do not change with market values or 

employer contributions.  Investment returns will help pay for some of the benefits, but probably not all, and 

certainly with no guarantee.  Employees’ contributions are fixed in those Regulations also, at a level which 

covers only part of the cost of the benefits.   

Therefore, employers need to pay the balance of the cost of delivering the benefits to members and their 

dependants.   

The FSS focuses on how employer liabilities are measured, the pace at which these liabilities are funded, and 

how employers or pools of employers pay for their own liabilities.  This statement sets out how the Administering 

Authority has balanced the conflicting aims of: 

 affordability of employer contributions,  

 transparency of processes,  

 stability of employers’ contributions, and  

 prudence in the funding basis.  

There are also regulatory requirements for an FSS, as given in Appendix A. 

  

23



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  002 

 

January 2021  

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding its liabilities, and this includes reference to the Fund’s 

other policies; it is not an exhaustive statement of policy on all issues.  The FSS forms part of a framework of 

which includes: 

 the LGPS Regulations; 

 the Rates and Adjustments Certificate (confirming employer contribution rates for the next three years) 

which can be found in an appendix to the formal valuation report; 

 the Fund’s policies on admissions, cessations and bulk transfers; 

 actuarial factors for valuing individual transfers, early retirement costs and the costs of buying added 

service; and 

 the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (see Section 4). 

1.4 How does the Fund and this FSS affect me? 

This depends who you are: 

 a member of the Fund, i.e. a current or former employee, or a dependant: the Fund needs to be sure it is 

collecting and holding enough money so that your benefits are always paid in full; 

 an employer in the Fund (or which is considering joining the Fund): you will want to know how your 

contributions are calculated from time to time, that these are fair by comparison to other employers in the 

Fund, in what circumstances you might need to pay more and what happens if you cease to be an 

employer in the Fund.  Note that the FSS applies to all employers participating in the Fund; 

 an Elected Member whose council participates in the Fund: you will want to be sure that the council 

balances the need to hold prudent reserves for members’ retirement and death benefits, with the other 

competing demands for council money; 

 a Council Tax payer: your council seeks to strike the balance above, and also to minimise cross-subsidies 

between different generations of taxpayers. 

1.5 What does the FSS aim to do? 

The FSS sets out the objectives of the Fund’s funding strategy, such as:  

 to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, using a prudent long-term view.  This will ensure that 

sufficient funds are available to meet all members’/dependants’ benefits as they fall due for payment; 

 to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where appropriate; 

 to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to the Fund, by recognising 

the link between assets and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy which balances risk and return 

(NB this will also minimise the costs to be borne by Council Tax payers); 

 to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining contribution rates.  This 

involves the Fund having a clear and transparent funding strategy to demonstrate how each employer 

can best meet its own liabilities over future years; and 

 to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the Council Tax payer 

from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations. 

 

 

 

24



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  003 

 

January 2021  

1.6 How do I find my way around this document? 

In Section 2 there is a brief introduction to some of the main principles behind funding, i.e. deciding how much 

an employer should contribute to the Fund from time to time. 

In Section 3 we outline how the Fund calculates the contributions payable by different employers in different 

situations. 

In Section 4 we show how the funding strategy is linked with the Fund’s investment strategy. 

In the Appendices we cover various issues in more detail if you are interested: 

A. the regulatory background, including how and when the FSS is reviewed, 

B. who is responsible for what, 

C. what issues the Fund needs to monitor, and how it manages its risks, 

D. some more details about the actuarial calculations required, 

E. the assumptions which the Fund actuary currently makes about the future, 

F. a glossary explaining the technical terms occasionally used here. 

If you have any other queries please contact Ian Howe, Pensions Manager in the first instance at e-mail address 

ian.howe@leics.gov.uk or on telephone number 0116 305 6945.  

  

25



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  004 

 

January 2021  

2 Basic Funding issues 

(More detailed and extensive descriptions are given in Appendix D). 

2.1 How does the actuary calculate the required contribution rate? 

In essence this is a three-step process: 

 Calculate the funding target for that employer, i.e. the estimated amount of assets it should hold in order 

to be able to pay all its members’ benefits. See Appendix E for more details of what assumptions we 

make to determine that funding target; 

 Determine the time horizon over which the employer should aim to achieve that funding target. See the 

table in 3.3 and Note (c) for more details; 

 Calculate the employer contribution rate such that it has at least a given likelihood of achieving that 

funding target over that time horizon, allowing for various possible economic outcomes over that time 

horizon. See 2.3 below, and the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more details. 

2.2 What is each employer’s contribution rate? 

This is described in more detail in Appendix D. Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of benefits being built up each year, after deducting the members’ own contributions 

and including an allowance for administration expenses. This is referred to as the “Primary rate”, and is 

expressed as a percentage of members’ pensionable pay; plus 

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the 

employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary rate”.  In broad terms, payment of the Secondary 

rate is in respect of benefits already accrued at the valuation date. The Secondary rate may be expressed 

as a percentage of pay and/or a monetary amount in each year.  

The rates for all employers are shown in the Fund’s Rates and Adjustments Certificate, which forms part of the 

formal Actuarial Valuation Report.  Employers’ contributions are expressed as minima, with employers able to 

pay contributions at a higher rate.  Account of any higher rate will be taken by the Fund actuary at subsequent 

valuations, i.e. will be reflected as a credit when next calculating the employer’s contributions. 

2.3 What different types of employer participate in the Fund? 

Historically the LGPS was intended for local authority employees only.  However, over the years, with the 

diversification and changes to delivery of local services, many more types and numbers of employers now 

participate.  There are currently more employers in the Fund than ever before, and a significant number of the 

newer employing bodies are academies.  

In essence, participation in the LGPS is open to public sector employers providing some form of service to the 

local community. Whilst the majority of members will be local authority employees (and ex-employees), the 

majority of participating employers are those providing services in place of (or alongside) local authority 

services: academy schools, contractors, housing associations, charities, etc. 

  

26



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  005 

 

January 2021  

The LGPS Regulations define various types of employer as follows: 

Scheduled bodies - councils, and other specified employers such as academies and further education 

establishments.  These must provide access to the LGPS in respect of their employees who are not eligible to 

join another public sector scheme (such as the Teachers Scheme).  These employers are so-called because 

they are specified in a schedule to the LGPS Regulations.     

It is now possible for Local Education Authority schools to convert to academy status, and for other forms of 

school (such as Free Schools) to be established under the academies legislation. All such academies (or Multi 

Academy Trusts), as employers of non-teaching staff, become separate new employers in the Fund.  As 

academies are defined in the LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled Bodies”, the Administering Authority has no 

discretion over whether to admit them to the Fund, and the academy has no discretion whether to continue to 

allow its non-teaching staff to join the Fund.  There has also been guidance issued by the MHCLG regarding the 

terms of academies’ membership in LGPS Funds. 

Designating employers - employers such as town and parish councils are able to participate in the LGPS via 

resolution (and the Fund cannot refuse them entry where the resolution is passed).  These employers can 

designate which of their employees are eligible to join the scheme. 

Other employers are able to participate in the Fund via an admission agreement and are referred to as 

‘admission bodies’.  These employers are generally those with a “community of interest” with another scheme 

employer – community admission bodies (“CAB”) or those providing a service on behalf of a scheme 

employer – transferee admission bodies (“TAB”).  CABs will include housing associations and charities, TABs 

will generally be contractors.  The Fund is able to set its criteria for participation by these employers and can 

refuse entry if the requirements as set out in the Fund’s admissions policy are not met. (NB the terminology 

CAB and TAB has been dropped from recent LGPS Regulations, which instead combine both under the single 

term ‘admission bodies’; however, we have retained the old terminology here as we consider it to be helpful in 

setting funding strategies for these different employers). 

2.4 How does the calculated contribution rate vary for different employers? 

All three steps above are considered when setting contributions (more details are given in Section 3 and 

Appendix D). 

1. The funding target is based on a set of assumptions about the future, (e.g. investment returns, inflation, 

pensioners’ life expectancies). If an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the Fund then 

its funding target may be set on a more prudent basis, so that its liabilities are less likely to be spread 

among other employers after its cessation; 

2. The time horizon required is the period over which the funding target is achieved. Employers may be 

given a lower time horizon if they have a less permanent anticipated membership, or do not have tax-

raising powers to increase contributions if investment returns under-perform; and 

3. The likelihood of achieving the funding target over that time horizon will be dependent on the Fund’s 

view of the strength of employer covenant and its funding profile. Where an employer is considered to be 

weaker than the required likelihood will be set higher, which in turn will increase the required contributions 

(and vice versa). 

For some employers it may be agreed to pool contributions 3.4 

Any costs of non-ill-health early retirements must be paid by the employer, see 3.6. 

Costs of ill-health early retirements are covered in 3.7 and 3.8. 

27



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  006 

 

January 2021  

2.5 How is a funding level calculated? 

An employer’s “funding level” is defined as the ratio of: 

 the market value of the employer’s share of assets (see Appendix D, section D5, for further details of how 

this is calculated), to  

 the value placed by the actuary on the benefits built up to date for the employer’s employees and ex-

employees (the “liabilities”).  The Fund actuary agrees with the Administering Authority the assumptions 

to be used in calculating this value. 

If this is less than 100% then it means the employer has a shortfall, which is the employer’s “deficit”; if it is more 

than 100% then the employer is said to be in “surplus”.  The amount of deficit or shortfall is the difference 

between the asset value and the liabilities value. 

It is important to note that the funding level and deficit/surplus are only measurements at a particular point in 

time, on a particular set of assumptions about the future. Whilst we recognise that various parties will take an 

interest in these measures, for most employers the key issue is how likely it is that their contributions will be 

sufficient to pay for their members’ benefits (when added to their existing asset share and anticipated 

investment returns).  

In short, funding levels and deficits are short term, high level measures, whereas contribution-setting is a longer-

term issue. 

2.6 How does the Fund recognise that contribution levels can affect council and employer service 

provision, and council tax? 

The Administering Authority and the Fund actuary are acutely aware that, all other things being equal, a higher 

contribution required to be paid to the Fund will mean less cash available for the employer to spend on the 

provision of services.  For instance: 

 Higher Pension fund contributions may result in reduced council spending, which in turn could affect the 

resources available for council services, and/or greater pressure on council tax levels; 

 Contributions which Academies pay to the Fund will therefore not be available to pay for providing 

education; and 

 Other employers will provide various services to the local community, perhaps through charitable work, or 

contracting council services. If they are required to pay more in pension contributions to the LGPS then 

this may affect their ability to provide the local services at a reasonable cost. 

Whilst all this is true, it should also be borne in mind that: 

 The Fund provides invaluable financial security to local families, whether to those who formerly worked in 

the service of the local community who have now retired, or to their families after their death; 

 The Fund must have the assets available to meet these retirement and death benefits, which in turn 

means that the various employers must each pay their own way.  Lower contributions today will mean 

higher contributions tomorrow: deferring payments does not alter the employer’s ultimate obligation to the 

Fund in respect of its current and former employees; 

 Each employer will generally only pay for its own employees and ex-employees (and their dependants), 

not for those of other employers in the Fund; 

28



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  007 

 

January 2021  

 The Fund strives to maintain reasonably stable employer contribution rates where appropriate and 

possible. However, a recent shift in regulatory focus means that solvency within each generation is 

considered by the Government to be a higher priority than stability of contribution rates; 

 The Fund wishes to avoid the situation where an employer falls so far behind in managing its funding 

shortfall that its deficit becomes unmanageable in practice: such a situation may lead to employer 

insolvency and the resulting deficit falling on the other Fund employers. In that situation, those employers’ 

services would in turn suffer as a result; 

 Council contributions to the Fund should be at a suitable level, to protect the interests of different 

generations of council tax payers. For instance, underpayment of contributions for some years will need 

to be balanced by overpayment in other years; the council will wish to minimise the extent to which 

council tax payers in one period are in effect benefiting at the expense of those paying in a different 

period.  

Overall, therefore, there is clearly a balance to be struck between the Fund’s need for maintaining prudent 

funding levels, and the employers’ need to allocate their resources appropriately.  The Fund achieves this 

through various techniques which affect contribution increases to various degrees (see 3.1).  In deciding which 

of these techniques to apply to any given employer, the Administering Authority takes a view on the financial 

standing of the employer, i.e. its ability to meet its funding commitments and the relevant time horizon. 

The Administering Authority will consider a risk assessment of that employer using a knowledge base which is 

regularly monitored and kept up-to-date.  This database will include such information as the type of employer, its 

membership profile and funding position, any guarantors or security provision, material changes anticipated, etc.   

For instance, where the Administering Authority has reasonable confidence that an employer will be able to 

meet its funding commitments, then the Fund will permit options such as stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), a 

longer time horizon relative to other employers, and/or a lower likelihood of achieving their funding target. Such 

options will temporarily produce lower contribution levels than would otherwise have applied.  This is permitted 

in the expectation that the employer will still be able to meet its obligations for many years to come. 

On the other hand, where there is doubt that an employer will be able to meet its funding commitments or 

withstand a significant change in its commitments, then a higher funding target, and/or a shorter time horizon 

relative to other employers, and/or a higher likelihood of achieving the target may be required. 

The Fund actively seeks employer input, including to its funding arrangements, through various means: see 

Appendix A.   

2.7 What approach has the Fund taken to dealing with uncertainty arising from the McCloud court 

case and its potential impact on the LGPS benefit structure? 

The LGPS benefit structure from 1 April 2014 is currently under review following the Government’s loss of the 

right to appeal the McCloud and other similar court cases. The courts have ruled that the ‘transitional 

protections’ awarded to some members of public service pension schemes when the schemes were reformed 

(on 1 April 2014 in the case of the LGPS) were unlawful on the grounds of age discrimination.  At the time of 

writing, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has not provided any details of 

changes as a result of the case. However, it is expected that benefits changes will be required, and they will 

likely increase the value of liabilities. At present, the scale and nature of any increase in liabilities are unknown, 

which limits the ability of the Fund to make an accurate allowance.   

The LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) issued advice to LGPS funds in May 2019.  As there was no finalised 

outcome of the McCloud case by 31 August 2019, the Fund Actuary has acted in line with SAB’s advice and 

valued all member benefits in line with the current LGPS Regulations. 

29

http://lgpsboard.org/images/Other/Advice_from_the_SAB_on_McCloud_May_2019.pdf


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  008 

 

January 2021  

The Fund, in line with the advice in the SAB’s note, has considered how to allow for this risk in the setting of 

employer contribution rates.  

 

The Fund has taken the following action: 

 

An additional margin of prudence has been included in the method for setting contribution rates to allow for the 

uncertainty in the cost of past and future benefits.  This margin has been established by targeting a higher 

likelihood of success for employers – see table 3.3. 

 

The Fund has also considered the McCloud judgement in its approach to cessation valuations. Please see Note 

(k) to table 3.3 for further information.  

 

2.8 When will the next actuarial valuation be? 

On 8 May 2019 MHCLG issued a consultation seeking views on (among other things) proposals to amend the 

LGPS valuation cycle in England and Wales from a three year (triennial) valuation cycle to a four year 

(quadrennial) valuation cycle.  

On 7 October 2019 MHCLG confirmed the next LGPS valuation cycle in England and Wales will be 31 March 

2022, regardless of the ongoing consultation.  The Fund therefore instructed the Fund Actuary to certify 

contribution rates for employers for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023 as part of the 2019 valuation of the 

Fund. 

  

30

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-changes-to-the-local-valuation-cycle-and-management-of-employer-risk


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  009 

 

January 2021  

3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 

3.1 General comments 

A key challenge for the Administering Authority is to balance the need for stable, affordable employer 

contributions with the requirement to take a prudent, longer-term view of funding and ensure the solvency of the 

Fund.  With this in mind, the Fund’s three-step process identifies the key issues: 

1. What is a suitably (but not overly) prudent funding target?  

2. How long should the employer be permitted to reach that target? This should be realistic but not so long 

that the funding target is in danger of never actually being achieved. 

3. What likelihood is required to reach that funding target? This will always be less than 100% as we cannot 

be certain of the future. Higher likelihood “bars” can be used for employers where the Fund wishes to 

reduce the risk that the employer ceases leaving a deficit to be picked up by other employers.  

These and associated issues are covered in this Section. 

The Administering Authority recognises that there may occasionally be particular circumstances affecting 

individual employers that are not easily managed within the rules and policies set out in the Funding Strategy 

Statement.  Therefore, the Administering Authority, reserves the right to direct the actuary to adopt alternative 

funding approaches on a case by case basis for specific employers. 

3.2 The effect of paying lower contributions  

In limited circumstances the Administering Authority may permit employers to pay contributions at a lower level 

than is assessed for the employer using the three-step process above.  At their absolute discretion the 

Administering Authority may:  

 extend the time horizon for targeting full funding; 

 adjust the required likelihood of meeting the funding target; 

 permit an employer to participate in the Fund’s stabilisation mechanisms;  

 permit extended phasing in of contribution rises or reductions; 

 pool contributions amongst employers with similar characteristics; and/or 

 accept some form of security or guarantee in lieu of a higher contribution rate than would otherwise be the 

case. 

Employers which are permitted to use one or more of the above methods will often be paying, for a time, 

contributions less than required to meet their funding target, over the appropriate time horizon with the required 

likelihood of success.  Such employers should appreciate that: 

 their true long-term liability (i.e. the actual eventual cost of benefits payable to their employees and ex-

employees) is not affected by the pace of paying contributions,  

 lower contributions in the short term will result in a lower level of future investment returns on the 

employer’s asset share.  Thus, deferring a certain amount of contribution will lead to higher contributions 

in the long-term, and 

 it will take longer to reach full funding, all other things being equal.   

Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how the main funding policies differ for different types of employer, followed by 

more detailed notes where necessary. 

Section 3.4 onwards deals with various other funding issues which apply to all employers. 

31



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  010 

 

January 2021  

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers 

Type of employer Scheduled Bodies Community Admission Bodies and 
Designating Employers (including 

Parish/Town Councils) 

Transferee Admission Bodies* 

Sub-type Local 
Authorities 

(incl. Police & 
Fire)  

Colleges & 
Universities  

Academies Open to new 
entrants 

Closed to new 
entrants 

(all) 

Funding Target basis 
used 

Ongoing participation basis assumes long-term Fund 
participation  

(see Appendix E) 

Ongoing participation basis, but may move to 
“gilts basis” - see Note (a) 

 Contractor exit basis, assumes fixed contract 
term in the Fund (see Appendix E) 

Primary Contribution 
rate 

 (see Appendix D – D.2) 

 

Stabilised contribution 
rate? 

Yes - see 
Note (b) 

No 

Maximum time horizon 

– Note (c) 
17 years 15 years 17 years 17 years Future working lifetime 17 years 

Secondary rate – Note 

(d) 
% of payroll / 

monetary 
amount 

% of payroll / 
monetary 
amount 

% of payroll % of payroll % of payroll/monetary 
amount 

% of payroll/monetary amount depending on 
circumstances 

Treatment of surplus Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

Preferred approach: contributions kept at Primary contribution rate. However, reductions 
may be permitted by the Admin. Authority 

Reduce contributions by spreading the surplus 
over the remaining contract term 

Likelihood of 
achieving target – 

Note (e) 

75% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 

Phasing of contribution 
changes 

Covered by 
stabilisation 
arrangement 

3 years 
  

None, unless increases are particularly large 

Review of rates – Note 
(g) 

Review of rates will be carried out in line with the Regulations and as set out in Note (g) Review of rates will be carried out in line with 
the Regulations and as set out in Note (g) 

 

Particularly reviewed in last 3 years of contract 

New employer n/a n/a Note (h) Note (i) Notes (i) & (j) 

Cessation of 
participation: cessation 
exit debt/credit payable 

Cessation is assumed not to be generally possible, as 
Scheduled Bodies are legally obliged to participate in the 

LGPS.  In the rare event of cessation occurring 
(machinery of Government changes for example), the 
cessation principles applied would be as per Note (k). 

Can be ceased subject to terms of admission 
agreement.  Cessation surplus or debt will be 

calculated on a basis appropriate to the 
circumstances of cessation – see Note (k). 

Participation is assumed to expire at the end of 
the contract.  Cessation credit or debt 

calculated on ongoing basis, unless cessation 
is caused by deliberate action taken by the 

employer. Awarding Authority will be liable for 
future deficits that arise. 

32

file:///C:/Users/acranston/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/VH13Q3E4/201118%20Oxfordshire%20-%20Funding%20Strategy%20Statement%202020%20(updates%20for%20Exit%20credit%20and%20Emp%20management).docx%23_bookmark6


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND  011 

 

January 2021  

* Where the Administering Authority recognises a fixed contribution rate agreement between a letting authority and a contractor, the certified employer contribution rate will be 

derived in line with the methodology specified in the risk sharing agreement.  Additionally, in these cases, upon cessation the contractor’s assets and liabilities will transfer 

back to the letting employer with no crystallisation of any deficit or surplus. Further detail on fixed contribution rate agreements is set out in note (j). 

33



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 012 

 

January 2021  

Note (a) (Gilts exit basis for CABs and Designating Employers closed to new entrants) 

In the circumstances where: 

 the employer is a Designating Employer, or an Admission Body but not a Transferee Admission Body, 

and 

 the employer has no guarantor, and 

 the admission agreement is likely to terminate, or the employer is likely to lose its last active member, 

within a timeframe considered appropriate by the Administering Authority to prompt a change in funding,  

the Administering Authority may set a higher funding target (e.g.  based on the return from long-term gilt yields) 

by the time the agreement terminates or the last active member leaves, in order to protect other employers in 

the Fund.  This policy will increase regular contributions and reduce, but not entirely eliminate, the possibility of 

a final deficit payment being required from the employer when a cessation valuation is carried out.   

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to adopt the above approach in respect of those Designating 

Employers and Admission Bodies with no guarantor, where the strength of covenant is considered to be weak 

but there is no immediate expectation that the admission agreement will cease, or the Designating Employer 

alters its designation. 

Note (b) (Stabilisation) 

Stabilisation is a mechanism where employer contribution rate variations from year to year are kept within a pre-

determined range, thus allowing those employers’ rates to be relatively stable. In the interests of stability and 

affordability of employer contributions, the Administering Authority, on the advice of the Fund Actuary, believes 

that stabilising contributions can still be viewed as a prudent longer-term approach.  However, employers whose 

contribution rates have been “stabilised” (and may therefore be paying less than their theoretical contribution 

rate) should be aware of the risks of this approach and should consider making additional payments to the Fund 

if possible. 

This stabilisation mechanism allows short term investment market volatility to be managed so as not to cause 

volatility in employer contribution rates, on the basis that a long-term view can be taken on net cash inflow, 

investment returns and strength of employer covenant. 

The current stabilisation mechanism applies if: 

 the employer satisfies the eligibility criteria based on tax raising status, financial security and time horizon 

in the Fund set by the Administering Authority and; 

 there are no material events which cause the employer to become ineligible, e.g. significant reductions in 

active membership (due to outsourcing or redundancies), or changes in the nature of the employer 

(perhaps due to Government restructuring)or changes in the security of the employer. 

On the basis of modelling carried out as part of the 2019 valuation exercise (see Section 4), the stabilised 

details are as follows: 

 

 

 

34



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 013 

 

January 2021  

Type of employer Max cont increase p.a. Max cont decrease p.a. 

Tax raising body (excl. Town & Parish 

Councils) 

+1% of pay -1% of pay 

The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the next formal valuation.  However, the Administering 

Authority reserves the right to review the stabilisation criteria and limits at any time before then, on the basis of 

membership and/or employer changes as described above. 

Note (c) (Maximum time horizon) 

The maximum time horizon starts at the commencement of the revised contribution rate (1 April 2020 for the 

2019 valuation).  The Administering Authority would normally expect the period to reduce at successive triennial 

valuations so that the deficit recovery plan is a natural continuation of the previous plan but would reserve the 

right to propose alternative spreading periods. 

Where stabilisation applies, the resulting employer contribution rate would be amended to comply with the 

stabilisation mechanism. 

For employers with no (or very few) active members at this valuation, the deficit should be recovered by a fixed 

monetary amount over a period to be agreed with the body or its successor, not to exceed the expected future 

working lifetime of active members or contract end date whichever is sooner. 

Note (d) (Secondary rate) 

For employers where stabilisation is not being applied, the Secondary contribution rate for each employer 

covering the period until the next formal valuation will often be set as a percentage of salaries.  However, the 

Administering Authority reserves the right to amend these rates between formal valuations and/or to require 

these payments in monetary terms instead. 

Where an employer is a transferee admission body, the Secondary rate has been set to spread the funding 

surplus / deficit over the future working lifetime of active members or contract end date whichever is sooner. 

Note (e) (Likelihood of achieving funding target) 

Each employer has its funding target calculated, and a relevant time horizon over which to reach that target. 

Contributions are set such that, combined with the employer’s current asset share and anticipated market 

movements over the time horizon, the funding target is achieved with a given minimum likelihood. A higher 

required likelihood bar will give rise to higher required contributions, and vice versa. 

The way in which contributions are set using these three steps, and relevant economic projections, is described 

in further detail in Appendix D. 

Different likelihoods are set for different employers depending on their nature and circumstances: in broad 

terms, a higher likelihood may apply due to one or more of the following: 

 the Fund believes the employer poses a greater funding risk than other employers,  

 the employer does not have tax-raising powers; 

 the employer does not have a guarantor or other sufficient security backing its funding position; and/or 

 the employer is likely to cease participation in the Fund in the short or medium term. 

35



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 014 

 

January 2021  

Note (f) (Employer Risk) 

The administering authority considers employer risk, when setting employer contribution rates. 

Employers that have low employer contribution rates without additional security in place (e.g.a bond), the 

administering authority may decide to increase the rates to reduce the risk, or ringfence any potential surplus in 

lieu of a bond.  

Note (g) (Regular Reviews) 

Under Regulation 64A, the Fund may amend contribution rates between valuations where there has been 

“significant change” to the liabilities or covenant of an employer. The Fund would only consider such requests 

from an employer, in writing, in the following exceptional circumstance:- 

 the employer is in genuine financial difficulty and this option increases the risk of the employer being 

unable to pay their regular contributions. The employer will need to provide evidence to support their 

request within six months of the change;  

The Fund would only consider this request if this was the least risk option to other Fund employers, and if the 

original outsourcing employer (if applicable) agrees, and acts as guarantor. The Fund would also assess the 

potential to put additional security in place and seek actuarial advice in all cases;     

The Fund would not consider requests if it is within 12 months of the Fund’s next formal valuation. However if 

the employer can prove their financial difficulty is imminent, the Fund would consider allowing the review; 

The Fund proposes a legal document would be prepared by the Fund and must be signed by all relevant parties 

prior to allowing a change in contribution rate. The legal document would include how future assessments of the 

employer’s contribution rate would be carried out; 

If there is no guarantor, the Fund would seek a clause in the legal document to allow the Fund to have some 

form of security over the employer’s assets;  

All cases will be taken to Pensions Committee for consideration and each case will be considered on its 

individual merit. Decisions may be made by the Chair in consultation with Officers if an urgent decision is 

required between Committee meetings. 

Note (h) (New Academy conversions) 

At the time of writing, the Fund’s policies on academies’ funding issues are as follows:  

i. The new academy will be regarded as a separate employer in its own right and will not be pooled with 

other employers in the Fund.  The only exception is where the academy is part of a Multi Academy Trust 

(MAT) in which case the academy’s figures will be calculated as below but can be combined with those of 

the other academies in the MAT; 

ii. The new academy’s past service liabilities on conversion will be calculated based on its active Fund 

members on the day before conversion.  For the avoidance of doubt, these liabilities will include all past 

service of those members, but will exclude the liabilities relating to any ex-employees of the school who 

have deferred or pensioner status; 

iii. The new academy will be allocated an initial asset share from the ceding council’s assets in the Fund.  

This asset share will be calculated using the estimated funding position of the ceding council at the date 

of academy conversion.  The share will be based on the active members’ funding level, having first 

allocated assets in the council’s share to fully fund deferred and pensioner members.  The asset 

36

https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#r64A


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 015 

 

January 2021  

allocation to the academy will be limited if necessary so that its initial funding level is subject to a 

maximum of 100%.  The asset allocation will be based on market conditions and the academy’s active 

Fund membership on the day prior to conversion. The new academy’s calculated contribution rate will be 

based on the time horizon and likelihood of achieving the funding target outlined for Academies in the 

table in Section 3.3 above. 

iv. It is possible for an academy to leave one MAT and join another. If this occurs, all active, deferred and 

pensioner members of the academy transfer to the new MAT. The transferring academy will pay the 

certified contribution rate of the MAT they are joining.  If two MATs merge during the period between 

formal valuations, the new merged MAT will pay the higher of the two certified individual MAT rates until 

the rates are reassessed at the next formal valuation. 

The Fund’s policies on academies are subject to change in the light of any amendments to MHCLG and/or Dfe 

guidance (or removal of the formal guarantee currently provided to academies by the DfE). Any changes will be 

notified to academies and will be reflected in a subsequent version of this FSS. In particular, policy (iv) above 

will be reconsidered at each valuation. 

Note (i) (New Admission Bodies) 

With effect from 1 October 2012, the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous Regulations introduced mandatory new 

requirements for all Admission Bodies brought into the Fund from that date.  Under these Regulations, all new 

Admission Bodies will be required to provide some form of security, such as a guarantee from the letting 

employer, an indemnity or a bond.  The security is required to cover some or all of the following: 

 the strain cost of any redundancy early retirements resulting from the premature termination of the 

contract; 

 allowance for the risk of asset underperformance; 

 allowance for the risk of a greater than expected rise in liabilities; 

 allowance for the possible non-payment of employer and member contributions to the Fund; 

 the current deficit. 

For all new Transferee Admission Bodies, the security must be to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority 

as well as the letting employer and will be reassessed on an annual basis. See also Note (j) below. 

The Administering Authority will only consider requests from Community Admission Bodies (or other similar 

bodies, such as section 75 NHS partnerships) to join the Fund if they are sponsored by a Scheduled Body with 

tax raising powers, guaranteeing their liabilities and also providing a form of security as above.  

The above approaches reduce the risk to other employers in the Fund, of potentially having to pick up any 

shortfall in respect of Admission Bodies ceasing with an unpaid deficit. 

Note (j) (New Transferee Admission Bodies) 

A new TAB usually joins the Fund as a result of the letting/outsourcing of some services from an existing 

employer (normally a Scheduled Body such as a council or academy) to another organisation (a “contractor”).  

This involves the TUPE transfer of some staff from the letting employer to the contractor.  Consequently, for the 

duration of the contract, the contractor is a new participating employer in the Fund so that the transferring 

employees maintain their eligibility for LGPS membership.  At the end of the contract the employees revert to 

the letting employer or to a replacement contractor. 

37

file:///C:/Users/acranston/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/VH13Q3E4/201118%20Oxfordshire%20-%20Funding%20Strategy%20Statement%202020%20(updates%20for%20Exit%20credit%20and%20Emp%20management).docx%23_bookmark3


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 016 

 

January 2021  

Historically, the TAB would be set up in the Fund as a new employer with responsibility for all the accrued 

benefits of the transferring employees; in this case, the contractor would usually be assigned an initial asset 

value equal to the past service liability value of the employees’ Fund benefits.  The quid pro quo is that the 

contractor is then expected to ensure that its share of the Fund is also fully funded at the end of the contract: 

see Note (k). 

 The Fund’s policy is that new admission body outsourcings are set up under a “pass through” arrangement 

(although exceptions will be considered on a case-by-case basis at the Fund’s discretion). Pass through 

arrangements allow for the pension risks to be shared between the letting employer and new contractor. 

Typically, the majority of the pension risk is borne by the letting employer and thus the liability is retained on 

their balance sheet – as such the contractor would not be required to pay any deficit or receive any surplus at 

the end of the contract (subject to any agreed exceptions). However, there is some flexibility within a pass-

through arrangement. In particular there are three different routes that the letting employer may wish to adopt.  

Clearly as the risk ultimately resides with the employer letting the contract, it is for them to agree the appropriate 

route with the contractor: 

  

38



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 017 

 

January 2021  

i) Pooling 

 Under this option the contractor is pooled with the letting employer.  In this case, the contractor pays the 

 same or similar rate as the letting employer. 

ii) Letting employer retains pre-contract risks 

Under this option the letting employer would retain responsibility for assets and liabilities in respect of 

 service accrued prior to the contract commencement date.  The contractor would be responsible for the 

 future liabilities that accrue in respect of transferred staff.  The contractor’s contribution rate could vary 

 from one valuation to the next. It would be liable for any deficit or be entitled to any surplus at the  end of 

 the contract term in respect of assets and liabilities attributable to service accrued during the contract 

 term and actions wholly attributable to the new employer for example excessive pay awards. Where  

there is a surplus the Administering Authority will determine, at its discretion, the amount of exit credit (if 

any) to be paid in accordance with the Regulations (see note (k) below). 

 

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed 

 Under this option the contractor pays a fixed contribution rate throughout its participation in the Fund 

 and doesn’t pay any cessation deficit or  receive an exit credit at the end of the contract term. In other 

 words, the pension risks “pass through” to the letting employer. 

The Administering Authority’s preferred approach is that a new TAB will participate in the Fund via a pooling 

arrangement with the letting employer.  The certified employer contribution rate of the contractor will normally be 

set equal to the rate of the letting authority. The rate paid by the contractor in the future will change in line with 

the contribution rate of the letting authority Upon cessation the contractor’s assets and liabilities will transfer 

back to the letting authority with no crystallisation of any deficit or surplus. 

Although each matter will be dealt with on a case by case basis the Administering Authority default position is 

pooling with any surplus or deficit passing back to the letting employer. The Admission Agreement as well as 

the transfer agreement reflects this. The Admission Agreement should ensure that some element of risk 

transfers to the contractor where it relates to their decisions and it is unfair to burden the letting employer with 

that risk.  For example, the contractor should typically be responsible for pension costs that arise from; 

 

 above average pay increases, including the effect in respect of service prior to contract commencement 

even if the letting employer takes on responsibility for the latter under (ii) above;   

 redundancy and early retirement decisions. 

Employers which outsource should be aware that all actuarial costs relating to the outsourcing (which will 

include any work that is required at the end of a contract) will be charged to either the outsourcing employer or 

the contractor and will NOT be met by the Fund. The exception will be the setting of employer contribution rates 

as part of a normal actuarial valuation, where the Fund pays actuarial fees as the work covers all employing 

bodies.  

  

39



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 018 

 

January 2021  

Note (k) (Admission Bodies Exiting the Fund) 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Admission Agreement, the Administering Authority may consider any of 

the following as triggers for the cessation of an admission agreement with any type of body: 

 Last active member ceasing participation in the Fund. 

 The insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the Admission Body; 

 Any breach by the Admission Body of any of its obligations under the Agreement that they have failed to 

remedy to the satisfaction of the Fund; 

 A failure by the Admission Body to pay any sums due to the Fund within the period required by the Fund; 

The failure by the Admission Body to renew or adjust the level of the bond or indemnity, or to confirm an 

appropriate alternative guarantor, as required by the Fund; 

 The failure by the Admission Body to sign the admission agreement and/or bond documents and secure 

the required guarantee as required by the Fund; or. 

 On termination of a Deferred Debt Agreement. 

 

On cessation, the Administering Authority will instruct the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to 

determine whether there is any deficit or surplus. 

Where there is a deficit, payment of this amount in full would normally be sought from the Admission Body.   

The Fund’s normal policy is that this cessation debt is paid in full in a single lump sum within 28 days of the 

employer being notified.  However, the Fund will consider written requests from employers to spread the 

payment over an agreed period, in the exceptional circumstance where payment of the debt in a single 

immediate lump sum could be shown by the employer to be materially detrimental to the employer’s financial 

situation. 

In this exceptional case, the Fund’s policy is:- 

 The agreed spread period is no more than three years, but the Fund could use its discretion to extend 

this period in extreme circumstances; 

 The Fund will only consider written requests within six months of the employer exiting the Fund. The 

exiting employer would be required to provide the Fund with detailed financial information to support 

their request; 

 The Fund would take into account the amount of any security offered and seek actuarial and legal 

advice in all cases; 

 The Fund proposes a legal document, setting out the terms of the exit payment agreement, would be 

prepared by the Fund and signed by all relevant parties prior to the payment agreement commencing; 

 Any breach of the agreed payment plan would require payment of the outstanding cessation amount 

immediately; 

 All cases will be taken to Pensions Committee for consideration and each case will be considered on its 

individual merit. Decisions may be made by the Chair in consultation with Officers if an urgent decision 

is required between Committee meetings. 

 

 

 

40



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 019 

 

January 2021  

 

Deferred Debt Agreement  

The Fund’s preferred policy is for the spreading of payments, as detailed above, to be followed in the 

exceptional circumstances where an exiting employer is unable to pay the required cessation payment in full.  

However, in the event that spreading of payments will create a high risk of bankruptcy for the exiting employer, 

the Fund may use it exercise its discretion to set up a Deferred Debt Agreement as described in Regulation 64 

(7A)).   

If the Fund decides to set up a Deferred Debt Agreement then:-  

 The Fund will require a legal document, signed by all relevant parties, detailing the terms of the 

Deferred Debt Agreement .   

 The exiting employer will be required to offer the Fund some sort of security e.g. a bond over the term of 

the Deferred Debt Agreement in the event the employer becomes insolvent during the term of the 

agreement; 

  If the financial position of the employer improves siginificantly, the Fund reserves the right to end the 

agreed Deferred Debt Agreement and put in place an agreement to repay the outstanding cessation 

amount over an agreed repayment period.  Further details of the Fund’s policy on spreading deficit 

payments are set out above. 

 All Deferred Debt Agreement cases will be taken to Pensions Committee for consideration and each 

case will be considered on its individual merit. Decisions may be made by the Chair in consultation 

with Officers if an urgent decision is required between Committee meetings.  

In circumstances where there is a surplus, the Administering Authority will determine, at its sole discretion, the 
amount of exit credit (if any) to be paid to the Admission Body.   

The Administering Authority’s entitlement to determine whether exit credits are payable in accordance with 
these provisions shall apply to all Admission Bodies ceasing their participation in the Fund after 14 May 2018.  
This provision therefore is retrospectively effective to the same extent as provisions of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Amendment) Regulations 2020.   

The Administering Authority may determine the amount of exit credit payable to be zero, however, in making a 
determination, the Administering Authority will take into account the following factors;  

a) the extent to which there is an excess of assets in the fund relating to the employer over and above 

the liabilities specified; 

b) the proportion of the excess of assets which has arisen because of the value of the employer’s 
contributions; 

c) any representations to the Administering Authority made by the exiting employer, guarantor or 
Scheme Employer or by someone who owns, funds or controls the exiting employer; or in some 
cases, the Secretary of State; and  

d) any other relevant factors  

Disputes  

In the event of any dispute or disagreement on the amount of any exit credit paid and the process by which that 
has been considered, the appeals and adjudication provisions contained in Regulations 74-78 of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013 would apply.  

Please refer to Appendix G for the Fund’s policy on exit credits. 

41

https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#r64
https://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php#r64


LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 020 

 

January 2021  

As discussed in Section 2.7, the LGPS benefit structure from 1 April 2014 is currently under review following the 

Government’s loss of the right to appeal the McCloud and other similar court cases. The Fund has considered 

how it will reflect the current uncertainty regarding the outcome of this judgement in its approach to cessation 

valuations. For cessation valuations that produce a deficit value carried out before any changes to the LGPS 

benefit structure (from 1 April 2014) are confirmed, the Fund’s policy is that the actuary will apply an appropriate 

loading to the ceasing employer’s past service benefit accrual, as an estimate of the possible impact of resulting 

benefit changes. 

The Fund Actuary charges a fee for carrying out an employer’s cessation valuation  which the Fund will 

recharge to the employer.   

For Transferee Admission Bodies, any cessation valuation would normally be carried out on an on-going basis, 

as this will be the basis on which their opening position was calculated upon joining the Fund. Where a 

Transferee Admission Body has taken, in the view of the Administering Authority, action that has been 

deliberately designed to bring about a cessation event (stopping future accrual of LGPS benefits, for example), 

then the cessation valuation will be carried out on a gilts basis. 

Any cessation valuation, whether carried out on an on-going or a gilts basis, will calculate the surplus or deficit 

at the point of the cessation and full payment of any deficit amount will release the Transferee Admission Body 

from any further liability to the Fund. In the event that the sub-fund of the Transferee Admission Body 

subsequently falls into a deficit position, the outsourcing organisation will become responsible for the deficit 

even if they did not act as a guarantor for the admission agreement. At no stage will the Fund, and hence all 

ongoing employing bodies within it, bear any financial risk in respect of any Transferee Admission Body.   

For non-Transferee Admission Bodies whose participation is voluntarily ended either by themselves or the 

Fund, or where a cessation event has been triggered, the Administering Authority must look to protect the 

interests of other ongoing employers.  The actuary will therefore adopt an approach which, to the extent 

reasonably practicable, protects the other employers from the likelihood of any material loss emerging in future: 

a) Where there is a guarantor for future deficits and contributions, the details of the guarantee will be 

considered prior to the cessation valuation being carried out.  In some cases, the guarantor is simply 

guarantor of last resort and therefore the cessation valuation will be carried out consistently with the 

approach taken had there been no guarantor in place.  Alternatively, where the guarantor is not simply 

guarantor of last resort, the cessation may be calculated using the ongoing participation basis or 

contractor exit basis as described in Appendix E; 

b) Alternatively, depending on the nature of the guarantee, it may be possible to simply transfer the former 

Admission Body’s liabilities and assets to the guarantor, without needing to crystallise any deficit or 

surplus. This approach may be adopted where the employer cannot pay the contributions due, and this is 

within the terms of the guarantee; 

c) Where a guarantor does not exist then, in order to protect other employers in the Fund, the cessation 

liabilities and final deficit (or surplus) will normally be calculated using a “gilts  exit basis”, which is more 

prudent than the ongoing participation basis.  This has no allowance for potential future investment 

outperformance above gilt yields and has added allowance for future improvements in life expectancy. 

This could give rise to significant cessation debts being required.   

In the event that the Fund is not able to recover the required payment in full, then the unpaid amounts fall to be 

shared amongst all of the other employers in the Fund.  This may require an immediate revision to the Rates 

and Adjustments Certificate affecting other employers in the Fund, or instead be reflected in the contribution 

rates set at the next formal valuation following the cessation date. 

42



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 021 

 

January 2021  

 

3.4 Pooled contributions 

The Administering Authority will only allow employer pools to be set up if it legally required (perhaps as a result 

of LGPS Regulations or where a pass-through agreement is in place) or where a request is received from a 

group of employers that they wish to become a pool.  

Even if such a request is received, the Administering Authority will only agree to an employer pool if it is 

satisfied that the relevant employers have adequately considered the consequences of the pool and that there is 

a legal agreement in place which makes it impossible for the pool to be dissolved without the agreement of all 

parties, which will include an agreement on how the assets and liabilities will be split upon dissolution. Allowing 

pooling is entirely at the discretion of the Administering Authority.  

Maintained schools do not have a separate legal identity so are not pooled with the relevant local authority; they 

are part-and-parcel of it. However, there may be exceptions for specialist or independent schools.  

Those employers which have been pooled are identified in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate. 

3.5 Additional flexibility in return for added security 

The Administering Authority may permit greater flexibility to the employer’s contributions if the employer 

provides added security to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority.   

Such flexibility includes a reduced rate of contribution, an extended time horizon, or permission to join a pool 

with another body (e.g. the Local Authority).  

Such security may include, but is not limited to, a suitable bond, a legally-binding guarantee from an appropriate 

third party, or security over an employer asset of sufficient value. 

The degree of flexibility given may take into account factors such as: 

 the extent of the employer’s deficit; 

 the amount and quality of the security offered; 

 the employer’s financial security and business plan;  

 whether the admission agreement is likely to be open or closed to new entrants. 

3.6 Non-ill health early retirement costs 

It is assumed that members’ benefits are payable from the earliest age that the employee could retire without 

incurring a reduction to their benefit (and without requiring their employer’s consent to retire).  (NB the relevant 

age may be different for different periods of service, following the benefit changes from April 2008 and April 

2014).  Employers are required to pay additional contributions (‘strain’ or ‘capitalised costs’) wherever an 

employee retires before attaining this age.  The actuary’s funding basis makes no allowance for premature 

retirement except on grounds of ill-health.      

For any early retirements where the Administering Authority has not specifically agreed to payment in 

instalments, all costs must be met by way of a single payment in the year of retirement. 

 

3.7 Ill health early retirement costs 

Each employer has an ‘ill health allowance’ built into the full contribution rate that is set at each actuarial 

valuation. If an employer decides to insure against the risk of ill-health retirements, there will be a reduction to 

the employer’s contribution rate that is the equivalent to the external insurance premium rate. 

43



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 022 

 

January 2021  

Where an employer does not take out ill-health insurance, they will be offered the opportunity to make payment 

for any funding strain cost associated with ill-health retirements that occur annually inbetween formal valuations 

thereby more closely managing their future rates, but for higher risk employers or breaches of the “ill health 

allowance” the Fund may require payment. Employers may choose to pay in additional contributions in respect 

of these potential funding strains to minimise any detrimental effect on their future funding position (or 

otherwise, e.g. for budgeting or accounting purposes).  

3.8 External Ill health insurance 

If an employer provides satisfactory evidence to the Administering Authority of a current external insurance 

policy covering ill health early retirement strains, then: 

- the employer’s contribution to the Fund each year is reduced by the amount of that year’s insurance 

premium, so that employer’s total outlay (pension contribution plus insurance premium) is unchanged; 

and 

- there is no need for monitoring of ill-health allowances versus experience. 

When an active member retires on ill health early retirement the claim amount will be paid directly from the 

insurer to the insured employer. This amount should then be paid to the Fund to allow the employer’s asset 

share to be credited. 

The employer must keep the Administering Authority notified of any changes in the insurance policy’s coverage 

or premium terms, or if the policy is ceased. 

New Fund employers are urged to take out the external ill health insurance offered. 

3.9 Employers with no remaining active members 

In general an employer ceasing in the Fund, due to the departure of the last active member, will pay a cessation 

debt or receive an exit credit on an appropriate basis (see 3.3, Note (k)) and consequently have no further 

obligation to the Fund. Thereafter it is expected that one of two situations will eventually arise: 

a) The employer’s asset share runs out before all its ex-employees’ benefits have been paid. If this 

employer was a former Transferee Admission Body, the outsourcing employer will become responsible 

for any deficit (even if they did not act as a guarantor within the admission agreement). If the employer 

was not a Transferee Admission Body the other Fund employers will be required to contribute to pay all 

remaining benefits: this will be done by the Fund actuary apportioning the remaining liabilities on a pro-

rata basis at successive formal valuations, but it should be noted that all surpluses in respect of non-

Transferee Admission Bodies will be netted off any deficits so that it is only the net deficit position that will 

be apportioned; 

b) The last ex-employee or dependant dies before the employer’s asset share has been fully utilised.  If this 

employer was a former Transferee Admission Body, the outsourcing employer will receive the benefit of the 

surplus (even if they did not act as a guarantor within the admission agreement). If the employer was not a 

Transferee Admission Body, any surplus will be netted off the deficit of similar types of employers as 

described in 3.9 a). In the event that the net position is a surplus the net surplus will be apportioned; 

In exceptional circumstances the Fund may permit an employer with no remaining active members and a 

cessation debt to continue contributing to the Fund, as opposed to paying a cessation deficit amount. This 

would require the provision of a suitable security or guarantee, as well as a written ongoing commitment to fund 

the remainder of the employer’s obligations over an appropriate period. The Fund would reserve the right to 

invoke the cessation requirements in the future, however.  The Administering Authority may need to seek legal 

advice in such cases, as the employer would have no contributing members. 

44



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 023 

 

January 2021  

3.10 Policies on bulk transfers 

Each case will be treated on its own merits, but in general: 

 The Fund will not pay bulk transfers greater than the lesser of (a) the asset share of the transferring 

employer in the Fund, and (b) the value of the past service liabilities of the transferring members; 

 The Fund will not grant added benefits to members bringing in entitlements from another Fund unless the 

asset transfer is sufficient to meet the added liabilities; 

 The Fund may permit shortfalls to arise on bulk transfers if the Fund employer has suitable strength of 

covenant and commits to meeting that shortfall in an appropriate period.  This may require the employer’s 

Fund contributions to increase between valuations.   

  

45



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 024 

 

January 2021  

4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 

4.1 What is the Fund’s investment strategy? 

The Fund has built up assets over the years and continues to receive contribution and other income.  All of this 

must be invested in a suitable manner, which is the investment strategy. 

Investment strategy is set by the Local Pension Committee of Leicestershire County Council, after taking 

investment advice.  The precise mix, manager make up and target returns are set out in the Investment Strategy 

Statement (ISS), which is available to members and employers. 

The investment strategy is set for the long-term but is reviewed annually.  The Fund’s liability profile is one of 

the considerations taken into account when setting investment strategy.   

The same investment strategy is currently followed for all employers. 

4.2 What is the link between funding strategy and investment strategy? 

The Fund must be able to meet all benefit payments as and when they fall due.  These payments will be met by 

contributions (resulting from the funding strategy) or asset returns and income (resulting from the investment 

strategy). To the extent that investment returns, or income fall short, then higher cash contributions are required 

from employers, and vice versa. 

Therefore, the funding and investment strategies are inextricably linked.   

4.3 How does the funding strategy reflect the Fund’s investment strategy? 

In the opinion of the Fund actuary, the current funding policy is consistent with the current investment strategy of 

the Fund.  The actuary’s assumptions for future investment returns (described further in Appendix E ) are based 

on the current benchmark investment strategy of the Fund. The future investment return assumptions underlying 

each of the fund’s three funding bases include a margin for prudence, and are therefore also considered to be 

consistent with the requirement to take a “prudent longer-term view” of the funding of liabilities as required by 

the UK Government (see Appendix A1). 

In the short term – such as the three yearly assessments at formal valuations – there is the scope for 

considerable volatility in asset values.  However, the actuary takes a long-term view when assessing employer 

contribution rates and the contribution rate setting methodology takes into account this potential variability. The 

Fund does not hold a contingency reserve to protect it against the volatility of equity investments.   

4.4 Does the Fund monitor its overall funding position? 

The Administering Authority monitors the relative funding position, i.e. changes in the relationship between 

asset values and the liabilities value, bi-annually.  It reports this to the regular Local Pension Committee 

meetings. 

  

46



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 025 

 

January 2021  

5 Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds 

5.1 Purpose 

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (“Section 13”), the Government Actuary’s 

Department must, following each triennial actuarial valuation, report to the MHCLG on each of the LGPS Funds 

in England & Wales. This report will cover whether, for each Fund, the rate of employer contributions is set at an 

appropriate level to ensure both the solvency and the long-term cost efficiency of the Fund.   

This additional MHCLG oversight may have an impact on the strategy for setting contribution rates at future 

valuations. 

5.2 Solvency 

For the purposes of Section 13, the rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an 

appropriate level to ensure solvency if: 

(a) the rate of employer contributions is set to target a funding level for the Fund of 100%, over an 

appropriate time period and using appropriate actuarial assumptions (where appropriateness is 

considered in both absolute and relative terms in comparison with other funds); and either  

(b) employers collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions, and/or the Fund is 

able to realise contingent assets should future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a 

funding level of 100%; or 

(c) there is an appropriate plan in place should there be, or if there is expected in future to be, a material 

reduction in the capacity of fund employers to increase contributions as might be needed.   

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency 

The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate level to ensure long term 

cost efficiency if: 

i. the rate of employer contributions is sufficient to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual, 

ii. with an appropriate adjustment to that rate for any surplus or deficit in the Fund. 

In assessing whether the above condition is met, MHCLG may have regard to various absolute and relative 

considerations.  A relative consideration is primarily concerned with comparing LGPS pension funds with other 

LGPS pension funds.  An absolute consideration is primarily concerned with comparing Funds with a given 

objective benchmark. 

Relative considerations include: 

1. the implied deficit recovery period; and 

2. the investment return required to achieve full funding after 20 years.  
 

  

47



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 026 

 

January 2021  

Absolute considerations include: 

1. the extent to which the contributions payable is sufficient to cover the cost of current benefit accrual and 

the interest cost on any deficit; 

2. how the required investment return under “relative considerations” above compares to the estimated 

future return being targeted by the Fund’s current investment strategy;  

3. the extent to which contributions actually paid have been in line with the expected contributions based on 

the extant Rates and Adjustment certificate; and  

4. the extent to which any new deficit recovery plan can be directly reconciled with, and can be 
demonstrated to be a continuation of, any previous deficit recovery plan, after allowing for actual Fund 
experience. 

 

MHCLG may assess and compare these metrics on a suitable standardised market-related basis, for example 
where the local funds’ actuarial bases do not make comparisons straightforward.  

48



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 027 

 

January 2021  

Appendix A – Regulatory framework 

A1 Why does the Fund need an FSS? 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has stated that the purpose of the FSS 

is:  

 “to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’ pension 

liabilities are best met going forward; 

 to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as 

possible; and    

 to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.” 

These objectives are desirable individually but may be mutually conflicting. 

The requirement to maintain and publish an FSS is contained in LGPS Regulations which are updated from time 

to time.  In publishing the FSS the Administering Authority has to have regard to any guidance published by 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) and to its Investment 

Strategy Statement (ISS). 

This is the framework within which the Fund’s actuary carries out triennial valuations to set employers’ 

contributions and provides recommendations to the Administering Authority when other funding decisions are 

required, such as when employers join or leave the Fund.  The FSS applies to all employers participating in the 

Fund. 

A2 Does the Administering Authority consult anyone on the FSS? 

Yes.  This is required by LGPS Regulations.  It is covered in more detail by the most recent CIPFA guidance, 

which states that the FSS must first be subject to “consultation with such persons as the authority considers 

appropriate” and should include “a meaningful dialogue at officer and elected member level with council tax 

raising authorities and with corresponding representatives of other participating employers”. 

In practice, for the Fund, the consultation process for this FSS is as follows: 

a) A draft version of the FSS was presented to the Local Pension Committee on the 8 November 2019 for 

initial comment; 

b) The draft version of the FSS was issued to all participating employers in November 2019 for comment; 

c) Comments from employers were requested before 1 January 2020, so that it can be brought back to 

Local Pension Committee meeting in January 2020 for final approval.  

d) Following the approval of the FSS by Local Pension Committee, it was published on the 28 February 

2020 and became effective immediately upon publication. 

A3 How is the FSS published? 

The FSS is made available through the following routes: 

 Published on the website, at http://www.leics.gov.uk/pensions; 

 A copy sent by email to each participating employer in the Fund; 

 Copies made available on request. 

49



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 028 

 

January 2021  

A4 How often is the FSS reviewed? 

The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the triennial valuation which may move to 

every four years in future – see Section 2.8). This version is expected to remain unaltered until it is consulted 

upon as part of the formal process for the next valuation in 2022.  

It is possible that (usually slight) amendments may be needed within the three-year period.  These would be 

needed to reflect any regulatory changes, or alterations to the way the Fund operates (e.g. to accommodate a 

new class of employer). Any such amendments would be consulted upon as appropriate:  

 trivial amendments would be simply notified at the next round of employer communications, 

 amendments affecting only one class of employer would be consulted with those employers,  

 other more significant amendments would be subject to full consultation. 

In any event, meaningful changes to the FSS would need agreement by the Local Pension Committee and 

would be included in the relevant Committee Meeting minutes.  

A5 How does the FSS fit into other Fund documents? 

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding liabilities.  It is not an exhaustive statement of policy 

on all issues, for example there are a number of separate statements published by the Fund including the 

Investment Strategy Statement, Governance Strategy and Communications Strategy.  In addition, the Fund 

publishes an Annual Report and Accounts with up to date information on the Fund.   

These documents can be found on the web at http://www.leics.gov.uk/pensions. 

  

50



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 029 

 

January 2021  

Appendix B – Responsibilities of key parties 

The efficient and effective operation of the Fund needs various parties to each play their part. 

B1 The Administering Authority should:- 

 operate the Fund as per the LGPS Regulations; 

 effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as Administering Authority 

and a Fund employer; 

 collect employer and employee contributions, and investment income and other amounts due to the Fund; 

 ensure that cash is available to meet benefit payments as and when they fall due; 

 pay from the Fund the relevant benefits and entitlements that are due; 

 invest surplus monies (i.e. contributions and other income which are not immediately needed to pay 

benefits) in accordance with the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) and LGPS Regulations; 

 communicate appropriately with employers so that they fully understand their obligations to the Fund; 

 take appropriate measures to safeguard the Fund against the consequences of employer default; 

 manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund’s actuary; 

 provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5); 

 prepare and maintain an FSS and an ISS, after consultation;  

 notify the Fund’s actuary of material changes which could affect funding (this is covered in a separate 

agreement with the actuary); and  

 monitor all aspects of the fund’s performance and funding and amend the FSS/ISS as necessary and 

appropriate. 

B2 The Individual Employer should: - 

 deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly; 

 pay all contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, promptly by the due date; 

 have a policy and exercise discretions within the regulatory framework; 

 make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in respect of, for example, 

augmentation of scheme benefits, early retirement strain; and  

 notify the Administering Authority promptly of all changes to its circumstances, prospects or membership, 

which could affect future funding. 

  

51



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 030 

 

January 2021  

B3 The Fund Actuary should: - 

 prepare valuations, including the setting of employers’ contribution rates.  This will involve agreeing 

assumptions with the Administering Authority, having regard to the FSS and LGPS Regulations, and 

targeting each employer’s solvency appropriately;  

 provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their 

statutory obligations (see Section 5); 

 provide advice relating to new employers in the Fund, including the level and type of bonds or other forms 

of security (and the monitoring of these); 

 prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and individual benefit-related matters; 

 assist the Administering Authority in considering possible changes to employer contributions between 

formal valuations, where circumstances suggest this may be necessary; 

 advise on the termination of employers’ participation in the Fund; and 

 fully reflect actuarial professional guidance and requirements in the advice given to the Administering 

Authority. 

B4 Other parties: - 

 investment advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s ISS remains appropriate, and 

consistent with this FSS; 

 investment managers, custodians and bankers should all play their part in the effective investment (and 

dis-investment) of Fund assets, in line with the ISS; 

 auditors should comply with their auditing standards, ensure Fund compliance with all requirements, 

monitor and advise on fraud detection, and sign off annual reports and financial statements as required; 

 governance advisers may be appointed to advise the Administering Authority on efficient processes and 

working methods in managing the Fund; 

 legal advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s operation and management remains 

fully compliant with all regulations and broader local government requirements, including the 

Administering Authority’s own procedures. 

 MHCLG (assisted by the Government Actuary’s Department) and the Scheme Advisory Board, should 

work with LGPS Funds to meet Section 13 requirements. 

  

52



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 031 

 

January 2021  

Appendix C – Key risks and controls 

C1 Types of risk 

The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place.  The measures that it has in 

place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:  

 financial;  

 demographic; 

 regulatory; and 

 governance. 

C2 Financial risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the 

anticipated returns underpinning valuation of 

liabilities and contribution rates over the long-

term. 

Only anticipate long-term return on a relatively prudent 

basis to reduce risk of under-performing. 

Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a 

suitably diversified manner across asset classes, 

geographies, managers, etc. 

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all 

employers.   

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between 

valuations at whole Fund level.    

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy.  Overall investment strategy options considered as an 

integral part of the funding strategy.  Used asset 

liability modelling to measure 4 key outcomes.   

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance. 

Active investment manager under-performance 

relative to benchmark. 

Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market 

performance and active managers relative to their 

index benchmark.   

Pay and price inflation significantly more than 

anticipated. 

The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real 

returns on assets, net of price and pay increases.  

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early 

warning.  

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this 

risk.   

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should 

be mindful of the geared effect on pension liabilities of 

any bias in pensionable pay rises towards longer-

serving employees.   

53



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 032 

 

January 2021  

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms 

Effect of possible increase in employer’s 

contribution rate on service delivery and 

admission/scheduled bodies 

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed 

as part of the funding strategy.  Other measures are 

also in place to limit sudden increases in contributions. 

Orphaned employers give rise to added costs 

for the Fund 

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or 

security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of this 

happening in the future. 

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost 

spread pro-rata among all employers – (see 3.9). 

 

C3 Demographic risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to 

Fund. 

 

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for 

future increases in life expectancy. 

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience 

of over 50 LGPS funds which allows early identification 

of changes in life expectancy that might in turn affect 

the assumptions underpinning the valuation. 

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 

contributing employees declines relative to 

retired employees. 

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider 

seeking monetary amounts rather than % of pay and 

consider alternative investment strategies. 

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements Employers are charged the extra cost of non-ill-health 

retirements following each individual decision. 

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored, 

and insurance is an option. 

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit 

recovery payments 

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for 

concern and will in effect be caught at the next formal 

valuation.  However, there are protections where there 

is concern, as follows: 

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be 

brought out of that mechanism to permit appropriate 

contribution increases (see Note (b) to 3.3). 

For other employers, review of contributions is 

permitted in general between valuations (see Note (f) 

to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit contributions 

from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary 

amounts. 

 

54



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 033 

 

January 2021  

C4 Regulatory risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Changes to national pension requirements 

and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising from 

public sector pensions reform. 

 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

 

The Administering Authority is monitoring the progress 

on the McCloud court case and will consider an interim 

valuation or other appropriate action once more 

information is known.   

The government’s long-term preferred solution to GMP 

indexation and equalisation - conversion of GMPs to 

scheme benefits - was built into the 2019 valuation. 

Time, cost and/or reputational risks associated 

with any MHCLG intervention triggered by the 

Section 13 analysis (see Section 5). 

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as 

at prior valuation, and consideration of proposed 

valuation approach relative to anticipated Section 13 

analysis. 

Changes by Government to particular employer 

participation in LGPS Funds, leading to impacts 

on funding and/or investment strategies. 

The Administering Authority considers all consultation 

papers issued by the Government and comments 

where appropriate.  

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes 

on the Fund and amend strategy as appropriate. 

 

C5 Governance risks 

Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms  

Administering Authority unaware of structural 

changes in an employer’s membership (e.g. 

large fall in employee members, large number of 

retirements) or not advised of an employer 

closing to new entrants. 

The Administering Authority has a close relationship 

with employing bodies and communicates required 

standards e.g. for submission of data.  

The Actuary may revise the rates and Adjustments 

certificate to increase an employer’s contributions 

between triennial valuations 

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary 

amounts. 

  

55



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 034 

 

January 2021  

Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or 

is not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in 

some way 

The Administering Authority maintains close contact 

with its specialist advisers. 

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving 

Elected Members and recorded appropriately. 

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements 

such as peer review. 

Administering Authority failing to commission 

the Fund Actuary to carry out a termination 

valuation for a departing Admission Body. 

The Administering Authority requires employers with 

Best Value contractors to inform it of forthcoming 

changes. 

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are 

monitored and, if active membership decreases, steps 

will be taken. 

An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient 

funding or adequacy of a bond. 

 

The Administering Authority believes that it would 

normally be too late to address the position if it was left 

to the time of departure. 

The risk is mitigated by: 

Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme 

employer, or external body, where-ever possible (see 

Notes (i) and (k) to 3.3). 

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and 

encouraging it to take independent actuarial advice.  

Vetting prospective employers before admission. 

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond 

to protect the Fund from various risks. 

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a 

guarantor that is a tax-raising body. 

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular 

intervals (see Note (f) to 3.3). 

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if 

thought appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3). 

An employer ceasing to exist resulting in an exit 

credit being payable 

 

The Administering Authority regularly monitors 

admission bodies coming up to cessation 

The Administering Authority invests in liquid assets to 

ensure that exit credits can be paid when required. 

 

56



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 035 

 

January 2021  

Appendix D – The calculation of Employer contributions 

In Section 2 there was a broad description of the way in which contribution rates are calculated.  This Appendix 

considers these calculations in much more detail. 

As discussed in Section 2, the actuary calculates the required contribution rate for each employer using a three-

step process: 

 Calculate the funding target for that employer, i.e. the estimated amount of assets it should hold in order 

to be able to pay all its members’ benefits. See Appendix E for more details of what assumptions we 

make to determine that funding target; 

 Determine the time horizon over which the employer should aim to achieve that funding target. See the 

table in 3.3 and Note (c) for more details; 

 Calculate the employer contribution rate such that it has at least a given likelihood of achieving that 

funding target over that time horizon, allowing for various possible economic outcomes over that time 

horizon. See the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more details. 

The calculations involve actuarial assumptions about future experience, and these are described in detail in 

Appendix E. 

D1 What is the difference between calculations across the whole Fund and calculations for an 

individual employer? 

Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements: 

a) the estimated cost of future benefits being accrued, referred to as the “Primary contribution rate”; (see D2 

below); plus 

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the 

employer needs to pay, referred to as the Secondary Contribution rate (see D3 below).  

The contribution rate for each employer is measured as above, appropriate for each employer’s assets, 

liabilities and membership. The whole Fund position, including that used in reporting to MHCLG (see section 5), 

is calculated in effect as the sum of all the individual employer rates. MHCLG currently only regulates at whole 

Fund level, without monitoring individual employer positions. 

D2 How is the Primary Rate calculated?  

The Primary element of the employer contribution rate is calculated with the aim that these contributions will 

meet benefit payments in respect of members’ future service in the Fund.  This is based upon the cost (in 

excess of members’ contributions) of the benefits which employee members earn from their service each year.   

The Primary rate is calculated separately for all the employers, although employers within a pool will pay the 

contribution rate applicable to the pool.   

  

57



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 036 

 

January 2021  

The Primary rate is calculated such that it is projected to: 

1. meet the required funding target for all future years’ accrual of benefits*, excluding any accrued assets, 

and 

2.  at the end of the determined time horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for further details), 

3. with a sufficiently high likelihood, as set by the Fund’s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3 Note 

(e) for further details). 

* The projection is for the current active membership where the employer no longer admits new entrants, or 

additionally allows for new entrants where this is appropriate. 

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller (the “Economic Scenario Service”) developed by 

the Fund’s actuary Hymans Robertson: this allows for a wide range of outcomes about key factors such as 

asset returns (based on the Fund’s investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. Further information about 

this model is included in Appendix E. The measured contributions are calculated such that the proportion of 

outcomes meeting the employer’s funding target (at the end of the time horizon) is equal to the required 

likelihood.  

The approach includes expenses of administration to the extent that they are borne by the Fund and includes 

allowances for benefits payable on death in service and on ill health retirement. 

D3 How is the Secondary contribution rate calculated? 

The Fund aims for the employer to have assets sufficient to meet 100% of its accrued liabilities at the end of its 

funding time horizon based on the employer’s funding target assumptions (see Appendix E). 

The Secondary rate is calculated as the balance over and above the Primary rate, such that the total 

contribution rate is projected to: 

1. meet the required funding target relating to combined past and future service benefit accrual, including 

accrued asset share (see D5 below) 

2.  at the end of the determined time horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for further details) 

3. with a sufficiently high likelihood, as set by the Fund’s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3 Note 

(e) for further details). 

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller (the “Economic Scenario Service”) developed by 

the Fund Actuary Hymans Robertson: this allows for a wide range of outcomes about key factors such as asset 

returns (based on the Fund’s investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. Further information about this 

model is included in Appendix E. The measured contributions are calculated such that the proportion of 

outcomes meeting the employer’s funding target (at the end of the time horizon) is equal to the required 

likelihood. 

  

58



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 037 

 

January 2021  

D4 What affects a given employer’s valuation results? 

The results of these calculations for a given individual employer will be affected by: 

 past contributions relative to the cost of accrual of benefits;   

 different liability profiles of employers (e.g. mix of members by age, gender, service vs. salary); 

 the effect of any differences in the funding target, i.e. the valuation basis used to value the employer’s 

liabilities at the end of the time horizon;  

 any different time horizons; 

 the difference between actual and assumed rises in pensionable pay; 

 the difference between actual and assumed increases to pensions in payment and deferred pensions; 

 the difference between actual and assumed retirements on grounds of ill-health from active status;  

 the difference between actual and assumed amounts of pension ceasing on death; 

 the additional costs of any non-ill-health retirements relative to any extra payments made; 

 differences in the required likelihood of achieving the funding target. 

D5 How is each employer’s asset share calculated? 

The Fund Actuary uses the Hymans Robertson’s proprietary (“HEAT”) system to track employer assets monthly. 

Starting with each employer’s assets from the previous month end, cashflows paid in/out and investment returns 

achieved on the Fund’s assets over the course of the month are added to calculate an asset value at the month 

end.   

The Fund is satisfied that this approach provides the most accurate asset allocations between employers that is 

reasonably possible at present. 

D6  How does the Fund adjust employer asset shares when an individual member moves from one 

 employer in the Fund to another? 

Under the cashflow approach for tracking employer asset shares, the Fund has allowed for any individual 

members transferring from one employer in the Fund to another, via the transfer of a sum from the ceding 

employer’s asset share to the receiving employer’s asset share. This sum is equal to the member’s Cash 

Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) as advised by the Fund’s administrators. 

 

59



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 038 

 

January 2021  

Appendix E – Actuarial assumptions 

E1 What are the actuarial assumptions used to calculate employer contribution rates? 

These are expectations of future experience used to place a value on future benefit payments (“the liabilities”). 

and future asset values. Assumptions are made about the amount of benefit payable to members (the financial 

assumptions) and the likelihood or timing of payments (the demographic assumptions).  For example, financial 

assumptions include investment returns, salary growth and pension increases; demographic assumptions 

include life expectancy, probabilities of ill-health early retirement, and proportions of member deaths giving rise 

to dependants’ benefits.   

Changes in assumptions will affect the funding target and required contribution rate. However, different 

assumptions will not affect the actual benefits payable by the Fund in future. 

The actuary’s approach to calculating employer contribution rates involves the projection of each employer’s 

future benefit payments, contributions and investment returns into the future under 5,000 possible economic 

scenarios. Future inflation (and therefore benefit payments) and investment returns for each asset class (and 

therefore employer asset values) are variables in the projections. By projecting the evolution of an employer’s 

assets and benefit payments 5,000 times, a contribution rate can be set that results in a sufficient number of 

these future projections (determined by the employer’s required likelihood) being successful at the end of the 

employer’s time horizon. In this context, a successful contribution rate is one which results in the employer 

having met its funding target at the end of the time horizon.  

Setting employer contribution rates therefore requires two types of assumptions to be made about the future: 

1. Assumptions to project the employer’s assets, benefits and cashflows to the end of the funding time 

horizon. For this purpose, the actuary uses Hymans Robertson’s proprietary stochastic economic model 

- the Economic Scenario Service (“ESS”). 

2. Assumptions to assess whether, for a given projection, the funding target is satisfied at the end of the 

time horizon. For this purpose, the Fund has three different funding bases.  

 

Details on the ESS assumptions and funding target assumptions are included below (in E2 and E3 

respectively).   

60



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 039 

 

January 2021  

E2  What assumptions are used in the ESS? 

The actuary uses Hymans Robertson’s ESS model to project a range of possible outcomes for the future 

behaviour of asset returns and economic variables. With this type of modelling, there is no single figure for an 

assumption about future inflation or investment returns.  Instead, there is a range of what future inflation or 

returns will be which leads to likelihoods of the assumption being higher or lower than a certain value. 

The ESS is a complex model to reflect the interactions and correlations between different asset classes and 

wider economic variables.  The table below shows the calibration of the model as at 31 March 2019.  All returns 

are shown net of fees and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 and 20 years, except for the yields which 

refer to the simulated yields at that time horizon. 

 

 

E3 What assumptions are used in the funding target? 

At the end of an employer’s funding time horizon, an assessment will be made – for each of the 5,000 

projections – of how the assets held compare to the value of assets required to meet the future benefit 

payments (the funding target). Valuing the cost of future benefits requires the actuary to make assumptions 

about the following financial factors: 

 Benefit increases and CARE revaluation 

 Salary growth 

 Investment returns (the “discount rate”) 

Each of the 5,000 projections represents a different prevailing economic environment at the end of the funding 

time horizon and so a single, fixed value for each assumption is unlikely to be appropriate for every projection. 

For example, a high assumed future investment return (discount rate) would not be prudent in projections with a 

weak outlook for economic growth.  Therefore, instead of using a fixed value for each assumption, the actuary 

references economic indicators to ensure the assumptions remain appropriate for the prevailing economic 

environment in each projection. The economic indicators the actuary uses are: future inflation expectations and 

the prevailing risk-free rate of return (the yield on long term UK government bonds is used as a proxy for this 

rate). 

 

 

 

Cash

Index 

Linked 

Gilts 

(medium)

Fixed 

Interest 

Gilts 

(medium) UK Equity

Overseas 

Equity Property

A rated 

corporate 

bonds 

(medium)

RPI 

inflation 

expectation

17 year 

real govt 

bond yield

17 year 

govt 

bond 

yield

16th %'ile -0.4% -2.3% -2.9% -4.1% -4.1% -3.5% -2.7% 1.9% -2.5% 0.8%

50th %'ile 0.7% 0.5% 0.3% 4.0% 4.1% 2.4% 0.8% 3.3% -1.7% 2.1%
84th %'ile 2.0% 3.3% 3.4% 12.7% 12.5% 8.8% 4.0% 4.9% -0.8% 3.6%

16th %'ile -0.2% -1.8% -1.3% -1.5% -1.4% -1.5% -0.9% 1.9% -2.0% 1.2%

50th %'ile 1.3% 0.0% 0.2% 4.6% 4.7% 3.1% 0.8% 3.3% -0.8% 2.8%
84th %'ile 2.9% 1.9% 1.7% 10.9% 10.8% 7.8% 2.5% 4.9% 0.4% 4.8%

16th %'ile 0.7% -1.1% 0.1% 1.2% 1.3% 0.6% 0.7% 2.0% -0.7% 2.2%

50th %'ile 2.4% 0.3% 1.0% 5.7% 5.8% 4.3% 1.9% 3.2% 0.8% 4.0%
84th %'ile 4.5% 2.0% 2.0% 10.3% 10.4% 8.1% 3.0% 4.7% 2.2% 6.3%

Volatility (Disp) 

(1 yr) 1% 7% 10% 17% 17% 14% 11% 1%

2
0

y
e
a
rs

Annualised total returns

5

y
e
a
rs

1
0

y
e
a
rs

61



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 040 

 

January 2021  

The Fund has three funding bases which will apply to different employers depending on their type. Each funding 

basis has a different assumption for future investment returns when determining the employer’s funding target.  

Funding basis Ongoing participation 

basis 

Contractor exit basis Low risk exit basis 

Employer type All employers except 

Transferee Admission 

Bodies and closed 

Community Admission 

Bodies 

Transferee Admission 

Bodies 

Community Admission 

Bodies that are closed to 

new entrants* 

Investment return 

assumption underlying 

the employer’s funding 

target (at the end of its 

time horizon) 

 

Long term government 

bond yields plus an asset 

outperformance 

assumption (AOA) of 

1.8% p.a.  

Long term government 

bond yields plus an AOA 

equal to the AOA used to 

allocate assets to the 

employer on joining the 

Fund 

Long term government 

bond yields with no 

allowance for 

outperformance on the 

Fund’s assets 

*the Administering Authroity may fund these bodies on the ongoing participation basis subject to agreement by 

the Fund where suitable risk control measures are established (e.g. a guarantor or bond indemnity is in place). 

E4 What other assumptions apply? 

The following assumptions are those of the most significance used in both the projection of the assets, benefits 

and cashflows and in the funding target. 

a) Salary growth 

After discussion with Fund officers, the salary increase assumption at the 2019 valuation has been set to be a 

blended rate combined of: 

1. 2.5% p.a. until 31 March 2020, followed by 

2. CPI plus 0.5% p.a. thereafter.   

This gives a single “blended” assumption of CPI plus 0.5%. This is a change from the previous valuation, which 

assumed RPI p.a. The change has led to a reduction in the funding target (all other things being equal). 

b) Pension increases 

Since 2011 the consumer prices index (CPI), rather than RPI, has been the basis for increases to public sector 

pensions in deferment and in payment.  Note that the basis of such increases is set by the Government and is 

not under the control of the Fund or any employers. 

At this valuation, we have continued to assume that CPI is 1.0% p.a. lower than RPI.  (Note that the reduction is 

applied in a geometric, not arithmetic, basis). 

  

62



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 041 

 

January 2021  

c) Life expectancy 

The demographic assumptions are intended to be best estimates of future experience in the Fund based on 

past experience of LGPS funds which participate in Club Vita, the longevity analytics service used by the Fund, 

and endorsed by the actuary.   

The longevity assumptions that have been adopted at this valuation are a bespoke set of “VitaCurves”, 

produced by the Club Vita’s detailed analysis, which are specifically tailored to fit the membership profile of the 

Fund.  These curves are based on the data provided by the Fund for the purposes of this valuation.  

Allowance has been made in the ongoing valuation basis for future improvements in line with 2018 version of 

the Continuous Mortality Investigation model published by the Actuarial Profession and a 1.25% per annum 

minimum underpin to future reductions in mortality rates.  This updated allowance for future improvements will 

generally result in lower life expectancy assumptions and hence a reduced funding target (all other things being 

equal). 

The approach taken is considered reasonable in light of the long-term nature of the Fund and the assumed level 

of security underpinning members’ benefits 

d) General 

The same financial assumptions are adopted for most  employers (on the ongoing participation basis identified 

above), in deriving the funding target  and the Primary and Secondary rates;  as described in (3.3), these 

calculated figures are translated in different ways into employer contributions, depending on the employer’s 

circumstances. 

The demographic assumptions, in particular the life expectancy assumption, in effect vary by type of member 

and so reflect the different membership profiles of employers. 

  

63



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 042 

 

January 2021  

Appendix F – Glossary 

Funding basis The combined set of assumptions made by the actuary, regarding the future, to 

calculate the value of the funding target at the end of the employer’s time horizon.  

The main assumptions will relate to the level of future investment returns, salary 

growth, pension increases and longevity.  More prudent assumptions will give a 

higher funding target, whereas more optimistic assumptions will give a lower 

funding target.  

Administering 

Authority 

The council with statutory responsibility for running the Fund, in effect the Fund’s 

“trustees”. 

Admission 

Bodies 

Employers which voluntarily participate in the Fund, so that their employees and ex-

employees are members.  There will be an Admission Agreement setting out the 

employer’s obligations.  For more details (see 2.3). 

Covenant The assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a 

greater ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A 

weaker covenant means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties 

meeting its pension obligations in full over the longer term. 

Designating 

Employer 

Employers such as town and parish councils that are able to participate in the LGPS 

via resolution.  These employers can designate which of their employees are 

eligible to join the Fund. 

Employer An individual participating body in the Fund, which employs (or used to employ) 

members of the Fund.  Normally the assets and funding target values for each 

employer are individually tracked, together with its Primary contribution rate at 

each valuation.  

Gilt A UK Government bond, i.e. a promise by the Government to pay interest and 

capital as per the terms of that particular gilt, in return for an initial payment of 

capital by the purchaser. Gilts can be “fixed interest”, where the interest payments 

are level throughout the gilt’s term, or “index-linked” where the interest payments 

vary each year in line with a specified index (usually RPI). Gilts can be bought as 

assets by the Fund but are also used in funding as an objective measure of a risk-

free rate of return. 

Guarantee / 

guarantor 

A formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any pension 

obligations not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean, 

for instance, that the Fund can consider the employer’s covenant to be as strong 

as its guarantor’s. 

Letting employer An employer which outsources or transfers a part of its services and workforce to 

another employer (usually a contractor). The contractor will pay towards the LGPS 

benefits accrued by the transferring members, but ultimately the obligation to pay 

for these benefits will revert to the letting employer. A letting employer will usually 

be a local authority but can sometimes be another type of employer such as an 

Academy. 

  

  

64



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 043 

 

January 2021  

LGPS The Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put 

in place via Government Regulations, for workers in local government.  These 

Regulations also dictate eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members’ 

contribution rates, benefit calculations and certain governance requirements.  The 

LGPS is divided into 100 Funds which map the UK.  Each LGPS Fund is 

autonomous to the extent not dictated by Regulations, e.g. regarding investment 

strategy, employer contributions and choice of advisers.  

Maturity A general term to describe a Fund (or an employer’s position within a Fund) where 

the members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the 

investment time horizon is shorter.  This has implications for investment strategy 

and, consequently, funding strategy.  

Members The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entitlement in the 

Fund.  They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-

employees who have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now 

retired, and dependants of deceased ex-employees).  

Primary 

contribution rate 

The employer contribution rate required to pay for ongoing accrual of active 

members’ benefits (including an allowance for administrative expenses). See 

Appendix D for further details. 

Profile The profile of an employer’s membership or liability reflects various measurements 

of that employer’s members, i.e. current and former employees. This includes: the 

proportions which are active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each 

category; the varying salary or pension levels; the lengths of service of active 

members vs their salary levels, etc. A membership (or liability) profile might be 

measured for its maturity also. 

Rates and 

Adjustments 

Certificate 

A formal document required by the LGPS Regulations, which must be updated at 

the conclusion of the formal valuation. This is completed by the actuary and 

confirms the contributions to be paid by each employer (or pool of employers) in the 

Fund for the period until the next valuation is completed. 

Scheduled 

Bodies  

Types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose employees 

must be offered membership of their local LGPS Fund.  These include Councils, 

colleges, universities, academies, police and fire authorities etc, other than 

employees who have entitlement to a different public sector pension scheme (e.g. 

teachers, police and fire officers, university lecturers).  

Secondary 

contribution rate 

The difference between the employer’s actual and Primary contribution rates. 

See Appendix D for further details.  

Stabilisation Any method used to smooth out changes in employer contributions from one year to 

the next.  This is very broadly required by the LGPS Regulations, but in practice is 

particularly employed for large stable employers in the Fund  

Valuation A risk management exercise to review the Primary and Secondary contribution 

rates, and other statutory information for a Fund, and usually individual employers 

too.   

 

 

65



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 044 

 

January 2021  

Appendix G- Exit Credit Policy 
 

The below sets out the general guidelines that the Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“the Fund”) will 

follow when determining the amount of an exit credit payable, if any, to a ceasing employer in line with 

Regulation 64 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the Regulations”).  Please note 

that these are guidelines only and the Fund will also consider any other factors that are relevant on a case-by-

case basis.   

 

Admitted bodies; 

a) No exit credit will be payable in respect of admissions who joined the Fund before 14 May 2018 unless 

it is subject to a risk sharing arrangement as per paragraph c) below.  Prior to this date, the payment of 

an exit credit was not permitted under the Regulations and this will have been reflected in the 

commercial terms agreed between the admission body and the letting authority/awarding 

authority/ceding employer. This will also apply to any pre-14 May 2018 admission which has been 

extended or ‘rolled over’ beyond the initial expiry date and on the same terms that applied on joining the 

Fund. 

 

b) No exit credit will be payable to any admission body who participates in the Fund via the mandated 

pass through approach as set out in this Funding Strategy Statement.  For the avoidance of doubt, 

whether an exit credit is payable to any admission body who participates in the fund via the “Letting 

employer retains pre-contract risks” route is subject to its risk sharing arrangement, as per paragraph c) 

below. 

 

c) The Fund will make an exit credit payment in line with any contractual or risk sharing agreements which 

specifically covers the ownership of exit credits/cessation surpluses or if the admission body and letting 

authority have agreed any alternative approach (which is consistent with the Regulations and any other 

legal obligations).  This information, which will include which party is responsible for which funding risk, 

must be presented to the Fund in a clear and unambiguous document with the agreement of both the 

admission body and the letting authority/awarding authority/ceding employer and within one month (or 

such longer time as may be agreed with the Administering Authority) of the admission body ceasing 

participation in the Fund. 

 

d) In the absence of this information or if there is any dispute from either party with regards interpretation 

of contractual or risk sharing agreements as outlined in c), the Fund will withhold payment of the exit 

credit until such disputes are resolved and the information is provided to the Administering Authority. 

 

e) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will 

consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the admission body during its 

66



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 045 

 

January 2021  

participation in the Fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform 

the determination of the value of any exit credit payment.  

  

f) If the admission agreement ends early, the Fund will consider the reason for the early termination, and 

whether that should have any relevance on the Fund’s determination of the value of any exit credit 

payment.  In these cases, the Fund will consider the differential between employers’ contributions paid 

(including investment returns earned on these monies) and the size of any cessation surplus. 

 

g) If an admitted body leaves on a gilts cessation basis (because no guarantor is in place), then any exit 

credit will normally be paid in full to the employer. 

 
h) The decision of the Fund is final in interpreting how any arrangement described under c), e), f) and g) 

applies to the value of an exit credit payment. 

 

Scheduled bodies and resolution bodies 

a) Where a guarantor arrangement is in place, but no formal risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will 

consider how the approach to setting contribution rates payable by the employer during its participation 

in the Fund reflects which party is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the 

determination of the value of any exit credit payment. 

 

b) Where no formal guarantor or risk-sharing arrangement exists, the Fund will consider how the approach 

to setting contribution rates payable by the employer during its participation in the Fund reflects the 

extent to which it is responsible for funding risks. This decision will inform the determination of the value 

of any exit credit payment. 

 
c) The decision of the Fund is final in interpreting how any arrangement described under a) and b) applies 

to the value of an exit credit payment. 

 
d) If a scheduled body or resolution body becomes an exiting employer due to a reorganisation, merger or 

take-over, then no exit credit will be paid. 

 
e) If a scheduled body or resolution body leaves on a gilts cessation basis (because no guarantor is in 

place), then any exit credit will normally be paid in full to the employer. 

 

General 

a) The Fund will advise the exiting employer as well as the letting authority and/or other relevant scheme 

employers of its decision to make an exit credit determination under Regulation 64. 

 

b) Subject to any risk sharing or other arrangements and factors discussed above, when determining the 

cessation funding position the Fund will generally make an assessment based on the value of 

67



LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PENSION FUND 046 

 

January 2021  

contributions paid by the employer during their participation, the assets allocated when they joined the 

Fund and the respective investment returns earned on both. 

c) The Fund will also factor in if any contributions due or monies owed to the Fund remain unpaid by the 

employer at the cessation date.  If this is the case, the Fund’s default position will be to deduct these 

from any exit credit payment. 

 

d) The final decision will be made by the Pension Manager, in conjunction with advice from the Fund’s 

Actuary and/or legal advisors where necessary, in consideration of the points held within this policy. 

 
e) The Fund accepts that there may be some situations that are bespoke in nature and do not fall into any 

of the categories above. In these situations the Fund will discuss its approach to determining an exit 

credit with all affected parties.  The decision of the Fund in these instances is final. 

 
f) Where there is an exit credit payable, the Fund will advise the exiting employer of the amount due to be 

repaid and seek to make the payment within six months of the exit date or such longer time as the 

administering authority and the exiting employer may agree. In order to meet the six-month timeframe, 

the Fund requires prompt notification of an employer’s exit and all data and relevant information as 

requested. The Fund is unable to make any exit credit payment until it has received all data and 

information requested.  

 
g) The guidelines above at point e) in the ‘Admitted Bodies’ section, and at points a) and b) in the 

‘Scheduled bodies and resolution bodies’ section, make reference to the Fund ‘considering the 

approach to setting contribution rates during the employer’s participation’. The different funding 

approaches, including the parameters used and how these can vary based on employer type, are 

covered in detail in Section 3 of this document. Considering the approach taken when setting 

contribution rates of the exiting employer may help the Fund to understand the extent to which the 

employer is responsible for funding the underlying liabilities on exit. For example, if contribution rates 

have always been based on ongoing assumptions then this may suggest that these are also appropriate 

assumptions for exit credit purposes (subject to the other considerations outlined in Section 3.3). 

Equally, a shorter than usual funding time horizon or lower than usual probability of success parameter 

may reflect underlying commercial terms about how responsibility for pension risks is split between the 

employer and its guarantor. For the avoidance of doubt, each exiting employer will be considered in the 

round alongside the other factors mentioned above. 

 

68



 

 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 22 JANUARY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

DRAFT RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT PLAN 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. For the Committee to approve the Responsible Investment (RI) Plan 2021 to enable 
the Leicestershire Pension Fund (the Fund) to further improve management of 
responsible investment risks. 

 
Background 

 
2. The term ‘responsible investment’ refers to the integration of financially material 

environmental, social and corporate governance (“ESG”) factors into investment 
processes. It has relevance both before and after the investment decision and is a 
core part of our fiduciary duty. It is distinct from ‘ethical investment’, which is an 
approach in which the moral persuasions of an organisation take primacy over its 
investment considerations. 
 

3. The term stewardship is defined by the Financial Reporting Council’s (FRC) 
Stewardship Code (2020 version): “Stewardship is the responsible allocation, 
management and oversight of capital to create long-term value for clients and 
beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and 
society.” 
 

4. RI is an essential part of the Fund’s approach to investing. This is reflected in the 
Investment Strategy Statement [say how and that it is a key part of manager 
selection and review] 

 
5. The first Responsible Investing plan was approved at the January 2020 Local 

Pension Committee meeting and a progress updated is attached as Appendix B.  
 
6. Leicestershire County Council Officers have developed a 2021 RI plan with LGPS 

Central’s in-house RI team.  Outputs and recommendations from the Leicestershire 
Climate Risk Report delivered to the Local Pension Committee in November 2020 
have been incorporated into the 2021 draft plan. 
 

 
The UK Stewardship Code 2020 

7. The UK Stewardship Code sets out expectations for those responsible for investing 

money to help them better to exercise their stewardship responsibilities. 

Compliance with the code is not mandatory for LGPS funds but they have the 

support of the UK Government and Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). 

 
69 Agenda Item 7



 

8. The 2020 Stewardship Code represents a significant increase in level of ambition 

compared to the 2012 version. Current signatories will need to review their 

approach to stewardship, and reporting thereof, in light of the new code. Were the 

Fund to decide to sign the Stewardship Code, reporting would not be required until 

2022.  

9. There are 12 principles that apply to asset owners such as the Fund which are 

extracted from a briefing note sent from LGPS Central and included in full within 

Appendix A. The Fund currently undertakes some of the activities required for 

compliance with the 2020 code. Part of the 2021 RI plan involves assessing the 

work involved to become compliant. 

 

Responsible Investment Plan 2021 
 

10. The draft 2021 plan builds on the 2020 plan and improves on the approach and 
beliefs detailed in the Investment Strategy Statement.  

 
11. The draft RI plan for 2021 is shown below, some highlights below: 

70



 

 

 Carry over of any delayed actions from the 2020 plan. 
 

 Embeds quarterly reporting of the stewardship report and inclusion of voting 
metrics from listed equity investments. (not shown on table below) 

 

 Includes several improvements from the Fund’s current reporting and sets 
the Fund up to review its readiness for becoming a signatory to the UK 
Stewardship Code 2020. 
 

 Inclusion of the 2021 Climate Risk Report (CRR) bought to us by LGPS 
Central’s in-house RI Team.   

 
 

71



 

 

Timeline Title Description 

Q4 20/21 
 
 

Communicate draft RI Plan to 
Pension Committee 

Publication of the Fund’s 2021 RI plan. 

Climate Stewardship Plan Formulate a Climate Stewardship Plan of 
companies for prioritised engagement and 
monitoring. To be based on the companies 
identified in the Fund’s 2020 Climate Risk Report. 

Q1 21/22 RI Training for Local Pensions 
Committee 

Content TBC 

TCFD Report (Taskforce on 
Climate related Financial 

Disclosures) 

Public-facing report of the Fund’s approach to 
climate risk, set out in alignment with the 
recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures 

 Review of ext manager ESG 
approach 

To be conducted via presentations from selected 
managers during each quarterly Pension 
Committee meeting.  

Q2-Q3 
21/22 

Governance Review Review of the Fund’s Governance arrangements 
in conjunction with LGPS Central to identify areas 
where the management of RI risks could be 
further embedded in the Fund’s policies and 
reporting. Revised policies to be approved by the 
Committee. 

Stewardship Code Review Review of the Fund’s compliance status with the 

UK Stewardship Code. To address any remaining 

gaps in preparation for reporting against the 

code in 2022. 

 

Q3 21/22 Receive Climate Risk Report 
(CRR) 

CRR 2021 containing updated carbon risk metrics 
results measured against the 2020 baseline. 

Climate Risk Training Further training of pension fund officers, Pension 
Committee and possibly Pension Board on the 
risks and opportunities associated with climate 
change. 

Strategy review Conduct a review of the Fund’s current approach 
to managing climate risk, with a view to drafting 
a Climate Strategy in 2022. 

Annual Report Revised report including new RI content 
(summary of annual voting activity; summary of 
Climate Risk Report in a manner consistent with 
the TCFD Recommendations) , review by board 
before approval at Committee 

Q4 21/22 Investment Strategy Statement 
Review  

Annual review 

TBC Review of Good Governance 
Review findings &  

SAB guidance on RI 

Review findings and recommendations into 
annual RI plan where appropriate 
 

 

Recommendation 
 

8. It is recommended that the Local Pension Committee approves the Responsible 
Investment Plan 2021. 
 

72



 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

9. None. 
 
Appendix 
 
Appendix A: UK Stewardship code 2020 – briefing to partner funds 
Appendix B: Progress against 2020 RI Plan 
 
Background Papers 

 
None 

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments  
Tel: 0116 305 1449  Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk  
 

73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classified as Confidential 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                                    23rd AUGUST 2018  

LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED 
UK Stewardship Code 2020 - Briefing to Partner Funds 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

            
 

 

 
 

   FOR PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS ONLY 

 

75

ctuohy
Typewritten Text
Appendix A 



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

2  

Classified as Confidential 

 

Contents 
1. About this briefing ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2. UK Stewardship Code 2020 (the Code) ......................................................................................... 3 

2.1 Purpose and Principles of the Code.......................................................................................... 3 

2.2 Key changes and objectives of the Code ................................................................................. 4 

2.3 Key recommendations following FRC review of early reports .................................................. 5 

3. Principle by principle – indication of reporting expectations and LGPS Central assistance relative 
to each principle ................................................................................................................................ 7 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

76



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

3  

Classified as Confidential 

 
1. About this briefing  

 
The purpose of this document is to give an overview of the revised UK Stewardship 
Code and its 12 Principles, and how Partner Funds can expect to be assisted in order to 
report against the Code.  
 
The document provides suggested points and materials our Clients may choose 
to reference in their stewardship reports where the questions relate to services 
undertaken by LGPS Central Limited (LGPS Central) on their behalf. It also indicates 
where building blocks exist within Clients’ current reports and accounts, which can be 
expanded in order to comply with specific principles of the Code.  
 

 
2. UK Stewardship Code 2020 (the Code) 
 

2.1 Purpose and Principles of the Code 
 

The UK Stewardship Code 2020 (‘the Code’) sets high expectations for how investors, 
and those that support them, invest and manage money on behalf of UK savers and 
pensioners, and how this leads to sustainable benefits for the economy, the 
environment and society. It is a set of 12 Principles for asset owners and asset 
managers, and a separate set of six Principles for service providers – investment 
consultants, proxy advisors, data providers and others. 
 
The new Code took effect on 1 January 2020. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) will 
begin accepting applications in Q1 2021. Asset owners wishing to be included on the 
first list of signatories will need to apply by 30 April 2021 for the period 1 January – 31 
December 2020. Applicants that effectively evidence how they apply the Principles and 
meet the reporting expectations will be listed as signatories to the Code in the Summer 
2021. 
 
Stewardship is defined by the FRC as follows: “Stewardship is the responsible allocation, 
management and oversight of capital to create long-term value for clients and 
beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and 
society.”  
 
The below 12 Principles apply to asset owners and asset managers. They are grouped 
under these headlines: 
- Purpose and governance (Principles 1 – 5) 
- Investment approach (Principles 6 – 8) 
- Engagement (Principles 9 – 11) 
- Exercising rights and responsibilities (Principle 12) 
 
 
 
 

77



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

4  

Classified as Confidential 

 
 

Principles of UK Stewardship Code 2020 

1. Signatories’ purpose, investment beliefs, strategy, and culture enable stewardship that 
creates long-term value for clients and beneficiaries leading to sustainable benefits for 
the economy, the environment and society 
 

2. Signatories’ governance, resources and incentives support stewardship 
 

3. Signatories manage conflicts of interest to put the best interests of clients and 
beneficiaries first 

 

4. Signatories identify and respond to market-wide and systemic risks to promote well-
functioning financial systems 
 

5. Signatories review their policies, assure their processes and assess the effectiveness of 
their activities  
 

6.  Signatories take account of client and beneficiary needs and communicate the activities 
and outcomes of their stewardship and investment to them 
 

7. Signatories systematically integrate stewardship and investment, including material 
environmental, social and governance issues, and climate change, to fulfil their 
responsibilities  
 

8. Signatories monitor and hold to account managers and/or service providers 
 

9. Signatories engage with issuers to maintain or enhance the value of assets 
 

10.  Signatories, where necessary, participate in collaborative engagement to influence 
issuers 
 

11.  Signatories, where necessary, escalate stewardship activities to influence issuers 
 

12.  Signatories actively exercise their rights and responsibilities 
 

 
 
  

2.2 Key changes and objectives of the Code   

  
The revised Code contains more stringent requirements to improve outcomes-based 
reporting. Responses should be relevant to the organisation’s business operations and 
strategy, avoiding boilerplate submissions, and demonstrate that engagement across 
the organisation’s value chain has achieved the intended objectives.   
 
Key changes compared to the previous Stewardship Code are:  
 

1 Promotes effective stewardship through reporting of outcomes 

78



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

5  

Classified as Confidential 

 
2 Takes account of ESG factors (e.g. climate change) and ensures investment 

decisions are aligned with needs of clients/beneficiaries 
 

3 Requires organisations to have a purpose, investment beliefs, strategy and 
culture to enable them to practice stewardship – and for them to explain 
how they are demonstrating this commitment through appropriate 
governance, resourcing and staff incentives 

 
4 Applies globally to investments made across all jurisdictions, not just the UK 

 
5 Applies across all asset classes 

 
6 Extends to cover asset owners, asset managers and service providers 

 
7 “Apply and explain” approach – voluntary application, but subsequently 

monitored and enforced.  
 

8 12 Principles instead of seven 
 

The revised Code seeks to: align objectives and incentives across the investment 
community; widen the application of stewardship practices to all assets under 
management; encourage better communication to beneficiaries and clients; and 
systematically integrate stewardship, including environmental, social and 
governance issues, into investment decision making. 
 

 

2.3 Key recommendations following FRC review of early reports  
 
FRC carried out an early review of 21 responsible investment, active ownership and 
stewardship reports to assess how well signatories are addressing the 12 Principles of 
the new Code. The findings have been published in a report on FRC’s website.  
 
FRC made some observations which are useful to bear in mind when reporting against 
the 12 Principles:  
- The review revealed good examples and case studies evidencing stewardship 

activities, with some reports identifying outcomes well, particularly in relation to 
engagement 

- Better reporting makes good use of both quantitative and qualitative information 
- Few reports consistently demonstrate the application of all the Principles or address 

all the reporting expectations.  
- For all the Principles, reporting needs to improve by reflecting on effectiveness of 

approach, demonstrating continuous improvement and disclosing outcomes.  
- Statements should be supported with specific evidence from the reporting period, 

and the rationale rather than just a general statement of approach 
- The Code does not prescribe a single approach but encourages organisations to be 

transparent about what they do and why they do it 

79

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/975354b4-6056-43e7-aa1f-c76693e1c686/The-UK-Stewardship-Code-Review-of-Early-Reporting.pdf


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

6  

Classified as Confidential 

- Reporting should clearly explain the organisation’s purpose and beliefs and provide 
distinctive reporting that connects this to their stewardship practice during the 
reporting period.  

- Reporting should address all asset classes and geographies 
- Even if the stewardship approach differs or is not as developed in other asset 

classes, this should be explained rather than avoided.   
 
Through conversation with the FRC, we have an informal agreement that LGPS Central as a 
Pool can provide guidance to Partner Funds for their reporting. The FRC stressed however 
that Partner Funds would need to use examples of stewardship also for legacy managers. 
Each organisation that reports needs to demonstrate its stewardship approach, which for 
Partner Funds applies both inside and outside of the Pool. For instance, explain what are 
your reporting needs vis-à-vis managers? How are you communicating those needs? What 
are the reporting mechanisms that ensure you receive stewardship-relevant information 
when you need it? There may be cases where it is not clear to an asset owner what 
approach to stewardship an asset manager has and/or what that manager is doing in terms 
of ESG integration and engagement. In such instances, the asset owner must as a minimum 
describe the processes that are ongoing or are being set up in order to develop appropriate 
manager selection and monitoring which encompass ESG integration and engagement.  

 
The FRC does not necessarily expect an equally developed stewardship approach across all 
asset classes. But as with manager selection and monitoring, reporting against the Code 
needs to describe the approach, resourcing and monitoring that is in place for a given asset 
class and what next steps you might be taking to close potential gaps. The FRC would also 
like to see a description of interaction with beneficiaries. What are the vehicles for 
communication, and how is the Fund communicating about stewardship and engagement 
undertaken on beneficiaries’ behalf?  
 
It is optional whether an organisation reports against the Code’s Principles on a stand-alone 
basis (e.g. an annual Stewardship Report) or whether the reporting is done in an integrated 
manner as part of the Annual Report (AR). If the reporting is done through the AR, it is 
advisable to provide at least a summary of stewardship efforts, which can be communicated 
to beneficiaries outside of a lengthy AR. The FRC accepts both calendar-year reporting and 
fiscal-year reporting against the Code. Organisations who wish to become early signatories 
to the Code need to apply by 30 April 2021.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

80



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

7  

Classified as Confidential 

 
 
 
3. Principle by Principle – indication of reporting expectations and LGPS Central assistance relative to each Principle 
 
 
 

Principle 1 
Signatories’ purpose, investment 
beliefs, strategy, and culture 
enable stewardship that creates 
long-term value for clients and 
beneficiaries leading to sustainable 
benefits for the economy, the 
environment and society 
 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain:  
 
The purpose of the organisation and 
an outline of its culture, values, 
business model and strategy; and 
 
Their investment beliefs, i.e. what 
factors they consider important for 
desired investment outcomes and 
why 

 

Activity: Signatories should explain 
what actions they have taken to 
ensure their investment beliefs, 
strategy and culture enable 
effective stewardship.  
 
Outcome: Signatories should 
disclose:  
 

1) How their purpose and 
investment beliefs have 
guided their stewardship, 
investment strategy and 
decision-making; and 

 

AR and ISS 
- State who the fund is for 
- Principle aims/objectives 
- RI and climate beliefs 

linked to investment beliefs 
 
Climate Risk Report, TCFD report 
and Climate Strategy (plan for 
such, if in the making) 

81



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

8  

Classified as Confidential 

 
2) an assessment of how 

effective they have been in 
serving the best interests of 
clients and beneficiaries  
 

 

 
 
 

Principle 2 
Signatories’ governance, resources 
and incentives support stewardship 
 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain how:  
 
Governance structures and processes 
have enabled oversight and 
accountability for effective 
stewardship within their organisation 
and the rationale for their chosen 
approach; 
 
They have appropriately resourced 
stewardship activities, including: 

1) their chosen organisational 
and workforce structures; 

2) their seniority, experience, 
qualifications, training and 
diversity; 

Outcome: Signatories should 
disclose:  
 

1) how effective their chosen 
governance structures and 
processes have been in 
supporting stewardship; 
and  

2) how they may be improved 

Explain governance structures and 
processes to oversee effective 
stewardship including  

- Resources allocated 
- Seniority, experience, 

qualifications, training and 
diversity 

- Investment in systems, 
processes, research and 
analysis 

- Use of third-party suppliers 
 
Expand on LGPS Governance 
framework and how that provides a 
context for good stewardship 
Links to processes around SAA and 
setting of investment strategy, 
including reference to Climate 

82



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

9  

Classified as Confidential 

3) their investment in systems, 
processes, research and 
analysis; 

4) the extent to which service 
providers were used and the 
services they provided. 
 

 

Strategy (in the making and/or 
planned) 
 
Investment consultant and other 
roles – detail their expertise 
 
Pension Committee and Pension 
Board roles – highlight (or add) 
oversight of Stewardship 
 
Include reference to training, 
carried out or planned, on RI, ESG 
integration, climate change  
 
Include link to LGPS Central’s 
website for RI&E function that 
supports Partner Fund stewardship 
across ESG integration, 
engagement and voting, RI & E 
Framework (agreed among all PFs), 
current Stewardship Code 
statement (future Stewardship 
Report) and TCFD report 
 
Specific reference can be made to 
LGPS Central’s appointment of 
EOS to provide stewardship 
services across relevant asset 
classes  
 
Background on EOS and further 
detail on their services can be 
found in Stewardship services 

83

https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/responsible-investment/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/hermes-eos-stewardship-brochure-english.pdf


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

10  

Classified as Confidential 

brochure and Engagement Plan 
which can be linked to in 
responses. This includes details on 
the EOS team, approach to 
engagement and voting, and the 
influence that comes from 
combining each client’s assets with 
other institutional investors around 
the world – assets under advice 
(AUA) of approximately US$1.1tn1. 
 
 

 
 

Principle 3 
Signatories manage conflicts of 
interest to put the best interests of 
clients and beneficiaries first. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should disclose their 
conflicts policy and how this has been 
applied to stewardship. 
 
In the FRC’s review of Early Reporting 
(Sep 2020) this principle was flagged 
as one that lacked good answers. 
Below is an indication of what the 
FRC is looking for:  
 
Better reporting included examples of 
potential conflicts, particularly where 
they highlighted how the conflicts were 
relevant to their particular 

Activity: Signatories should explain 
how they have identified and 
managed any instances of actual or 
potential conflicts related to 
stewardship. 
 
Outcomes: Signatories should 
disclose examples of how they have 
addressed actual or 
potential conflicts 

Examples – standard Conflicts of 
Interest (COI) for LGPS 
 
If possible, draw out examples that 
specifically shows how cases 
relating to stewardship have been 
handled 
 
Reference can be made to LGPS 
Central’s COI policy  

84

https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/eos-engagement-plan-2020-2022_public.pdf


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

11  

Classified as Confidential 

organisation, taking into account their 
structure and operations. Addressing 
Principle 3 is supported by reporting 
that provides information about the 
ownership, governance and workforce 
structures, and the overall makeup of 
an organisation, including Principles 2 
and 6. 

 
 

Principle 4 
Signatories identify and respond to 
market-wide and systemic risks to 
promote a well-functioning 
financial system. 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain:  
 

1) how they have identified and 
responded to market-wide 
and systemic risk(s), as 
appropriate; 

2) how they have worked with 
other stakeholders to 
promote continued 
improvement of the 
functioning of financial 
markets; 

3) the role they played in any 
relevant industry initiatives in 
which they have participated, 
the extent of their 
contribution and an 
assessment of their 

Outcomes: Signatories should 
disclose an assessment of their 
effectiveness in identifying 
and responding to market-wide 
and systemic risks and promoting 
well-functioning financial markets. 

Breakdown of AUM 
 
Links to investment strategy 
section interest rates/currency/geo-
political 
 
Links to Climate Risk Report and 
Climate Strategy (in the making) 
 
Process of identifying market-
wide/systemic risks 
 
Memberships to external 
organisations 
 
Attendance and contributions to 
industry standards and events 
(LGC, PLSA, SAB, LAPFF) 

85



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

12  

Classified as Confidential 

effectiveness, with examples; 
and 

4) how they have aligned their 
investments accordingly. 

LGPS Central will provide narrative 
that covers the pool’s industry 
engagements (including 
committee roles with TPI, IIGCC, 
CA100+, PRI etc) on behalf of 
Partner Funds  
 
Link to LGPS Central’s Quarterly 
Stewardship Reports 2019-20 
(Section 5) and to consultation 
responses.  
 
Reference can be made to EOS 
who, on behalf of clients, regularly 
engage with a wide range of 
stakeholders, including 
government authorities, trade 
bodies, unions, investors and 
NGOs, to best identify and respond 
to market-wide and 
systemic risks. EOS is involved in 
We are involved in a number of 
regional and industry initiatives  
(PRI), Climate Action 100+, 
Institutional Investors Group on 
Climate Change, Asia Investor 
Group on Climate Change, Ceres, 
International Corporate 
Governance Network 
(ICGN), Council of Institutional 
Investors, Eumedion, Focusing 
Capital on The Long Term, 

86

https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/consultation-responses/
https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/consultation-responses/


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

13  

Classified as Confidential 

Corporate Governance Forum and 
Investor Forum. 

 

Principle 5 
Signatories review their policies, 
assure their processes and assess 
the effectiveness of their activities. 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain: 
 

1) how they have reviewed their 
policies to ensure they enable 
effective stewardship; 

2) what internal or external 
assurance they have received 
in relation to stewardship 
(undertaken directly or on 
their behalf) and the rationale 
for their chosen approach; 
and 

3) how they have ensured their 
stewardship reporting is fair, 
balanced and 
understandable.  

Outcome: Signatories should 
explain how their review and 
assurance has led to the 
continuous improvement of 
stewardship policies and processes. 

If LGPS Central has provided 
assistance in drafting/reviewing RI 
investment beliefs, RI policies – it 
could be mentioned here 
 
Four core stewardship themes have 
been identified across Partner 
Funds as key priority areas for 
engagement during 2020 – 2023 
(climate change, responsible tax 
behaviour, plastic pollution, tech 
sector risks) 
 
What next – areas for focus and 
improvement, e.g. establishment 
of separate Climate Strategy 
 
Quarterly PAF RI WG meetings 
allow for information-sharing and 
debate/checks on LGPSC’s 
provision of RI services.  
 
LGPS Central can provide narrative 
on AFF controls carried out during 
reporting period, LGPS Central has 
carried out AAF controls of the 

87



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

14  

Classified as Confidential 

investment operations during the 
reporting year. These controls 
include testing of the accuracy of RI 
data and implementation of RI 
processes in relation to our voting 
policy, voting implementation, and 
accuracy of voting data. In addition 
to the AAF controls, we carry out 
quarterly internal quality controls of 
engagement and voting data before 
this is shared with our Partner Funds 
through Quarterly Stewardship 
Reports (excerpt from LGPS 
Central’s report to PRI for calendar 
year 2019) 
 
EOS has its voting process 
independently assured on an 
annual basis.  
 

 
 

Principle 6 
Signatories take account of client 
and beneficiary needs and 
communicate the activities and 
outcomes of their stewardship and 
investment to them 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 

The size and profile of their 
membership, including number 
of members in the scheme and 
the average age of members; 
 

Activity:  
Signatories should explain  

1) how they have sought 
beneficiaries' views (where 
they have done so) and the 

Link to Communications Policy 
Statement 
Employers forums/AGMs 
Newsletters 
Website  

88



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

15  

Classified as Confidential 

 
 
 

The length of the investment time 
horizon they have considered 
appropriate to deliver to the needs of 
clients and/or beneficiaries and why; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

reason for their chosen 
approach; and  

2) how the needs of 
beneficiaries have been 
reflected in stewardship 
and investment aligned 
with an appropriate 
investment time horizon 

Outcomes:  
Signatories should explain:  
 

1) how they have evaluated 
the effectiveness of their 
chosen methods to 
understand the needs of 
clients and/or beneficiaries; 

2) how they have taken 
account of the views of 
beneficiaries where sought, 
and what actions they have 
taken as a result; 

FOI 
 
Member surveys, if conducted 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

89



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

16  

Classified as Confidential 

Principle 7 
Signatories systematically 
integrate stewardship and 
investment, including material 
environmental, social and 
governance issues, and climate 
change, to fulfil their 
responsibilities.  

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Proposed information and use of 
LGPS Central and/or stewardship 
provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should disclose the issues 
they have prioritised for assessing 
investments, prior to holding, 
monitoring through holding and 
exiting. This should include the ESG 
issues of importance to them.  
 

Activity:  
Signatories should explain 
 

1) the processes they have 
used to: integrate 
stewardship and 
investment, including 
material ESG issues, to 
align with the investment 
time horizons of 
beneficiaries; and 

2) Ensure service providers 
have received clear 
actionable support for ESG 
integration 

 
Outcomes:  
Signatories should explain how 
information gathered through 
stewardship has informed 
acquisition, monitoring and exit 
decisions, either directly or on their 
behalf, and with reference to how 
they have best served clients 
and/or beneficiaries 

We will provide narrative on:  
 

1) LGPS Central’s RI 
Integrated Status for all 
ACS Funds prior to launch 
and during lifespan of asset 

 
2) LGPS Central’s monitoring 

of managers’ ESG 
integration and 
engagement 

 
3) LGPS Central’s support 

through Climate Risk 
Monitoring Service (CRR, 
TCFD and Climate Strategy 
development)  

 
 

90



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

17  

Classified as Confidential 

 
 

Principle 8 
Signatories monitor and hold to 
account managers and/or service 
providers. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Where information can be found 
and use of LGPS Central and/or 
stewardship provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain how they 
have monitored service providers to 
ensure services have been delivered 
to meet their needs.  
 

Outcome: 
Signatories should explain how 
they have monitored service 
providers to ensure services have 
been delivered to meet their 
needs. 
 
 

Legacy manager oversight – ISS 
 
Managers/consultants/pension 
lawyers/independent advisers 
 
LGPS Central to provide narrative 
on Central’s monitoring of 
managers’ ESG integration and 
stewardship   

 
 

 
Principle 9 
Signatories engage with issuers to 
maintain or enhance the value of 
assets. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Where information can be found 
and use of LGPS Central and/or 
stewardship provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain the 
expectations they have set for others 
that engage on their behalf and how.  
 
 

Outcomes:  
Signatories should describe the 
outcomes of engagement that is 
ongoing or has concluded in the 
preceding 12 months, undertaken 
directly or by others on their 
behalf. 

LGPS Central will provide narrative 
for  

- Direct and collaborative 
engagement activities and 
outcomes during the 
reporting period (QSR) 

- Engagement activities and 
outcomes through EOS 
(including case studies) 

91

https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/LGPSC-Quarterly-Stewardship-Update-Q2-2020-21-1.pdf
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/stewardship/eos-insights/


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

18  

Classified as Confidential 

 
Engagement activities carried out 
by legacy managers 
  
FRC advises that Partner Funds 
should provide one non-pool 
example 

 
 

Principle 10 
Signatories, where necessary, 
participate in collaborative 
engagement to influence issuers. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Where information can be found 
and use of LGPS Central and/or 
stewardship provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should disclose what 
collaborative engagement they have 
participated in and why, including 
those undertaken directly or by 
others on their behalf.  
 
 

Outcomes: Signatories should 
describe the outcomes of 
collaborative engagement 

LGPSC will provide narrative for 
key priority initiatives that relate to  
core stewardship themes (climate 
change, responsible tax behaviour, 
plastic pollution and tech sector 
risks) identified by Partner Funds. 
 
This can be supplemented with 
stewardship EOS’ participation in 
collaborative initiatives on LGPSC’s 
and PF’s behalf.    
 
FRC advises that Partner Funds 
should provide one non-pool 
example 

 
 

92



LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

19  

Classified as Confidential 

Principle 11 
Signatories, where necessary 
escalate stewardship activities to 
influence issuers. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Where information can be found 
and use of LGPS Central and/or 
stewardship provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should explain the 
expectations they have set for asset 
managers that escalate stewardship 
activities on their behalf 
 

Outcomes: Signatories should 
describe the outcomes of 
escalation either undertaken 
directly or by others on their 
behalf. 

LGPSC will provide narrative for 
examples of escalation, typically 
related to core engagements on 
the four stewardship themes 
(climate change, responsible tax 
behaviour, plastic pollution and 
tech sector risks) identified by 
Partner Funds. 
 
This can be supplemented with 
engagement escalation examples 
through EOS (see narrative in 
public report) 
 
FRC advises that Partner Funds 
should provide one non-pool 
example 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

93

https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/hermes-eos-public-engagement-report-q3-2019.pdf


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

20  

Classified as Confidential 

Principle 12 
Signatories actively exercise their 
rights and responsibilites. 
 

Reporting Expectations   Activity and Outcomes Where information can be found 
and use of LGPS Central and/or 
stewardship provider reporting  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signatories should state the 
expectations they have set for 
asset managers that exercise rights 
and responsibilities on their behalf.  
 

Outcomes: For listed equity assets, 
signatories should provide 
examples of the outcomes 
of resolutions they have voted on 
over the past 12 months. 

Reference LGPSC’s Voting 
Principles set and approved by all 
Partner Funds, as well as vote-by-
vote disclosure for ACS funds (as 
relevant).  
 
Quarterly engagement and voting 
updates from LGPS Central, 
including voting statistics  
 
Engagement and voting cases for 
specific ACS funds in Level 2 and 3 
reports 
 
LAPFF Voting Recommendations, 
supplemented by LGPSC Voting 
Briefings 
 
FRC advises that Partner Funds 
should provide one non-pool 
example 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

94

https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/LGPSCentralVotingPrinciples-Apr-2020.pdf
https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/LGPSCentralVotingPrinciples-Apr-2020.pdf
https://www.lgpscentral.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/LGPS-Central-ACS-Voting-statistics-2020-Q3.pdf


LGPS CENTRAL LIMITED • UK Stewardship Code 2020 

 

21  

Classified as Confidential 

Important information: 
 

This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for information purposes. Any opinions, forecasts or estimates 
herein constitute a judgement, as at the date of this report, that is subject to change without notice.  It does not constitute an offer or an 
invitation by or on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or sell any security.  Any reference to past performance is not a guide to 
the future. 
 
The information and analysis contained in this publication have been compiled or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable, but LGPS Central 
Limited does not make any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability from loss arising from the use 
thereof. The opinions and conclusions expressed in this document are solely those of the author. 
 
This document may not be produced, either in whole or part, without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited. 
 
All information is prepared as of 22.12.2020 
 
This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only. 
 
LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England Registered No: 10425159. Registered 
Office: Mander House, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB 
 

 
 
 

95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B : Update on 2020 RI Plan 

 

Timeline Title Description Complete / new date 

Q4 19/20 Communicate RI plan Publication of the Fund’s RI plan.  
 

Responsible 
Investment Guidance 

SAB expected to issue final guidance in 
February. Fund draft response, including 
update of this plan to Local Pension Board 
before report to Committee. 

Delayed update from 
SAB 

RI Training for Local 
Pension Board 

 Ongoing 

Q1 20/21 Quarterly stewardship 
reporting  

Inclusion in Committee papers of LGPS 
Central’s Quarterly Stewardship Report  

 
 

RI Training for Local 
Pension Committee 

  
 

Voting report inclusion 
in Committee papers 

Reporting explaining the execution of 
shareholder voting on the Fund’s listed 
equity investments. To include funds 
managed by LGPS Central and LGIM initially. 

 
 

Q2-Q3 
20/21 

Quarterly manager 
reporting on ESG 

The formal inclusion by external fund 
managers of ESG information in quarterly 
reporting in order to facilitate regular 
monitoring.  

 
 

New manager 
selections: integrate 
ESG where relevant 

Include an ESG assessment in processes for 
appointing fund managers.  

 
Training from Central 
with examples 

Receive Climate Risk 
Report (CRR) 

Report comprising (i) Climate scenario 
analysis (ii) Carbon risk metrics (iii) Annual 
Climate Stewardship Plan.   

 
 

Q3 20/21 Climate Plan Publish a climate plan for 2021 based on the 
key findings of the Climate Risk Report. To 
be done ahead of Hymans Robertson’s 2021 
strategic asset allocation refresh so the 
Fund can fully embed their RI plan in 
investment decision-making.  

 
Climate report passed to 
Hymans post Nov 
Committee meeting. 
Hymans to incorporate 
CRR thinking into annual 
strategy due in Jan 2021.  

Climate Risk Training Training of pension fund officers, Pension 
Committee and Pension Board on the risks 
and opportunities associated with climate 
change, and the Fund’s Climate plan. 

Officers propose training 
in Q1 2021 with Central 
providing support. 
Within 2021 RI plan. 

TCFD Report (Taskforce 
on Climate related 
Financial Disclosures) 

Public-facing report of the Fund’s approach 
to climate risk, set out in alignment with the 
recommendations of the Taskforce on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures 

TCFD to be delivered in 
H1 2021 post comments 
from Committee.  
Central to provide this 
service with Officers in 
line with service 
contract. 

Mid-year review Assess preparedness for UK Stewardship 
Code  
Review RI plan and capture any 
developments in the regulations, statutory 
guidance, or RI Guidance from the Scheme 
Advisory Board. 

Fund not prepared as 
yet, climate training, 
TCFD report and RI 
guidance from SAB to 
inform decision in 2021. 
New task within 2021 RI 
plan 

 Annual Report Revised report including new RI content, 
review by Board before approval at 
Committee. 

 
 

 

97



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

LOCAL PENSION COMMITTEE – 22 JANUARY 2021   
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 
 

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE ASSET STRATEGY AND STRUCTURE 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to recommend changes to the Leicestershire Pension 
Fund’s (the Fund) strategic investment allocation, as outlined in Appendix A of the 
report. 

  
Background 

 
2. The nature of the Fund’s liabilities is long-term. The strategic investment benchmark 

is structured to reflect the nature of liabilities by focusing on the need for long-term 
returns and a degree of inflation-linked returns. Market fluctuations will cause the 
Fund’s actual asset allocation to vary from the agreed strategic asset allocation and 
investment within asset classes in which funding is ‘drawn down’ over a period of 
time will create further variation. The strategic benchmark should, therefore, be 
considered an ‘anchor’ around which the actual asset allocation is managed. 
 

3. The Fund is part invested in funds administered by LGPS Central (Central), a 
private company jointly owned by the fund and seven other administering 
authorities. By pooling investment Central aims to reduce costs and improve 
investment returns to the ultimate benefit of Fund employers.  
 

4. Central’s product offer continues to develop and the strategy review has been 
undertaken with this in mind. Dialogue continues with Central and other partner 
funds to ensure that Central’s offer meets the goals of the Fund. It is likely to be 
many years before the majority of the Fund is transferred to Central, although the 
Fund has made good progress to date. This is partly due to the Fund’s unlisted and 
illiquid investments as well as the time taken by Central to develop investment 
options. 

 
5. As at September 30th 2020, the value of pooled funds directly managed by Central 

and life funds managed by Legal and General totals 2.0billion or 44% of the Fund’s 
total.  In December 2020 the Fund transitioned an additional 2% from an external 
manager to LGPS Central bringing the total to c46%. 
  

6. Any decision on the appropriate investment allocation is inherently difficult and will 
inevitably come down to a ‘trade-off’ between expected risk and return.  Whilst 
historic measures for risk and return can be instructive about how different asset 
classes are correlated to each other, they clearly give no guarantee that these 
historic links will persist, as a result an ‘optimal’ asset mix does not exist. This does 
not detract from the desirability to agree a strategic asset allocation benchmark that 
makes intuitive sense in terms of the risks being taken to achieve a required return. 
 

 
99 Agenda Item 8



 
 
Summary of last years proposals and progress 
 

Proposal January 2020 Actions in 2020 

 
Reducing the Fund’s allocation to index-
linked gilts from 7.5% to 5.0%, with the 
proceeds to be invested in LGPS Central’s 
Investment Grade bond sub-fund upon 
launch with a 3% weighting. 
 

 
The Fund disinvested £55m from the 
Aegon (formerly Kames) index-linked gilt 
holding in April 2020 to bring the allocation 
broadly in line with the new 5.0% strategic 
target. The proceeds were invested in the 
newly launched LGPS Central Investment 
Grade Corporate Bond sub-fund.  
 

 
Removal of the Millennium active currency 
mandate.  
 

 
Completed in February 2020 

 
Switching the Fund’s RAFI and part of the 
passive regional equity holding to the 
LGPS Central All-World Equity Climate 
Multi-Factor sub-fund.  
 

 
The LGPS Central All-World Equity 
Climate Multi-Factor sub-fund was 
launched in Autumn  2019. The Fund 
transitioned assets into the sub-fund in 
December 2020. The new mandate was 
funded from the passive equity holding 
with LGIM, specifically, the entirety of the 
RAFI holdings were sold alongside a 
proportion of the regional equity holdings.  
 

 
Reducing the strategic Targeted Return 
allocation from 11.5% to 7.5%, with the 
reduction largely allocated to multi-asset 
credit (+3.5%) and a small allocation to 
investment grade credit (+0.5%).  
 

 
Awaiting the LGPS Central offering and as 
such the current Targeted return managers 
remain.   

 
Increasing the Fund’s allocation to liquid 
multi-asset credit (MAC) to 4.0%.  
 

 
Awaiting the LGPS Central offering, two 
managers have been selected and an 
allocation is expected to take place during 
the first half of 2021 pending due diligence. 

 
Summary of 2021 proposals 
 

7. The summary of proposals made by Hymans have been assessed by our 
independent consultant and officers.  Officers have shared the proposals with LGPS 
Central in order to gain further insight with respect to future pooling. Their report is 
included as Appendix B. 
 

8. For 2021, Hymans do not propose the Fund make changes to the Fund’s target 
asset allocations but have included proposals relating to changes within asset 
classes.  A summary table is shown below and is taken from the full Hymans report 
which is included as Appendix A.  Changes within each asset class are covered 
within the Hymans report in detail and summarised below. 

100



 

 
 

9. In line with other local authority funds Hymans have decided to reclassify asset 
classes into ‘growth’, ‘income’ and ‘protection’.  The Fund previously had classified 
asset classes into growth, real income and alternatives.  The revised classification 
provides greater clarity regarding how asset class underlying investments are 
expected to perform under various general market conditions. 
 

Growth 
 

10. Listed equity – no changes recommended having transitioned a sizeable proportion 
of passive equity (c£750m) into the LGPS Central Climate balanced multi factor 
fund during that last quarter of 2020.   

 
11. Private Equity – Hymans propose maintaining the existing weighting and state that 

officers consider an allocation to a secondaries fund (global secondaries fund VII - 
GSF7) from Adams Street.  The secondaries market can perform well post a market 
event which can precipitate institutions to become forced sellers which was the 
case post the Global Financial Crash (GFC). Given in some cases the holders are 
selling at distressed prices discounts can become available. 
 

12. However, there has been a sharp rebound in valuations since the market lows of 
March 2020 and as such the expected discounts are probably not as attractive as 
they were post the GFC. There are other managers in the space and the Fund 
currently has a secondaries allocation via Standard Life, last valued at £25m or 
0.5% of total portfolio as well as an investment in the Adams Street Global 
secondaries fund 6 made in 2017 which is currently valued at c£7m.  In addition to 
the standalone secondaries fund with Adams Street, the Global Funds in which the 
Fund invests also allocate to secondaries, with a target of 20-25% of the total 

101



commitment.  The Fund is currently overweight Private Equity but with distributions 
expected to ramp up in the coming years it is beneficial to run ahead of benchmark. 
 

13. Targeted Return – this asset class resided within opportunities and has been 
moved into growth.  Given many of the strategies show more alignment to equity 
like risk and return it makes good sense on balance. Some holdings within the total 
portfolio however could sit in any of the three areas, for example Ruffer hold index 
linked bonds and gold which could feature within income and protection 
respectively.  
 

14. The Fund’s current allocation (c10.5%) is higher than the target allocation (7.5%) 
whilst the Fund awaits the Multi Asset Credit (MAC) product to be finalised by LGPS 
Central at which point all three managers holdings will be trimmed in order to fund 
an investment into the Central offering.  This is a change to the 2020 proposal 
where it was agreed that Ruffer would be divested in order to fulfil the funding of the 
MAC product.  Trimming all managers gives the Fund a more balanced targeted 
return portfolio whilst a new Targeted Return product is built by Central.  The Fund 
will trim managers in equal percentage terms and use excess cash holdings to fund 
any prospective MAC allocation. 
 

15. When a suitable LGPS Central targeted return product is available the Fund will 
bring a proposal to Committee for approval. 
 

Income 
 

16. Infrastructure – Hymans recommendation here is to maintain the 9.75% weighting 
and consider the use the LGPS Central sub fund which is close to being finalised.  
The Fund is currently slightly underweight and a commitment was made to the open 
ended JP Morgan fund in 2020 which has yet to be called owing to a queue of 
commitments.  A proposal will be bought to committee once the Central sub fund is 
made available.  The Fund currently has a number of closed ended and income 
producing investments which will naturally provide capital and income to facilitate 
these future commitments.  
 

17. Property – Hymans recommend maintaining the current allocation target of 10.0% 
and consider introducing residential property and LGPS Central property proposals. 
The Fund is slightly underweight currently but given the uncertainty in the property 
markets the c1.5% under allocation (at Sep 2020) seems reasonable.  Hymans 
have echoed the same within their proposal.   
 

18. Hymans split out analysis of property into retail, industrials, offices and alternatives, 
with the later being a catch all and including the residential exposure they propose.  
Residential includes purpose built rental accommodation blocks rather than 
individual units. Hymans note that the residential sector within alternatives has 
proved the most resilient during the crisis given the population will continue paying 
housing costs whenever possible. 
 

19. Factors in favour of investing in the private rented sector include, stable rental 
growth versus commercial property over the last 15 years, the structural supply 
shortage and growth proportion of people living in rented accommodation.  Hymans 
expect this trend to continue and the percentage of residential accommodation 
within the MSCI UK monthly property index to grow from the current 3%. 

 

102



20. The introduction of residential property is covered in more detail within appendix 3 
of the Hymans report but is underpinned by a diversification away from commercial 
property holdings. The Fund has a number of ways to possibly attain this exposure 
with Hymans recommending a proposal to be bought to Committee for approval. 
 

21. Global Credit – Multi Asset Credit (MAC) – this is a 2020 proposal where the Fund 
is awaiting a finalised product to be launched by Central.  The Fund will divest a 
portion of the targeted return holdings as described earlier in the paper. 
 

22. Global credit – Private debt – Hymans propose the Fund evaluate an allocation to 
M&G’s distressed opportunities fund (DOF) after a mid year review.   The total 
allocation is 2.0% below the target of 10.5%.  The Fund is invested in three private 
debt strategies with Partners group, M&G and Christofferson Robb.  With 
investments returning money during 2021 there will be a requirement to top up the 
private debt allocation. 
 

23. Distressed debt focuses on investments where a borrower’s debt burdens have 
become unsustainable. It typically involves restricting of either the business and/or 
its capital structure and often requires a highly active intervention by the debt 
holder. It involves higher levels of risk than typical debt provision, with the result that 
it aims to generate a high return largely through capital growth. 
 

24. The Fund has exposure to three DOF funds presently and given senior departures 
in 2020 Hymans are proposing officers revisit the team and opportunities in 6 to 12 
months until comfort is gained with the new team.  The likely effects of the severe 
downturn is likely to persist for several years in Hymans opinion and as such it may 
be preferable to commit capital later when opportunities and prices become clearer. 
 

Protection 
 

25. Currency Hedge – Aegon (formally Kames) manage the Fund’s active currency 
hedge around a benchmark position of hedging 50% of the Fund’s foreign currency 
exposure.  This ‘investment’ has been moved into the protection category having 
sat outside of the categories previously.  Hymans are suggesting reducing the 
hedged position to 30%.  The benefits Hymans argue are: 
 

a. Maintaining some reduction in return volatility and reducing volatility during 
market stress 

b. Reduced the level of potential calls on capital to settle losses if position move 
against the hedge 

 
26. Officers have spoken to Aegon to discuss potential changes to the benchmark 

position.  Aegon feel comfortable with the change and have started to think about 
the potential changes they would make to the programme and how they would 
position for various events, e.g. an equity risk off event. 
 

27. Index linked bonds – Hymans propose a change here to the 2020 target position of 
5.0% by reducing to 4.5%.  This recognises the cash needed by Aegon as collateral 
for the currency hedge. The Fund currently is a little overweight and the position will 
be re assessed during the next quarterly valuation. 
 

Investment objectives and required return 
 

103



28. The strategic investment benchmark is designed around the required future 
investment return and an acceptable level of risk. Without this clarity it would be 
possible to have a strategy that targets a return that is very high but takes overly 
large risks and as a result has too high a possibility of failing to achieve its target –
thereby putting unnecessary upward pressure onto employers’ contribution rates. 
Likewise, a target that is too low may be easily achieved but has very little 
probability of producing the returns needed to lessen future employers’ contribution 
increases. 
 

29. The triennial review as at 31 March 2019 showed the Fund had an 89% funding 
level which had improved from 76% as at 31 March 2016.  At 31 March 2019 the 
funding level had improved to 89%, a 13% increase since the March 2016 
valuation, leaving a net shortfall of £537 million. The estimated liabilities of the Fund 
have increased, but this had been more than compensated for by improved 
investment returns.  
 

30. The current objectives of the Fund are summarised below: 
 

a. Ensure members benefits are met as they become due 
b. Support a long term funding approach that is consistent with a stable and 

affordable approach from the employers 
c. Remove the funding shortfall over 17 years with a view to reduce this 

recovery period where possible 
 

31. The Fund currently targets an investment return of 5.9% pa which is in line with 
Funding Strategy being adopted post the 2019 triennial review.  However, Hymans’ 
current view states that expected long term returns on major asset classes have 
fallen reflecting the change in market conditions, in particular interest rates and 
credit spreads.  The Fund’s investments are now expected to earn 5.5% p.a, a 
reduction of 0.4% p.a.  
 

32. As at the 2019 valuation, the funding level and funding deficit calculation’s had an 
investment return assumption of 80% likelihood, namely 3.8% p.a.  The current 
5.5% p.a forecast return is still comfortably ahead of this.  The reduction in future 
estimated investment returns would reduce the 80% likelihood of attaining the 
Fund’s investment return of 3.8%.  Offsetting this, the implied inflation has also 
fallen from 3.65% to 3.3% (20 year implied gilt inflation).  Hymans note that this 
measure of inflation is RPI, rather than CPI, and due to the changes in the 
calculation of RPI, implied CPI may not have fallen to the same extent over the 
period. Taking these points together, it is expected that the funding level will have 
fallen, but not materially.  The situation gives the Fund a couple of options: 
 
 

a. Take on more investment risk to increase returns or 
b. accept the current asset allocation and associated forecast returns as 

Hymans advise 
 

33. The next full Fund valuation is due in March 2022 and will align investment return 
expectations with liability forecasts. The Fund can then reassess the investment 
return required alongside a full liability forecast. More detail is provided within 
Section 3 of the appended Hymans report. 

 
 

Recommendation 

104



 
34. It is recommended that; 

 
a) The revised strategic asset allocation for the Fund as set out in the table below 

be approved; 

 
  

b) That the Investment Subcommittee be asked to consider over the course of 
2021 the changes necessary to align the Fund’s investments with the revised 
strategic allocation and the relevant product launches by LGPS Central and 
other investment managers.  

 

c) That the Director of Corporate Resources, following consultation with Aegon and 
the Fund’s investment consultants, be authorised to determine the appropriate 
time to reduce the Fund’s foreign currency exposure within the Aegon Currency 
Hedge mandate from 50% to 30%. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

35. None. 
 

Appendix 
 

Appendix A - Annual review of asset strategy and structure, Hymans Robertson 
Appendix B – LGPS Central review of 2021 strategy proposal 
 
Background Papers 

 
None  
 

105



Officers to Contact 
 
Mr C Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources 
Tel: 0116 305 6199 Email: Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr D Keegan, Assistant Director Strategic Finance and Property 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: Declan.Keegan@leics.gov.uk  
 
Mr B Kachra, Senior Finance Analyst - Investments  

Tel: 0116 305 1449   Email: Bhulesh.Kachra@leics.gov.uk  

 

106



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Leicestershire County 

Council Pension Fund 
Annual review of asset strategy and structure 
January 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

107

ctuohy_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix A



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund | Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 
 

 

 

Contents 
 

  Page 

 

1 Introduction and purpose 2 
2 Fund asset allocation, including LGPS Central Pool sub-fund status 7 
3 Investment objectives and required return 10 
4 Market commentary 13 
5 Responsible investing 17 
6 Equities 18 
7 Currency hedging 21 
8 Targeted return 24 
9 Real assets and inflation 25 
10 Credit assets 30 
11 Summary of recommendations 33 
 

Appendix 1 – Currency hedging 34 
Appendix 2 – The future for property 40 

 

 

  

108



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 2 

1 Introduction and purpose 

Addressee 

This paper is addressed to the Local Pension Committee (“LPC”) of Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund 

(“the Fund”). The purpose of this paper is to provide the 2021 annual assessment of the Fund’s investment 

strategy.  

The note has not been prepared for use for any other purpose. This report complies with Technical Actuarial 

Standard 100: Principles for Technical Actuarial Work. 

Executive Summary 

Our paper considers both the strategic asset allocation and its implementation, taking into account the range of 

funds offered or to be offered by LGPS Central.  

As per previous strategy reviews, our recommendations continue the direction of travel towards an investment 

strategy with greater focus on predictable and sustainable income-based returns.  

Equity 

Listed equity 

With the transition to incorporate a factor-based benchmark (including managing climate exposure) carried out in 

December, we remain comfortable with the strategic allocation and split between active and passive 

management of the listed equity portfolio. 

We propose that LPC delegate to the Officers and ISC a review of the implementation of the LGIM passive 

equity holdings in the second half of 2021, with a view to simplifying the number of regional funds used. 

The Fund remains overweight to listed equity. This, combined with the overweight to private equity, offset the 

underweight allocation to property and infrastructure. Funding of future net increases to the property and 

infrastructure portfolios should be funded from listed equities. 

Private equity 

The allocation to private equity is currently above the 4.75% strategic allocation. Given the attraction of this asset 

class to long-term returns, the long-term nature of the investment and the decision to maintain this allocation, we 

have increased the strategic target allocation by 1% to 5.75%, and correspondingly reduced the listed equity 

target by 1% to 42%. This reduces the extent of the private equity overweight to less than 0.5% and brings the 

listed equity strategic allocation to the mid-point of the target range, although we note that we do not expect any 

listed equities to be disinvested in order to implement this strategic change. 

LGPS Central have recently appointed Ian Brown as Omar Ghafur’s replacement and it is expected that LGPS 

Central will launch a 2021 vintage of the private equity sub-fund. Although the Fund is currently overweight 

relative to target, ongoing investment into private equity will be required to maintain the allocation over time. We 

propose that the LPC delegates to the Officers and the ISC a review of suitability of this sub-fund once 

further detail becomes available. 

Secondary private equity involves acquiring interests in existing established primary private equity funds. The 

pandemic has forced some investors and fund managers to restructure their portfolios, which has provided an 

opportunity to acquire assets in the secondary market at discounts.  The Fund already has a small exposure to 

the Secondaries market via the Aberdeen Standard Investments SOF funds (with a value of c.£25m as at end 

September 2020).  

Adam Street are currently raising for their Global Secondaries Fund VII (GSF7). As noted, the current allocation 

to private equity is already above target. However, the Fund is currently underweight other private assets 

109



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 3 

(property and private lending). At the margin, the higher expected return from private equity will retain a higher 

overall portfolio expected return.  

Therefore, we propose the LPC delegates to the ISC and Officers to consider making an allocation to this 

fund, subject to consideration of the coverage of private equity secondaries in the LGPS Central offering 

and due diligence. 

Currency hedging 

The Fund has direct currency exposure through its non-UK equity investments. Currency movements provide 

additional variation in the returns earned on non-sterling denominated assets.  

The Fund currently manages this volatility by strategically hedging 50% of the non-sterling exposure through a 

standalone programme is managed by Aegon Asset Management. Following a review of wider factors affected by 

currency, covered in Section 7, we recommend reducing the benchmark level of hedging from 50% to 30%.  

Non-UK currency exposure associated with the Fund’s bond exposure is largely hedged within the associated 

mandates.  We continue to consider full hedging of currency exposure here to be appropriate.  

Targeted return 

The launch of the LGPS Central Targeted Return sub-fund is expected in the near future. In the absence of more 

detail around what the sub-fund composition will look like, we suggest the LPC retain the three mandates until 

such time that the LGPS Central sub-fund is available, trimming each of the mandates to fund the multi-

credit allocation.  

Index-linked gilts 

While we consider hedging inflation sensitivity to be a real benefit in managing funding risk, the current level of 

index-linked gilts only provides limited protection against inflation, and we do not see current pricing as attractive. 

Hence, we propose a small drop in the strategic allocation to index-linked gilts of 0.5% to 4.5%, 

recognising the introduction of a 0.5% strategic allocation to cash held by Aegon within their currency 

hedging programme.   

Infrastructure 

We understand that LGPS Central are due to launch their infrastructure sub-fund before March 2021. As yet no 

managers have been selected. We propose that the LPC delegate to the Officers and ISC that a review of 

the suitability of the sub-fund be carried out once there is further clarity on this. The expectation is that if 

the LGPS Central sub-fund is deemed suitable then the Fund’s underweight to this asset class would be 

addressed by committing to the Pool offering over 2021. We propose this is also delegated to the 

Officers, subject to satisfactory completion of the suitability review.  

Property 

We remain comfortable with the current strategic target allocation of 10%. However, given our continued 

cautionary view of UK property, we do not see any short-term pressing need to increase the Fund’s allocation 

towards target. As noted, the Fund is currently overweight listed equity and private equity, and maintaining these 

relative allocations will, at the margin, add to the expected return.  

We propose the LPC delegate to the ISC to review the property allocation during 2021 and to consider 

scope to incorporate residential property into the strategy as a diversification from pure commercial 

exposure, and whether this is via LGPS Central or via the Fund’s existing property managers. 

Furthermore, we propose the Officers and ISC review the LGPS Central funds when further details are 

available, to consider their suitability for ongoing use by the Fund for its property exposure, and for the 

Officers to report back to the LPC before any further action is taken. 

110



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 4 

Credit markets 

Investment grade credit 

As part of the 2020 strategy review, the allocation to index-linked gilts was reduced and the proceeds invested 

into the LGPS Central investment grade credit sub-fund. This allocation is 2.5%.  

We propose the Officers and ISC are delegated to review the Aegon Short Dated Investment Grade Bond Fund 

and subject to satisfactory due diligence, permit Aegon to allocate up to £25m (or c.0.5% of Fund assets) of the 

cash thatthey hold to manage the currency hedging programme into this Fund. This will generate a marginal 

extra yield relative to cash, whilst retaining liquidity and limited drawdown. 

The Fund also holds additional cash at times, either due to commitments made but not yet funded, or due to net 

cashflow generated from investments and contributions relative to outgo. We note the allocation to cash is 

currently 2.9%. Subject to due diligence and advice on relative yields available, we propose the Officers 

are delegated discretion to use the Aegon fund, or any alternative fund reviewed and considered 

appropriate by the ISC, as a short-term alternative to holding cash. 

Liquid multi-asset credit 

As part of the 2020 strategy review, it was agreed to increase the liquid multi-asset credit (‘MAC’) allocation to 

4.0%. The intention was that this allocation would be achieved using the LGPS Central MAC sub-fund (subject to 

due diligence). The expected launch date for this fund is March 2021.  

Subject to completion of the due diligence, we recommend that the LPC delegate to the Officers and ISC 

implementation of the target allocation to liquid multi-asset credit. The expectation is that the existing small 

allocation to JP Morgan MAC would be transferred into the LGPS Central sub-fund, with the remaining allocation 

funded from a pro-rata disinvestment from the Fund’s three Targeted Return managers. 

Emerging market debt 

LGPS Central launched their EMD sub-fund in during 2020. The Fund transitioned the existing EMD holdings 

with Ashmore to the LGPS Central sub-fund in December. We remain comfortable with the 2.5% target 

allocation and do not propose any changes. 

Private debt and distressed debt 

There remain some dislocations in a number of markets in the wake of the pandemic. Distressed debt focuses on 

investments where a borrower’s debt burdens have become unsustainable. It typically involves restructuring of 

either the business and/or its capital structure and often requires a highly active intervention by the debt holder. It 

involves higher levels of risk than typical debt provision, with the result that it aims to generate a high return 

largely through capital growth.  

The economic disruption caused by the pandemic is clearly going to lead to more restructuring and the provision 

of financing for distressed debt, though it may be 6-12 months before the opportunities emerge. 

The Fund already has exposure to distressed debt via the M&G Distressed Opportunities Fund (‘DOF’) range. In 

Q3 2020, it was announced that Paul Taylor, Head of Restructuring and the leading fund manager for the DOF 

strategies, would be leaving the team. Given the significance of Paul’s departure we would not recommend that 

the Fund commit to the most recent vintage of the DOF funds (‘DOF V’) at this time. However, the Fund is 

currently underweight to private debt, and we consider this a relatively attractive area for investment. Therefore, 

we propose that the Officers and ISC revisit the M&G DOF team and distressed debt opportunity during 

the course of the year, once the new team structure has had time to bed in.  

 

 

 

111



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 5 

Summary of proposals 

We set out below a summary of the investment strategy.  

 Proposed 

target  

weight (%) 

Comments 

Growth (55.25%) 55.25  

Listed equity 42.0 

(40.0-44.0) 

Broad factor based passive allocation implemented 

December 2020, using LGPS Climate multi-factor sub-fund 

Private equity (inc secondaries) 5.75 Increase in strategic target reflecting existing allocations 

Consider opportunistic investment in Adam St Secondaries  

Targeted return 7.5 Currently hold higher allocation. Use this to fund sub-inv 

grade credit allocation; 

Review LGPS sub-fund when details available  

Income (36.75%) 36.75  

Infrastructure (inc timberland) 9.75 Review and use LGPS sub-fund 

Property 10.0 Consider introducing residential property; 

Consider LGPS Central proposals 

Emerging market debt 2.5 - 

Global credit – liquid sub inv grade markets 4.0 Existing JPM fund holding and reduction in Target Return 

used to fund allocation, subject to due diligence 

Global credit - private debt 10.5 Review M&F DOF team mid-year to decide whether to 

make further allocation to distressed debt 

Protection (8%) 8.0  

Inflation-linked bonds 4.5 0.5% reduction in strategic allocation, reflecting recognition 

of cash held to mange currency hedge 

Investment grade credit 3.0 Including up to c.0.5% retained by Aegon to support 

currency hedge programme 

Currency hedge 0.5 Recognition of cash held by by Aegon for this mandate. 

Adjust benchmark hedge ratios used by Aegon from 50% 

to 30% 

Total 100.0  

 

We look forward to discussing this report with the LPC. 

Prepared by:- 

Andy Green, Partner 

Emma McCallum, Investment Consultant 

 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP, January 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

112



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 6 

Reliances and limitations 

The actuarial profession introduced Technical Actuarial Standard (TAS) 100 with effect from 1 July 2017. As part 

of our internal compliance regime, Hymans Robertson has chosen to apply the principles of TAS100 in the 

delivery of investment advice. TAS100 applies to work where actuarial principles and/or techniques are central to 

the work and which involves the exercise of judgement.  

In this report we have provided our estimate of expected asset class returns and used this to estimate the return 

on the Fund as a whole based upon the current and proposed strategic asset allocation. The Fund’s asset 

allocation at 30 September 2020 has been sourced from Portfolio Evaluation reporting provided on 10 November 

2020.  

The expected returns are based upon 20-year median returns derived from our proprietary economic scenario 

generator (ESS) asset model.  As with all modelling, the results are dependent on the model itself, the calibration 

of the model and the various approximations and estimations used. These processes involve an element of 

subjectivity.  This model uses probability distributions to project a range of possible outcomes for the future 

behaviour of asset returns and economic variables. Some of the parameters of the model are dependent on the 

current state of financial markets and are updated to reflect metrics that can be measured in markets, such as 

yields, while other more subjective parameters do not change with different calibrations of the model. The 

expected returns we have shown are relative to expected CPI. We have assumed a 1% difference between 

expected RPI and CPI, consistent with the assumption made in the actuarial valuation basis. 

Risk warning 

Please note the value of investments, and income from them, may fall as well as rise. This includes equities, 

government or corporate bonds, and property, whether held directly or in a pooled or collective investment 

vehicle. Further, investments in developing or emerging markets may be more volatile and less marketable than 

in mature markets. Exchange rates may also affect the value of an investment. As a result, an investor may not 

get back the amount originally invested.  Past performance is not necessarily a guide to future performance.  

113



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 7 

2 Fund asset allocation, including LGPS Central Pool sub-
fund status 

Current strategic asset allocation 

The current strategic target allocation is shown in the table below: 

Equities (44.75-48.75%) 

 
Manager Target 

% 

Listed   

Regional inc 
UK and EM 

LGIM 15.0 

Global multi-
factor 
(passive) 

LGPS 
Central 

15.0 

Global 
(active) 

LGPS 
Central 

8.0 

Emerging 
Markets 

LGPS 
Central 

4.0 

   

Private   

 Adams 
Street 

ASI PE 
2ndaries 

4.75 

  

 
 

Real Income Assets (24.75%) 

Inflation Linked (14.75%) 

 
Manager Target 

% 

Index-linked Kames 5.0 

Infrastructure IFM 

9.75 

 
KKR 

 JPMorgan 

Timberland Stafford 

Infracapital M&G 

   

Property (10%) 

 
Manager Target 

% 

Fund of Funds La Salle 

10.0 
 

Smaller lots, 
active value 

Kames 

Direct Colliers 
 

Alternatives/Credit (27.5%) 

 
Manager Target 

% 

Target 
return 

Aspect 

7.5 Pictet 

Ruffer 

IG credit Central 3.0 

EM Debt Central 2.5 

Liquid 
MAC 

Central/ 
JPM 

4.0 

Global 
credit 
private 
debt 

Partners 

M&G DOF 

CRC 

10.5 

 
 

The actual allocation as at 30 September 2020 is compared with the current target allocation below.  

 Current Target Actual Above or below target 

Equities incl. private equity 44.75 – 48.75% 51.0% ++ 

Target return 7.5% 10.5% ++ 

Property 10.0% 8.2% - 

Infrastructure (incl. timber) 9.75% 8.4% - 

EMD 2.5% 2.3% - 

Liquid multi-asset credit 4.0% 0.6% - - 

Global credit private debt 10.5% 8.5% - 

IG credit 3.0% 2.3% - 

Inflation-linked gilts 5.0% 5.4% + 

Cash - 2.9% ++ 

Total 100% 100%  

 

At the end of September 2020, the Fund was notably overweight to equities and target return, and underweight to 

credit, especially multi-asset credit. The Fund also holds a higher cash balance than in previous years.  

114



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 8 

We note that market movements over Q4 2020 will have altered the actual allocation, but the key differences are 

as a result of some elements of the 2020 review still due to be implemented, pending LGPS Central Pool 

establishing funds. 

Recap of recommendations from the 2020 strategy review 

We summarise the key recommendations from the 2020 strategy review below: 

• Reducing the Fund’s allocation to index-linked gilts from 7.5% to 5.0%, with the proceeds to be invested in 

LGPS Central’s Investment Grade bond sub-fund upon launch. 

• Introduction of a new 3.0% allocation to Investment grade credit. 

• Increasing the Fund’s allocation to liquid multi-asset credit to 4.0%. 

• Removal of the Millennium active currency mandate. 

• Reducing the strategic Targeted Return allocation from 11.5% to 7.5%, with the reduction largely allocated 

to multi-asset credit (+3.5%) and a small allocation to investment grade credit (+0.5%). 

• Switching the Fund’s RAFI and part of the passive regional equity holding to the LGPS Central All-World 

Equity Climate Multi-Factor sub-fund.  

We provide an update on the implementation of these recommendations below given the reliance on the 

availability of the respective LGPS sub-funds. The only strategic change not linked to LGPS Central was the 

removal of the Millennium active currency mandate which was terminated in Q1 2020. 

LGPS Central sub-fund update 

As discussed in previous reviews, our understanding is that the LPC and the Fund’s Officers have an appetite to 

use the Pool as much as possible, albeit subject to the funds being offered being suitable for meeting the Fund’s 

strategy and fund structures being credible. As such we continue to focus our advice and recommendations 

primarily on transitioning to products offered by LGPS Central (subject to the necessary suitability due diligence) 

and where such products are not yet available from LGPS Central we have focused on products offered by the 

Fund’s existing managers. 

Progress over 2020 

• The Fund disinvested £55m from the Aegon (formerly Kames) index-linked gilt holding in April 2020 to 

bring the allocation broadly in line with the new 5.0% strategic target. The proceeds were invested in the 

newly launched LGPS Central Investment Grade Corporate Bond sub-fund. 

• The LGPS Central Emerging market debt sub-fund launched in Q4 2020. The Fund’s existing EMD 

holdings with Ashmore were transitioned into the LGPS Central sub-fund in December 2020. 

• LGPS Central have selected two managers, BMO and Western Asset Management, for the multi-asset 

credit sub-fund. As referenced above, LGPS Central are in advanced stages of finalising the multi-asset 

credit (MAC) sub-fund, which is expected to launch in March 2021.  

• The LGPS Central All-World Equity Climate Multi-Factor sub-fund was launched in the summer of 2020. 

The Fund transitioned assets into the sub-fund in December. The new mandate was funded from the 

passive equity holding with LGIM, specifically, the entirety of the RAFI holdings were sold alongside a 

proportion of the regional equity holdings. 

• The Fund continued to top-up private market allocations over 2020, namely, private equity and 

infrastructure, with commitments to Adam Street 2020 Global fund and JPM infrastructure. 

 

115



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 9 

Expected timeline for other sub-fund launches over 2021 

• The Infrastructure sub-fund is due to launch by March 2021. As yet no managers have been selected. 

• LGPS Central are aiming to launch their direct property sub-fund in June 2021. No date has been set for 

the launch of an indirect property sub-fund. 

• The Targeted Return sub-fund is not due to launch now until summer 2021. 

• Following LGPS Central’s appointment of Ian Brown as Head of Private Markets, it is expected that a 2021 

vintage of the private equity sub-fund will be available in early 2021. Similarly, further developments are 

expected in the private debt space. 

  

116



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 10 

3 Investment objectives and required return 

The strategic funding objectives of the Fund can be described as follows: 

• To ensure members’ benefits are met as they fall due. 

• To support a long-term funding approach that is consistent with a stable and affordable contribution 

approach from the employers. 

• To remove any funding shortfall over 17 years, with a target to reduce this recovery period. 

The investment strategy should be set to achieve these funding objectives. In practice, to the extent that the 

discount rate used reflects the expected return on the Fund’s assets, this is an integrated process.  

The nature of the objectives suggests a strategy focused on long-term sustainable return. The current strategy 

already reflects a focus on long-term investing, with allocations to private assets where the return is earned over-

time and where the Fund takes advantage of an illiquidity premium in return.  

The objective of generating a return that helps deliver a stable contribution lends itself to predictable and 

sustainable returns. This can be achieved through investments where there is a focus on predictable income 

rather than capital gains, which may be more variable.  

This ties in well with the short and long term income assets, as set out in our Growth, Income and Protection 

asset framework below. 

Chart 1: GrIP asset framework 

 

We note that the attribution of asset types into three buckets is subjective, and there are overlaps between 

Growth, Income and Protection. For example, investment grade corporate bonds provide protection against 

interest rates but also provide a level of income above government bonds.   Equally, targeted return could be 

considered under Income or Growth, and in the case of Ruffer, includes a persistent allocation to Protection 

assets too.  

117



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 11 

The Fund asset allocation can be aligned to these categories, as we have done in the table below. We note that 

long-term income assets also typically incorporate an element of inflation linkage to the expected return, i.e. they 

are real income assets.        

 Target  

weight (%) 

Growth (55.25%) 55.25 

Listed equity 43.0 (40.0-44.0) 

Private equity (inc secondaries) 4.75 

Targeted return* 7.5 

Income (36.75%) 36.75 

Infrastructure (inc timberland) 9.75 

Property 10.0 

Emerging market debt 2.5 

Global credit – liquid sub inv grade markets 4.0 

Global credit - private debt 10.5 

Protection (8%) 8.0 

Inflation-linked bonds 5.0 

Investment grade credit 3.0 

Total 100.0 

 

We note that Targeted Return assets could be considered a combination of growth, income and even protection 

assets given the objective of positive absolute returns. However, to the extent that they typically include a 

proportion in equities, we classify these mandates as growth.   

Finally, we note that implementation within some asset classes can lend itself more easily to achieving more 

sustainable returns through alignment to ESG and lower climate risk or low carbon features. We return to this in 

Section 5.     

Required rate of return on assets 

The discount rate used in the 2019 actuarial valuation of the Fund is 3.8%. This rate was set such that there is an 

80% likelihood of the return on Fund assets being at least equal to the discount rate over the next 20 years based 

on our asset return model as at 31 March 2019.  

The corresponding central average return of the strategy was expected to be higher than 3.8% p.a.; i.e. there 

was a 50% likelihood that the return on the current strategy will be 5.9% p.a. or higher.  

The table below illustrates asset returns and the return on the Fund since April 2019 to September 2020: 

 12 months to 

31/3/2020 

6 months to 

30/9/2020 

18 months to 

30/9/2020 

18 months to 

30/9/2020 p.a. 

UK equities -18.5% 7.0% -12.8% -8.7% 

Global equities  -5.3% 23.9% 17.3% 11.4% 

Emerging market eq -13.2% 24.3% 8.0% 5.3% 

IG corporate bonds 0.0% 10.7% 10.7% 7.0% 

Inflation-linked gilts 2.2% 7.9% 10.2% 6.7% 

Fund -4.3% 9.7% 5.0% 3.3% 

 

118



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 12 

Reflecting the material fall in equities and widening of credit spreads over the first quarter of 2020, the Fund 

return over the 12 months to 31 March 2020 was negative. However, the bounce back in markets since means 

that returns over 18 months are only a little short of the funding discount rate. Moreover, since September, equity 

and credit markets have continued to perform strongly.     

Looking forward, our absolute level of expected returns on assets have fallen reflecting the change in market 

conditions, in particular interest rates and credit spreads. 

The table below compares our assumptions at the 31 March 2019 and 31 October 2020 for the Fund’s core 

assets. We expand upon the changing market conditions in Section 4.  

20 year expected return p.a. From 31 March 2019 From 31 October 2020 

Global equities  5.8% 5.5% 

Private equity 7.8% 6.4% 

Infrastructure 6.0% 5.5% 

Property 4.3% 3.9% 

Sub-Inv grade bonds 5.1% 4.3% 

IG corporate bonds (A rated) 1.5% 0.9% 

Inflation-linked gilts 0.3% -0.1% 

Fund (50th percentile return) 5.9% 5.5% 

 

As a result, at end October 2020, the median expected return on the Fund was 5.5% p.a., i.e. 0.4% p.a. lower.We 

note that the median (or 50th percentile) Fund return is higher than the sum of the parts with respect to the 

expected returns on underlying asset-classes, as it allows for correlations between the assets and the benefit of 

diversification between assets. 

The implied discount rate at 31 October 2020, looking at the equivalent return with an 80% likelihood, is also 

lower, at 3.4% p.a., i.e. the relative return is maintained.  

Offsetting this to some extent, implied inflation has also fallen from 3.65% to 3.3% (20-year implied gilt inflation). 

However, we note that this measure of inflation is RPI, rather than CPI, and due to the changes in the calculation 

of RPI, implied CPI may not have fallen to the same extent over the period. Taking these points together, it is 

expected that the funding level will have fallen, but not materially. 

In isolation, the slightly lower funding level and a lower future expected return imply a lower likelihood of success, 

i.e. less than an 80% chance of achieving funding over 20 years.  However, the expected return is still 

comfortably above 3.8% p.a.  

 

  

119



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 13 

4 Market commentary 

Overview 

Announcements of effective vaccines allowed companies and markets to put near-term economic weakness in 

the context of a potential end to the pandemic in 2021.  Global equity markets, oil and industrial metals prices 

rose in concert with US treasury yields in the fourth quarter.   

Despite Q3 GDP releases showing a sharp initial rebound in economic activity, output remains well below end-

2019 levels in most economies.  Furthermore, the global economy is set to end 2020 on a weak note after many 

countries, particularly in Europe and the US, re-imposed restrictions to reduce COVID-19 infections.  However, 

PMI surveys provide little evidence of a slowdown at a global level (Chart 1).  

Chart 1: Composite PMIs 

 

Eurozone and UK composite PMIs have fallen, but the global equivalent remains at a level signalling expansion, 

supported by solid readings in the US, China and elsewhere.  Even in the Eurozone and UK, both manufacturing 

and services have held up far better than during initial lockdowns in spring.  Once again, subject to looser 

restrictions and facing a stronger external environment, manufacturing has been far more resilient than services, 

remaining at a level typically consistent with strong expansion.  

Consensus forecasts a 4.2% fall in 2020 global GDP followed by a 4.8% expansion in 2021, though output in the 

major advanced economies is not expected to reach pre-pandemic levels until at least 2022.  While vaccine 

developments have not altered the average projection (most forecasts already assumed social distancing would 

continue in to 2021 but fade over time as vaccine coverage expanded and therapies improved), we believe the 

risks to the outlook are now more balanced.  Though cases continue to rise at a global level, it appears 

increasingly likely that many advanced economies could vaccinate a large proportion of their most vulnerable 

citizens early this year, potentially paving the way for a more permanent relaxation of restrictions.   

Sterling was volatile in the fourth quarter as Brexit talks approached their conclusion.  It ended the period 1.5% 

higher in trade-weighted terms as the EU and UK reached a trade deal enabling tariff- and quota-free movement 

of goods.  In trade-weighted terms, the US dollar and Japanese Yen, both typically considered safe-haven 

currencies, fell 4.3% and 1.2%, respectively, below end-September levels as economic sentiment improved.   

 

 

10

20

30

40

50

60

Nov 19 Feb 20 May 20 Aug 20 Nov 20

Global US Eurozone

UK Japan China

120



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 14 

Chart 2: Core CPI inflation 

 

Some commentators fear the release of pent-up demand when the pandemic subsides could lead to a surge in 

inflation.  However, most are more sanguine when GDP remains well below trend and unemployment is expected 

to rise.  The consensus estimate is for a fall in inflation in 2020 to be followed by a modest increase in 2021.  

While a sustained rise in inflation, and the subsequent need to raise interest rates, would represent a risk to 

economic recovery and asset prices, the resilience of supply during the pandemic and a return to normality that 

will probably be gradual suggest any inflation pressure will be limited and interest rates are likely to remain low 

for an extended period.   

Government bonds 

10-year US Treasury yields rose as the economy continued to recover in Q4, but equivalent UK and German 

were little changed as near-term economic weakness prompted their central banks to increase asset purchases.  

In the UK, Brexit disruption may moderate the economic rebound expected in 2021 and the Bank of England has 

been looking at the implications of further easing through negative interest rates.  Against that backdrop, very low 

yields are vulnerable to a less favourable fundamental background as growth and inflation recover and less 

technical support as monetary easing is replaced by short-term stability and longer-term tightening. 

Chart 3: 10-year government bond yields 

 

Despite the government’s announcement that RPI will be aligned with CPIH (c.1% p.a. lower) in 2030, with no 

compensation for index-linked gilt holders, implied inflation actually rose at longer terms. This may suggest 

markets have not fully discounted the changes.   

-0.5

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

Nov 18 Feb 19 May 19 Aug 19 Nov 19 Feb 20 May 20 Aug 20 Nov 20

%
 p

.a
.

UK US Eurozone Japan

-1.0

-0.5

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

Dec 19 Mar 20 Jun 20 Sep 20 Dec 20

%
 p

.a
.

UK US Germany

121



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 15 

Credit  

Unusually for a period of financial stress, companies have been able to raise huge amounts of debt to see them 

through near-term disruption.  This increase in leverage, coupled with falling profits, has resulted in lower interest 

coverage, despite a significant decline in yields.  Although default rates have risen – to 8.4% in the last 12 

months to November1 in the US high yield market – the accommodative funding conditions have helped keep 

them well below the peaks of previous crises.  However, it is likely defaults could remain elevated as companies 

lose government support. 

Chart 4: Global investment-grade and speculative-grade corporate credit spreads 

 

Nonetheless, global credit spreads have retraced much of the widening seen in Q1 and are now well below 

longer-term medians (Chart 4).  Credit assets which have seen less direct policy support, such as asset-backed 

securities and leveraged loans, look to offer better value than similarly rated fixed-interest corporate bonds.   

Equities 

The pandemic-induced recession has been notable by its creation of winner and losers: “social distancing” 

stocks, mainly in the technology sector, have benefitted not only from their ability to grow earnings while most 

other stocks saw huge pressure on profits, but also from the decline in the discount rates used to ascribe a 

present value to their future earnings.  Progress towards a vaccine has, to an extent, reversed this narrative since 

the start of November as cyclical sectors benefitted from improving economic sentiment (Chart 5).  

Chart 5: FTSE ALL World Relative Total Return 

 

 
1 Moody’s Weekly Market Outlook issuer-weighted default rate 

0.5

1.5

2.5

3.5

4.5

5.5

6.5

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

Dec 19 Mar 20 Jun 20 Sep 20 Dec 20

%
 p

.a
.

%
, 
p
.a

.

BB-rated High Yield

20-year median

A-rated investment grade (RHS)

20-year Median (RHS)

-40%

-30%

-20%

-10%

0%

10%

20%

30%
2020 31 Oct 2020 to 31 Dec 2020

122



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 16 

Global equity valuations at, or near, record-high levels continue to mask stark divergences across sectors and 

regions.  Cheaper valuations in regions such as Europe and the UK, with their higher-than-average cyclical 

exposures, may suggest there is further room for the value rotation to run.  However, while rises in government 

bond yields are limited and gradual, longer-duration growth sectors, such as technology, may well remain in 

favour in spite of high valuations.  Vaccine rollouts should see significant pressure on COVID-19 laggards ease, 

but the disruption caused by the pandemic may accelerate longer-term trends.  A rapid increase in technological 

adoption and efforts to de-carbonise the global economy would lend further fundamental support to the “winners” 

while weighing on old-economy cyclical sectors, such as oil & gas.  Partly as a result of this tension between 

current valuations and longer-term prospects, we would not advocate taking any strong regional, sectoral or 

stylistic positions.   

Property 

The 12-month total return on the MSCI UK Property index was -1.9% to end-November, though monthly returns 

have been positive since July.  Capital values, in aggregate, have fallen 7.1% in the year to November, 

predominantly due to an 17.9% fall in the retail sector (Chart 6).  Retail capital values continue to fall month by 

month, and the decline in office values has accelerated in the last 3 months.  A recovery in industrial capital 

values, up 5.6% since July, highlights the continuing divergence between property sectors: the pandemic has 

accelerated the longer-term trend from in-store to online spending, increasing demand for logistics and 

warehousing facilities.  

Chart 6: UK commercial property capital value index 

 

Aggregate rents have fallen 2.4% over the last year, although the month-on-month falls that have occurred since 

February have levelled off. Retail rents and, at a slower pace, office rents continue to fall, but annual rental 

growth in the industrial sector not only remains positive but rose in November.  Rent collection remains a 

challenge for landlords; the issue was probably at its height in the initial lockdown earlier in the year, but the 

recent re-imposition of restrictions may limit the immediate improvement.   

The creation of winners and losers extends to property: the mix of what constitutes an optimal property portfolio 

will continue to change. However, property in aggregate is likely to remain an important source of diversification 

and yield.   

  

80

85

90

95

100

105

Nov 19 Feb 20 May 20 Aug 20 Nov 20

All Industrial Office Retail

123



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 17 

5 Responsible investing 

Responsible Investing and ESG 

The Fund’s policy on Responsible Investing and approach to incorporating environmental, social and governance 

(‘ESG’) factors into investment decisions is set out in the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (‘ISS’), which 

was last reviewed by the Committee in January 2020.  To date, the Fund’s approach has largely been to delegate 

investment decision-making and voting to underlying investment managers.  

As stated in the Fund’s ISS (dated January 2020), the Fund has access to the Responsible Investment (‘RI’) 

resource and expertise provided by LGPS Central, which the Fund will use to help guide it’s approach. LGPS 

Central will manage sub-funds in accordance with their Responsible Investment and Engagement Framework. 

Details of the framework are summarised in the ISS. In brief, LGPS Central’s investment and RI beliefs focus on 

factors that enhance risk-adjusted returns through long-term sustainable investing.  

As highlighted in previous reviews, LGPS Central is a signatory of the Principles of Responsible Investment 

(‘PRI’) (a leading global standard for responsible investing) and ESG assessment is a key component of LGPS 

Central manager assessment for future sub-fund appointment. As such, while the assets currently held outwith 

LGPS Central will be transitioned over a period of years, all new investments via LGPS Central sub-funds will 

comply with the PRI. 

Climate change 

One area noted in the ISS is the consideration of the financial impact of climate change on investments. In 

October 2020, the Fund received its first climate risk report from LGPS Central. The view is to refresh this 

reporting on at least an annual basis, with the aim to continue to see incremental improvements in the Fund’s RI 

position.  

At a high level, the LGPS Central climate risk report found that the Fund’s equity portfolio had a carbon footprint 

that was c.17% lower than the benchmark. Our recommendation in the 2020 strategy review for the Fund’s 

passive equities to include an allocation to LGPS Central’s climate balanced multi-factor fund, which we consider 

to act as a sustainability factor, will go some way towards improving this metric in the 2021 reporting.  

More widely, the GrIP asset framework introduced in Section 3 lends itself to a focus on income and 

sustainability. In particular, income assets classes can lend themselves more easily to achieving more 

sustainable returns through alignment to ESG and lower climate risk or low carbon features. 

We have considered the scope to consider the impact of climate change within other asset classes, such as 

infrastructure and debt, although we expect this to be in conjunction with LGPS Central as they develop new sub-

funds going forwards.  

Managers, including LGPS Central, can demonstrate their commitment to responsible investment through their 

adherence to industry standards. There are two standards directly relevant to the Fund’s investment managers; 

the Principles for Responsible Investment and the Financial Reporting Council’s UK Stewardship Code. 

We propose the Officers and ISC continue to monitor and review the adherence of LGPS Central and directly 

appointed mangers to these standards. We note that the UK Stewardship Code has been overhauled with a new 

Code having come into force at the start of 2020. Existing signatories to the old Code will cease to be signatories 

in 2021 unless they meet the revised requirements which are substantially higher. 

  

124



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 18 

6 Equities 

The Fund’s target benchmark equity allocation is largely in listed equity markets 43% (but within a 40-44% range) 

with a further 4.75% in private equity, including the Aberdeen Standard secondaries fund. As at 30 September 

2020 the actual allocation to equity remained above the target range.  

 Manager Target % Actual % 

Listed equity  42.0 44.9 

   Regional (passive) LGIM passive market cap    15.0 31.3  

   Global (active) LGPS Central  8.0 8.4 

   Emerging markets (active) LGPS Central 4.0 4.1 

   Global multi-factor LGPS Central 15.0 0.0 

Private equity  4.75 6.1 

 Adams Street 4.0 5.8 

 Aberdeen Standard secondaries 0.75 0.5 

 

Listed equity 

The listed equity allocation comprises a mix of regional and global allocations implemented through passive and 

active mandates. The global equity exposure and part of the emerging market exposure are actively managed 

within LGPS Central funds, while the regional equity was passively managed by Legal & General (LGIM). 

The listed equity allocation was reviewed as part of the 2020 strategy review. The main changes were to replace 

the Fundamental indexation and part of the regional passive market cap allocation with a multi-factor benchmark.  

Manager Strategy Old Weight New Weight Change 

LGIM regional  
(market cap passive) 

UK Equity 
European ex UK Equity 
North American Equity 
Japanese Equity 
Pacific ex Japan Equity 
Emerging Market Equity      

15.5% 
6% 

14% 
6% 
6% 

4.5% 

7.5% 
6% 

14% 
3% 
3% 

2.5% 

-8% 
 
 

-3% 
-3% 
-2% 

LGIM (fundamental 
indexation) 

RAFI AW 3000 Europe ex. UK  
RAFI AW 3000 North America 

6% 
14% 

0.0% 
0.0% 

-6% 
-14% 

Total LGIM Passive  72% 36% -36% 

LGPS Central (passive) Climate Balanced Multi-Factor 0.0% 36% +36% 

Total Multi-Factor Passive  0.0% 36% +36% 

LGPS Central (active) Global Equity 19.0% 19.0%  

LGPS Central (active) Emerging Market Equity 9.5% 9.5%  

Total Active Equity  27.5% 27.5% - 

Total Listed Equity   100.0% 100.0%  

 

The LGPS Central All-World Equity Climate Multi-Factor sub-fund was launched in the second half of 2019. The 

LGPS Climate Multi-Factor sub-fund benchmark incorporates a climate overlay to its factor-based index. Along 

with the reduction in UK equity market exposure (which has a higher exposure to carbon intensive industries), the 

Fund should expect to see improved metrics in the next annual climate risk report prepared by LGPS Central. 

The required asset transitions took place in December to bring the Fund in line with the weights shown above.  

We remain comfortable with the listed equity portfolio and do not propose any further changes to the strategic 

allocation or the split between active and passive management. However, we propose that LPC delegate to the 

125



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 19 

Officers and ISC a review of the LGIM passive equity holdings in the second half of 2021, with a view to 

simplyfing the number of regional funds used. 

Private equity 

The Fund has a 4.75% strategic allocation to private equity, including the investment in Aberdeen Standard’s 

secondary fund. The Fund’s existing private equity exposure is through closed-ended funds and therefore will 

continue to be held separately from LGPS Central until capital is returned over time. 

Given the closed-ended nature of these funds, it is necessary to continue to make further commitments to this 

asset class in order to maintain the target. The Fund committed a further $25m to the Adam Street 2020 Global 

Fund in Q4 2020 in order to maintain the allocation. We expect ongoing investments required to maintain the 

allocation to private equity are made to Adams Street until such time as LGPS Central have a new suitable 

offering which may not be until later in 2021.  

The Fund previously invested £10m in the 2018 vintage of the LGPS Central private equity sub-fund. Following 

the departure of Omar Ghafur, Head of Private Markets at LGPS Central, the launch of 2019 vintage was delayed 

and subsequently cancelled. LGPS Central have recently appointed Ian Brown as Omar Ghafur’s replacement 

and as such it is expected that LGPS Central will launch a 2021 vintage of the private equity sub-fund.  

We propose that the LPC delegates to the Officers and the ISC a review of suitability of this sub-fund 

once further detail becomes available. 

Secondaries market opportunity 

Investing in Secondary private equity involves acquiring interests in existing established primary private equity 

funds. They can provide the opportunity to gain immediate exposure to well-seasoned portfolios from a range of 

primary managers, thus accelerating capital deployment and increasing diversification.  

The pandemic has forced some investors and fund managers to restructure their portfolios, which has provided 

an opportunity to acquire assets in the secondary market at discounts.  Investing in Secondaries, particularly in 

the aftermath of the current pandemic, can be advantageous for the following reasons: 

• Investors gain immediate access to mature portfolios which accelerates the deployment of capital and the 

subsequent realisation of returns; 
• The risk of primary managers investing in assets that are not consistent with the investors expectations, 

also referred to as ‘blind pool’ risk, is eliminated: 
• Greater diversification is achieved through exposure to a wider range of underlying portfolio companies; 
• It is possible to gain exposure to underlying funds from the best primary managers that would normally be 

difficult to access; and 
• As alluded to above, there is an opportunity to acquire interests at a discount to the net asset value (NAV) 

of the underlying primary funds. This is essentially a premium for providing liquidity to the market. 
Secondaries are usually acquired at a discount to NAV, with the average discount around 12% in 2019. These 

discounts have widening since the beginning of the pandemic and associated global lockdowns. We believe that 

the next 12-18 months could be a particularly good time to invest because of the strong deal-flow and higher 

discounts available. 

The number of managers specialising in this area is small. The Fund already has a small exposure to the 

Secondaries market via the Aberdeen Standard Investments SOF funds (with a holding valued at c.£25m at end 

September 2020).  

126



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 20 

Adam Street are currently raising for their Global Secondaries Fund VII (GSF7). We view Adam Street’s 

capabilities in this area positively and believe that they would be well-placed to take advantage of the secondary 

opportunities expected to come to the market over the next few years.  For reference, the first close for this fund 

is expected to be March 2021.  

The current allocation to private equity is already above target. However, as noted in section 9 and 10, 

the Fund is currently underweight other private assets (property and private lending). Therefore, we 

propose that the strategic allocation to private equity is increased by 1% to 5.75% with the Fund seeking 

to increase exposure to Secondaries. 

We propose that the LPC delegates to the ISC and Officers to consider implementation options, subject 

to the necessary due diligence. Firstly looking to the LGPS Central 2021 private equity offering once 

further details become available and taking into account the sub-fund’s positioning on secondaries. 

Should there be limited exposure to secondaries via the LGPS Central offering then consideration could 

also be given to Adam Street’s offering in this space. 

  

127



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 21 

7 Currency hedging 

Introduction and summary recommendation 

The Fund has direct currency exposure through its non-UK investments. Currency movements provide additional 

variation in the returns earned on non-sterling denominated assets. The Fund currently manages this volatility by 

strategically hedging a proportion of the non-sterling exposure as follows: 

• A standalone programme is managed by Aegon Asset Management with a strategic target to hedge 50% 

of the non UK listed equity exposure, currently hedging around £850m.  

• Non UK currency exposure associated with the Fund’s bond exposure is largely hedged within the 

associated mandates. This ensures currency movements do not affect the value of the income or 

redemption proceeds of the bonds held.   

In this section we review relevant factors that may be considered when setting strategic target currency hedging 

levels in global equity portfolios.  We do not include any further review of currency hedging within the bond 

mandates, where we consider full hedging of currency exposure to be appropriate.  

In brief, we recommend continuing to hedge a proportion of the currency exposure associated with the 

Fund’s listed equities. However, for the reasons outlined in this section, and discussed in more detail in 

Appendix 1, we suggest reducing the benchmark from 50% to 30%.  

Relative to the current strategy this has the following advantages: 

• It maintains the aim of some reduction in equity return volatility, but places a greater focus on 

reducing volatility in times of market stress;  

• It considers currency hedging at the overall Fund level rather than just at the equity level; 

• It reduces the level of potential calls on capital to settle losses on currency contracts*, which 

may require the sale of other assets at a time this may not be attractive to do so. 

*Relative to strategic benchmark. Aegon may use their discretion to implement higher levels of hedging, and 

management of any additional associated capital should form part of their decision-making.    

We consider that this strikes a good balance between managing risk at a portfolio level and managing 

costs. 

We support the ongoing focus on risk management and associated volatility reduction, as provided by 

Aegon, in managing the currency hedging, rather than an outright actively managed currency mandate.   

Strategic objectives 

Investors may have different potential strategic objectives when they choose to manage the currency risk 

associated with equity exposure. The most common is to reduce the risk as measured through volatility of 

returns.  

We believe the additional objectives of managing funding volatility and downside volatility in times of market 

stress to be a worthwhile extension of the core objective to reduce return volatility, if these objectives can be 

harnessed.  

We note that the programme managed by Aegon Asset Management for the Fund includes a focus on “managing 

risk to protect the fund in absolute terms in times of market stress”.    

128



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 22 

In addition, active currency management can be seen as a source of additional returns. The Fund has employed 

managers for standalone active currency mandates in the past, but no longer holds any mandates with the sole 

aim of adding value through active currency decisions. 

Currency hedging to reduce equity return volatility  

Whilst the vast majority of a global equity portfolio’s volatility comes from the volatility of the stocks that comprise 

the equity market, currency movements add to that volatility of returns.  

We note that the main benefit in terms of risk reduction is gained through the first 50% of hedging.  Hedging more 

than 50% has a much more marginal effect, and hedging levels above 70% may actually result in volatility 

beginning to increase again.   

When considering equity volatility reduction on a standalone basis, analysis suggests that the optimal 

level of currency hedging is between 50% and 70%. 

A strategic hedging target of 50% is also consistent with the simple principle of avoiding the maximum impact of 

currency movements, in the absence of any certainty over the direction of currencies, i.e. half right.   

Scope to reduce funding volatility 

Consideration should also be given as to how currency risk interacts with other investment risks that affect the 

Fund’s funding, particularly interest rate and inflation risk.   

For example, if real gilt yields fall, we might expect sterling to depreciate relative to other currencies as, all else 

equal, the factors which tend to reduce real yields (i.e. lower growth expectations and/or higher inflation) also 

tend to weigh on a countries’ exchange rate.  In such a scenario, having some currency exposure may act to 

offset the impact on the funding level associated with lower real yields or higher inflation, and would therefore 

help to manage risk at an overall Fund level. Hence, retaining some unhedged currency exposure appears 

helpful in managing funding risk.    

We note however that the results will be somewhat dependent upon the time period considered.   

Reducing volatility in market stress: sterling performance in periods of economic weakness 

Whilst historically sterling may have been seen as a safe-haven currency, there is little evidence in the more 

recent past of the last three decades to suggest sterling benefits from so-called “safe-haven” status.   

The 2015-17 global earnings recession, of course, coincided with the surprise outcome of the vote to leave the 

EU.  Anticipation of a supply-side, and hence inflationary, shock from disruption to trade and labour markets, 

alongside the UK’s persistent twin deficits, and hence ongoing dependence on capital inflows, resulted in a sharp 

depreciation in sterling.   

Most recently, in the first quarter of 2020 on the back of the Covid pandemic and recognition that it would affect 

the global economy and trade, sterling depreciated sharply. Sterling potentially suffered from being an economy 

dependent on global trade and the relative size of central borrowing packages announced.    

The relative weakness of sterling in times of market and economic stress is something that we consider 

a likely feature going forward. In isolation, this suggests retaining a lower level of currency hedging than 

the neutral 50-70% range identified earlier.    

Current valuations 

Given the longer-term depreciation of sterling since mid 2015, unhedged global equity returns to a sterling-based 

investor have been higher than the hedged returns.   

129



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 23 

Purchasing power parity (PPP) theory asserts that changes in inflation differentials between regions will be offset 

in the long-term by an equal and opposite change in the exchange rate, i.e. an exchange rate should adjust to 

allow for relative inflation between two countries over the long-term, so that prices for products and services are 

the same in each.  

The chart below shows the deviation in inflation-adjusted exchange rates from long-term average.  

Real sterling exchange rates deviation from average since 1970 

 

The chart would suggest Sterling is currently less expensive, and might suggest a higher level of currency 

hedging would be appropriate. However, exchange rates can, and do, diverge considerably from PPP 

benchmarks and longer-term inflation adjusted averages for several reasons: 

• Economic – relative GDP and/or productivity growth, inflation and interest rate differentials 

• Financial – current and fiscal account balance and asset flows 

• Political uncertainty 

Looking forward, a premium for holding sterling might not seem unreasonable given the potential headwinds and 

ongoing uncertainty around the implications for the UK exit from the EU. 

On balance, we do not think there is any reason to adjust the strategy currency target on valuation 

grounds, at least in the short to medium term. 

Capital requirements and costs of running a hedging programme 

When a currency contract expires, one party has to make good its position to the other reflecting the movement 

in exchange rates since the contract was implemented.  

Reflecting one of these extreme events, we note that during the latter part of February and first three weeks of 

March 2020, sterling collapsed vs the Yen, Euro and US dollar by around 12%. On a programme of c.£850m, that 

meant a potential settlement of £100m. Given the hedging position was only covering 50% of the Fund’s equity 

exposure, it should be noted that the Fund’s equities rose in value by £200m due to the same currency 

movements. However, the equities had also fallen in value due to wider concerns surrounding the pandemic, and 

hence selling equities to settle the currency hedging would mean locking in the capital losses. Rather than selling 

equities, Aegon hold a cash reserve (c.£50m as at 30 September 2020), and they also have access to index-

linked gilts which they can sell.  

In the normal course of events the flow of profits due to sterling strengthening or capital calls due to sterling 

weakening will be modest. However, the Fund needs to have access to capital in order to meet any settlement on 

currency losses. At the margin this tends towards a lower hedging target.  

-50

-30

-10

10

30

50

70

1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

$/£

¥/£

€/£
Sterling more 

expensive

Sterling less 
expensive

130



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 24 

8 Targeted return 

The strategic allocation to Targeted Return was reduced from 9.0% to 7.5% as part of last year’s review, with the 

proposed reduction used fund the increase in the allocation to multi-asset credit and a small element to 

investment grade credit. In practice, the current allocation is still close to the pre-2020 target (10.5% as at 

September 2020) as LGPS have not yet launched their multi-asset credit fund (see below in this section).  

The current Targeted Return allocation is broadly split between Aspect, Pictet and Ruffer. As a reminder, Aspect 

operates a systematic managed futures hedge fund, while Pictet and Ruffer manage long-only asset allocation 

funds, with Pictet’s fund being the more tactical.  

The aim of the Targeted return portfolio is to provide a return of cash + 3-4% net of fees, equivalent to a return in 

excess of CPI+3% long-term, while providing diversification from equities, which is the single largest asset 

allocation for the Fund.  

The Fund’s actual allocation at 30 September 2020 is summarised below: 

 Aspect Capital Pictet Ruffer Combined 

Actual allocation £132.1m £166.8m £183.6m £482.7m 

2.9% 3.6% 4.0% 10.5% 

Performance is summarised below.  

 Aspect Capital Pictet Ruffer 

9 months to 30 Sept 2020 -9.9% 9.9% 9.4% 

3 years to 30 Sept 2020, p.a. 0.5% 1.2% 5.4% 

Since inception, p.a. 3.7% (Dec 13) 3.6% (Sep 15) 6.0% (Dec 13) 

Over the nine months to end September 2020, Pictet and Ruffer have delivered positive returns, with Aspect 

producing a negative return of similar margin, experiencing a reversal of the strong returns delivered in 2019.  

We still consider the objective of tilting the Fund’s strategy to capture market risks and opportunities as 

worthwhile objective. We understand that LGPS Central expect to launch a Targeted Return sub-fund in the 

summer of 2021. The sub-fund will aim to target a cash+4% return with limited correlation to equities. The initial 

investment case provided by LGPS Central in respect of the Targeted Return sub-fund suggests that there may 

be between 6 and 12 different strategies within the portfolio.  

Subject to confirmation that the objectives of that sub-fund are consistent with the Fund’s current objectives, we 

would expect the Fund’s Targeted Return exposure to be replaced with the LGPS Central sub-fund over the 

course of 2021.   

The launch of the LGPS Central Targeted Return sub-fund is expected in the near future. In the absence 

of more detail around what the sub-fund composition will look like, the LPC could retain the three 

mandates until such time that the LGPS Central sub-fund is available, trimming each of them to fund the 

multi-credit allocation. It may be necessary for the Officers and ISC to review possible alternatives 

through the course of the year if the LGPS Central sub-fund progress is slow and/or the final proposal is 

not seemed to be suitable for the Fund. 

 

131



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 25 

9 Real assets and inflation 

Real assets 

The Fund currently has a 5% allocation to index-linked gilts (‘ILG’), which provide a direct link to inflation 

expectations. In addition, the Fund targets c.19.75% in long-term income assets through its investment in 

infrastructure (including Timberland) and property, which are expected to provide a real return. 

 

Index-linked gilts and inflation 

The ILGs are held in a segregated mandate managed by Kames against an FTSE All-Stock Index-linked index. 

At the end of September 2020, the ILG portfolio at Kames totalled c.£248m.  

A key development has been the expectation that RPI inflation would be replaced or changed to CPI inflation at 

some point in the future. This is important as the Fund pays CPI benefit increases, but index-linked gilts are 

revalued with RPI increases. Hence, although index-linked gilts provide real return protection, there is a basis 

mis-match that may lead to deviation in the level of this protection until there is greater clarity and re-pricing of 

index linked gilts. 

As noted in our 2020 strategy paper, in September 2019, the Government responded to the House of Lords 

Economic Affairs Committee's January 2019 report, Measuring Inflation, which recommended that problems with 

the RPI be 'fixed', and to proposals from the UK Statistical Authority (‘UKSA’) that the publication of RPI should 

cease.    

Following a consultation period, the Government announced on 25 November 2020 that RPI will be aligned with 

CPIH as proposed, but not before 2030 and no compensation is being offered to index-linked gilt holders. 

Implications for the Fund

Aligning RPI to CPIH is expected to reduce the rate of inflation linked to assets such as index-linked gilts that 

reference RPI.  As illustrated below, the difference between RPI and CPI/CPIH historically has been in the region 

of 1% p.a.  This has a material impact on long dated RPI-linked assets and liabilities. 

Annual percentage change in CPI, CPIH and RPI 

 

Source: Office for National Statistics, ‘Inflation and price indices’ 

132

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201719/ldselect/ldeconaf/246/246.pdf
https://www.statisticsauthority.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/09/190304_SirDavidNorgrove_to_Chancellor_Section21.pdf


 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 26 

In anticipation of this outcome, implied RPI inflation in index-linked gilts had already been re-pricing downwards, 

such that the gap between expected RPI and CPI beyond 2030 was much less than 1% p.a.  

However, on the day of the announcement RPI pricing actually rose. This may appear counterintuitive, but we 

expect there was an element of indiscriminate buying of inflation on the back of clarity about future measurement. 

The rise in inflation did also apply to CPI pricing beyond 2030 (albeit a much smaller market, so tradeable CPI 

pricing is not that transparent), and the implied gap between the two post 2030 narrowed further towards zero. 

We note that other factors will affect real yields. For example, expectations around a no deal Brexit.  

While there is an implied loss to RPI linked assets, and the value of RPI linked benefits where relevant, the 

announcement brings clarity to the problem. Furthermore, pushing the implementation date back to 2030 at least 

reduces the impact when there was a possibility that the implementation date could have been set as early as 

2025.  

On the liability side, the value of the Fund’s benefits linked to CPI will change at the next valuation as a result of 

this announcement. The actuarial assumption for valuing CPI-linked liabilities is unlikely to be RPI less 1%. As 

the basis for setting the CPI assumption for future actuarial valuation is as yet unknown, we have assumed that 

2.3% remains broadly reflective of CPI given market moves.    

Whatever the assumption for CPI used in the funding assessment, the level of pensions are sensitive to changes 

in the actual level of CPI. Looking forward, index-linked gilts and/or inflation derivatives now provide better direct 

protection against movements in CPI inflation, and it is useful to consider whether they have a role to play in the 

asset allocation. 

In our 2020 review, we proposed introducing an allocation to investment grade (i.e. high quality) credit, either 

sterling credit or global credit hedged to sterling, and funding this by reducing the allocation to index-linked gilts 

by 2.5% (c£115m). This retained an element of nominal interest rate exposure but reduced the inflation pricing 

uncertainty around RPI. By allocating to investment grade credit rather than fixed interest gilts, there is a small 

yield pick-up, net of fees.    

LGPS Central established the active Global investment grade bond sub-fund launch in early 2020, and the 

transfer from index-linked gilts took place in the second quarter. Since, April 2020 investment grade bonds have 

out-performed index-linked gilts by c.5%.  

 

-2.18

-2.16

-2.14

-2.12

-2.10

-2.08

-2.06

-2.04

8:00 AM 10:00 AM 12:00 PM 2:00 PM 4:00 PM

30Y Index Linked Gilt Yield (% pa)

2.90

2.92

2.94

2.96

2.98

3.00

3.02

3.04

3.06

3.08

3.10

8:00 AM 10:00 AM 12:00 PM 2:00 PM 4:00 PM

30Y RPI Swap Rate (% pa)

133



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 27 

 

Real yields on index-linked gilts are negative and have fallen further over 2020, reflecting the fall in nominal gilt 

yields, ending November 2020 at -2.3%% compared to -1.9% at the year start.  

As illustrated in the graph, implied RPI inflation up to 2030 is between 3.0 and 3.5%, and implied inflation for 

periods of 10 year or more remains at 3.0% or higher. Despite the change to RPI from 2030, implied inflation is 

broadly unchanged.   Even if considering implied inflation for periods from 2030 (i.e. when RPI becomes CPI), 

implied inflation does not fall below 2.9%. Against a central policy to keep CPI inflation at c2.0%, this suggests a 

significant premium baked into inflation pricing, particularly over the next 20 years.  

Therefore, while we consider hedging inflation sensitivity to be a real benefit in managing funding risk, the current 

level of index-linked gilts only provides limited protection against inflation, and we do not see current pricing as 

attractive. Hence, we do propose a small drop in the strategic allocation to index-linked gilts of 0.5% to 

4.5%, recognising the introduction of a 0.5% strategic allocation to cash held by Aegon within their 

currency hedging programme.   

Real assets other than index-linked gilts 

The Fund’s allocation to property and infrastructure are currently below the strategic target. 

 

 Current Target Actual 

Infrastructure (incl. timber) 9.75% 8.4% 

Property 10.0% 8.2% 

Total 19.75% 16.6% 

 

Infrastructure 

The current strategic allocation to infrastructure is 9.75%. This includes allocations to Infracapital and 

Timberland. The core infrastructure allocation is between three managers, namely, KKR (3 closed-ended funds), 

IFM and JP Morgan. 

The actual allocation at end September 2020 was 8.4%. In October 2020, this underweight was partially 

addressed by committing an additional £25m to the JP Morgan Infrastructure Investments Fund. As is the case 

with most private investments, this capital will take some time to draw down so the underweight will gradually 

reduce over time (not allowing for distributions from the closed-ended funds which will also move the allocation). 

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

R
at

e 
(%

)

Years

Implied gilt inflation

2 Jan 2020: implied RPI over period (spot rate)

4 Dec 2020: implied RPI over period (spot rate)

134



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 28 

We understand that LGPS Central are due to launch their infrastructure sub-fund before March 2021. As yet no 

managers have been selected. We propose that the LPC delegate to the Officers and ISC that a review of 

the suitability of the sub-fund be carried out once there is further clarity on this. The expectation is that if 

the LGPS Central sub-fund is deemed suitable then the underweight to the asset class would be 

addressed by committing to the Pool offering over 2021. We propose this is also delegated to the 

Officers, subject to satisfactory completion of the suitability review.  

Property 

The allocation to property is further from target. However, we also note that the shape of UK commercial property 

is in a period of potential significant change. As such we believe it is useful to take a broader, and potentially 

longer-term, look at how the property market might be expected to evolve, in order to consider how best to shape 

the portfolio. 

The current holdings and strategic allocation to property is 10% as set out below (30 September 2020): 

 Holding (£m) Holding (%) Strategic weight (%) 

Aegon (Kames) Active Value I and II 67.2 1.5%  

 

 
La Salle 185.1 4.0% 

Colliers 126.2 2.7% 

Total 378.4 8.2% 10.0% 

 

We note that LGPS Central provide a monitoring role for the Fund in respect of the current holdings.  

Evolving property market 

The UK commercial property market was already changing pre-pandemic, but 2020 has accelerated many of the 

trends that were underway, and are unlikely to fully reverse post-pandemic. Brexit potentially brings additional 

short-term uncertainty.  

So, an important question for strategic investors is what a property allocation will look like over the longer-term. 

We expect UK balanced property funds to transition to a more defensive allocation with even more focus on 

properties with longer leases and high-quality tenants. This will mean moving away from retail to focus more on 

industrials and resilient alternatives, including residential.  

In order to keep ahead of this transition, investors may choose to make specific capital allocations to newer parts 

of the UK property market, such as residential, in order to diversify exposure and help mitigate the risk of lower 

returns over the short and medium-term facing some sectors of the UK commercial property market. Alternatively, 

investors may see portfolios evolve through existing mandates. Investors may also look to diversify into the broader 

global property market to complement current allocations to UK commercial property. 

There is a growing availability for specialist funds, and the La Salle mandate allocates across a range of these. The 

Aegon funds focus on delivering higher returns than the broad market through investment in smaller higher yielding 

properties. Alternative strategies will be sector specific or include elements of development or re-purposing of 

properties.    

We note that of the two Aegon funds, performance of Fund I has lagged the property market over the 12 months 

to September due to capital losses, reflecting above average voids, pre-pack administrations and some tenant non-

payment of rents (such as Sportsdirect). Fund II has fared better, with rent recoveries above the manager’s 

expectation, smaller capital losses and returns remaining above the broader market.  

Further analysis of our outlook for longer-term commercial property is included in Appendix 2. 

135



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 29 

We understand LGPS Central have plans to launch a direct property sub-fund in June/July 2021 and an indirect 

property sub-fund at some point in the future. We expect these could provide an opportunity to address some of 

the changes affecting the property market.  

We remain comfortable with the current strategic target allocation of 10%. Given our continued 

cautionary view of UK property, we do not see any short-term pressing need to increase the Fund’s 

allocation towards target. 

However, we suggest the LPC delegate to the ISC to review the property allocation during 2021 and to 

consider scope to incorporate residential property into the strategy as a diversification from pure 

commercial exposure. We would expect this to be considered alongside discussions with LGPS Central 

on what property offering they expect to provide, and for consideration to be given as to whether the Fund’s 

existing managers could provide additional exposure to residential property. 

Furthermore, we propose the Officers and ISC review the LGPS Central funds when further details are 

available, to consider their suitability for ongoing use by the Fund for its property exposure, and for the 

Officers to report back to the LPC before any further action is taken. 

  

136



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 30 

10 Credit assets 

As set out in previous reviews, we believe it makes sense for the Fund to continue to hold a meaningful strategic 

allocation to the predictability of returns provided by diversified higher yielding credit. These assets offer attractive 

strategic yield, with predictability in returns over time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Fund currently has exposure to both of liquid and private debt markets.  

Investment grade credit 

As part of the 2020 strategy review, the allocation to index-linked gilts was reduced and the proceeds invested 

into the LGPS Central investment grade credit sub-fund. This allocation is 2.5%.  

The Aegon currency hedging programme holds cash to provide a margin for managing current settlements. 

Typically this is around £50m or 1.0% of Fund assets. Recognising that cash yields are low, and even negative 

net of fees, we propose the Officers and ISC are delegated to review the Aegon Short Dated Investment Grade 

Bond Fund and subject to satisfactory due diligence, to give Aegon the discretion to allocate up to £25m (or 

c.0.5% of Fund assets) of the cash currently held by Aegon to manage the currency hedging programme into the 

Short-Dated Investment Grade Bond Fund. This will generate a marginal extra yield relative to cash, whilst 

retaining liquidity and limiting drawdown. 

The Fund also holds additional cash at times, either due to commitments made but not yet funded, or due to net 

cashflow generated from investments and contributions relative to outgo. We note the allocation to cash is 

currently 2.9%. Subject to due diligence and advice on relative yields available, we propose the Officers are 

delegated discretion to use the Aegon fund, or any alternative fund reviewed and considered appropriate by the 

ISC, as a short-term alternative to holding cash. 

Liquid multi-asset credit 

The Fund currently holds a small allocation to the JP Morgan multi-asset credit fund (c.£29m, 0.6%) for historic 

reasons. As part of the 2020 strategy review, it was agreed to increase the liquid multi-asset credit (‘MAC’) 

allocation to 4.0%. The intention was that this allocation would be achieved using the LGPS Central MAC sub-

fund (subject to due diligence). LGPS Central did not launch their MAC sub-fund over 2020. The expected launch 

date is now March 2021.  

137



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 31 

In December, LGPS Central announced that the sub-fund would be comprised of a 50/50 split between BMO 

Global Asset Management and Western Asset Management. Due diligence on the sub-fund is due to be carried 

out in the coming weeks.   

Subject to completion of the due diligence, we recommend that the LPC delegate to the Officers and ISC 

implementation of the target allocation to liquid multi-asset credit. The expectation is that the existing small 

allocation to JP Morgan MAC would be transferred into the LGPS Central sub-fund, with the remaining allocation 

funded from a pro-rata disinvestment from the Fund’s three Targeted Return managers and cash. 

We understand that the liquid MAC sub-fund may include up to a 10% allocation to Emerging Market debt (EMD). 

Unless there is a material overlap with the LGPS Central Emerging Market Debt sub-fund, we would not 

propose adjusting the standalone allocation to EMD. However, this should be considered as part of the due 

diligence. 

Emerging market debt 

The 2.5% strategic allocation to EMD provides diversification from other higher yielding debt markets. The actual 

allocation at end September 2020 was marginally underweight relative to target at 2.3%. 

LGPS Central launched their EMD sub-fund in during 2020. The Fund transitioned the existing EMD holdings 

with Ashmore to the LGPS Central sub-fund in December.  

We remain comfortable with this allocation and do not propose any changes. 

Private lending 

The Fund currently has investments in three private debt strategies. The strategic allocation, allowing for the 

M&G distressed debt and CRC capital release programmes, is 10.5% of Fund assets. 

30 September 2020 
Holding  

(£m) 
Weight  

(%) 
Strategic 
Allocation 

Partners Multi Credit Funds (private lending)  280.4 6.1% 
 

10.5% 
M&G DOF strategies 63.3 1.4% 

Christofferson Robb 46.9 1.0% 

Total 390.5 8.5% 10.5% 

 

The Partners allocation is across 4 vintage funds. The final capital call for the Partners MAC V fund was called in 

October 2020, so the actual weights will be slightly closer to target than the end September figures above 

suggest. However, we also note that the earlier vintages of the Partners MAC funds are continuing to return 

capital and as such it will be necessary to continue to top-up this allocation over 2021. 

We continue to consider private lending a useful opportunity for institutional investors to access attractive yields 

with an illiquidity premium. 

LGPS Central have no plans to deliver a private lending solution for Central Funds, and it will not be included in a 

multi-asset credit solution. Hence, the Officers and ISC would need to continue to review and allocate directly to 

private lending managers in order to maintain its target strategic weight to private lending.  

Credit market opportunities 

There remain some dislocations in a number of markets in the wake of the pandemic. There may also be more 

opportunities arise, depending upon how the global economy and markets develop from here. Below we highlight 

two such opportunities in the credit market and consider whether it would be appropriate and possible for the 

Fund to access these opportunities. 

138



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 32 

Special Situations Financing 

Special Situations Financing is an extension of Core Direct Lending rather than a distinct asset class. It aims to 

deliver an enhanced yield by providing bespoke solutions to fundamentally strong businesses facing specific 

challenges or strategic opportunities relating to the pandemic. The terms available are more attractive than 

mainstream direct lending, partly because of the challenging circumstances borrowers face, partly because levels 

of competition in this segment of the market are lower.  

The focus on strong borrowers and conservative loan structures means that this opportunity has a lower risk 

profile than distressed debt. Market participants expect the opportunity to remain attractive for the next 12-18 

months as new financing opportunities emerge and for the strategy to deliver an unlevered, net return in the 

range 10-12% p.a. 

The supply of opportunities is expected to be strongest in sectors that have been directly impacted by the 

pandemic, e.g. traditional retail (discretionary purchases), leisure, hospitality, consumer services and public 

transportation, and sectors that were facing transformational change before crisis began. 

The Fund’s existing direct lending manager, Partners Group, focus on more ‘vanilla’ corporate lending with a 

lower margin and do not have a product which specifically focuses on special situations. Any allocation would 

therefore require a new manager. For these reasons and recognising the desire not to add new manager 

relationships at this time, we propose that no further action is taken with regard to this potential 

opportunity. 

Distressed debt 

Distressed debt focuses on investments where a borrower’s debt burdens have become unsustainable. It 

typically involves restructuring of either the business and/or its capital structure and often requires a highly active 

intervention by the debt holder. It involves higher levels of risk than typical debt provision, with the result that it 

aims to generate a high return largely through capital growth.  

The supply of distressed debt opportunities fluctuates widely over the cycle. The economic disruption caused by 

the pandemic is clearly going to lead to more restructuring and the provision of financing for distressed debt, 

though it may be 6-12 months before the opportunities emerge. 

It is expected that the opportunity will persist for several years particularly given the severity and likely prolonged 

duration of the current economic contraction. Unlike other opportunistic investments, it may well be preferable to 

commit capital in 12 months or so after the crisis has subsided and it becomes clear where the best opportunities 

lie and at what price they can be purchased. 

The Fund already has exposure to distressed debt via the M&G Distressed Opportunities Fund (‘DOF’) range. In 

Q3 2020, it was announced that Paul Taylor, Head of Restructuring and the leading fund manager for the DOF 

strategies, would be leaving the team with his responsibilities passing to the deputy fund managers, Andrew 

Amos and Rafael Cerezo. Given the significance of Paul’s departure we would not recommend that the Fund 

commit to the most recent vintage of the DOF funds (‘DOF V’) at this time.  

Rather we propose that the Officers and ISC revisit the M&G DOF team and distressed debt opportunity 

during the course of the year, once the new team structure has had time to bed in. Given the expectation 

that the opportunity will persist and may be preferable in 6-12 months time this feels like the appropriate course 

of action until comfort is gain around the new team. 

  

139



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 33 

11 Summary of recommendations 

Recommendations  

We propose only modest changes to the Fund’s investment strategy, reflecting market views and opportunities 

and the Fund’s actual asset allocation: 

• 1% increase in the strategic allocation to private equity; 

• Adjustment of the benchmark currency hedge ratios used in the Aegon currency hedging mandate 

from 50% to 30%; and 

• Subject to due diligence, introduction of a 0.5% allocation to short-date corporate bonds as an 

alternative to cash held by Aegon to support the currency hedging programme. 

We set out below a summary of our proposed strategy. We have presented the strategic allocation using the GrIP 

asset framework. 

 Proposed 

target  

weight (%) 

Comments 

Growth (55.25%) 55.25  

Listed equity 42.0 

(40.0-44.0) 

Broad factor based passive allocation implemented December 2020, using 

LGPS Climate multi-factor sub-fund 

Private equity (inc secondaries) 5.75 Increase in strategic target, reflecting existing allocations 

Consider opportunistic investment in Adam St Secondaries  

Targeted return 7.5 Currently hold higher allocation. Use this to fund sub-inv grade credit 

allocation; 

Review LGPS sub-fund when details available  

Income (36.75%) 36.75  

Infrastructure (inc timberland) 9.75 Review and use LGPS sub-fund 

Property 10.0 Consider introducing residential property; 

Consider LGPS Central proposals 

Emerging market debt 2.5 - 

Global credit – liquid sub inv grade 

markets 

4.0 Existing JPM fund holding and reduction in Target Return used to fund 

allocation, subject to due diligence 

Global credit - private debt 10.5 Review M&F DOF team mid-year to decide whether to make further allocation 

to distressed debt 

Protection (8%) 8.0  

Inflation-linked bonds 4.5 0.5% reduction in strategic allocation, reflecting recognition of cash held to 

mange currency hedge 

Investment grade credit 3.0 Including up to c.0.5% retained by Aegon to support currency hedge 

programme 

Currency hedge 0.5 Recognition of cash held by by Aegon for this mandate. 

Adjust benchmark hedge ratios used by Aegon from 50% to 30% 

Total 100.0  

Given the proposed changes are marginal, the strategy broadly retains the same broad level of expected return 

and volatility as the current strategy.  

Implementation of the strategic changes will be subject to due diligence of the respective underlying funds. The 

expectation is that over 2021 further progress will be made transitioning the Fund’s assets into the LGPS Central 

Pool as new sub-funds become available. This will be a significant area of focus for the Officers and Committee 

as it will be necessary to assess suitability of the offerings prior to any transition.  

140



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 34 

Appendix 1 – Currency hedging  

Strategic objectives 

Investors may have different potential strategic objectives when they choose to manage the currency risk 

associated with equity exposure. The most common is to reduce the risk as measured through volatility of 

returns.  

Additional aspects to consider when reviewing strategic currency hedging objectives are: 

• To reduce volatility associated with funding, i.e. considering overall volatility of assets and liabilities, not 

just that associated with equities;  

• Scope to reduce the downside volatility in times of market stress;  

• Current valuation and specific risks associated with sterling or other currencies; and 

• Avoiding material calls on cash calls to settle currency losses on the hedging programme which might 

lead to having to sell other assets at times of market stress. 

We believe the additional objectives of managing funding volatility and downside volatility in times of market 

stress to be a worthwhile extension of the core objective to reduce return volatility, if these objectives can be 

harnessed.  

In addition, active currency management can be seen as a source of additional returns. The Fund has employed 

managers for standalone active currency mandates in the past, but no longer holds any mandates with the sole 

aim of adding value through active currency decisions. 

Currency hedging to reduce equity return volatility  

Whilst the vast majority of a global equity portfolio’s volatility comes from the volatility of the stocks that comprise 

the equity market, currency movements add to that volatility of returns.  

We show below how a degree of currency hedging is volatility reducing. Volatility of the unhedged global equity 

market returns over the period shown is 16.0% p.a. Volatility of the currency hedged return is 15.6% p.a. 

Historic volatility of global equity portfolio versus proportion of currency hedged 

 

14.5%

15.0%

15.5%

16.0%

16.5%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

V
o
la

ti
lit

y
, 

%
 p

.a
.

Proportion hedged

141



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 35 

We note that the main benefit in terms of risk reduction is gained through the first 50% of hedging.  Hedging more 

than 50% either doesn’t have any further effect or, with much hedging levels above 70%, may actually result in 

volatility beginning to increase again.   

We also note that whilst the analysis uses data covering over 30 years (1988 to 2020), the shape of this chart is 

not constant for all time periods. However, if there are no material costs associated with currency hedging or 

persistent loss of return, it suggests some currency hedging of the equity portfolio will reduce volatility associated 

with returns.  

When considering equity volatility reduction on a standalone basis, this suggests that the optimal level 

of currency hedging is between 50% and 70%. 

A strategic hedging target of 50% is also consistent with the simple principle of avoiding the maximum impact of 

currency movements, in the absence of any certainty over the direction of currencies, i.e. half right.   

Scope to reduce funding volatility 

The analysis above looks at the equity holdings on a stand-alone basis.  However, consideration should also be 

given as to how currency risk interacts with other investment risks that affect funding, particularly interest rate and 

inflation risk.   

For example, if real gilt yields fall, we might expect sterling to depreciate relative to other currencies as, all else 

equal, the factors which tend to reduce real yields (i.e. lower growth expectations and/or higher inflation) also 

tend to weigh on a countries’ exchange rate.   

In such a scenario, having some currency exposure may act to offset the impact on the funding level associated 

with lower real yields or higher inflation, and would therefore help to manage risk at an overall Fund level.  

The chart below illustrates how consistently a sharp fall in index-linked gilts (which increases the value of 

liabilities if based on a traditional gilts + inflation type discount rate) is correlated to a fall in sterling. Looking at 

more data points, the correlation is reasonably consistent, with a correlation of between 0.2 and 0.5.  The picture 

is similar if considering the best months of fixed interest gilt returns. 

Change in USD/GBP, JPY/GBP and EUR/GBP in best 10 months of index-linked gilt returns since 1987 

 

Source: DataStream. Hymans Robertson calculations 

-16

-12

-8

-4

0

4

8

12

 June 16  Aug 16  Dec 08  Sept 92  Oct 92  Mar 19  Nov 11  Oct 88  Aug 14  Nov 11

%

Index-linked gilt return USD/GBP JPY/GBP EUR/GBP

Sterling weaker

142



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 36 

For schemes that already hedge a material proportion of their inflation linked liability risk through holding index-

linked gilts, this risk is already managed, supporting the use of currency hedging. However, where there is little 

direct inflation asset exposure, retaining some unhedged currency exposure appears helpful in 

managing funding risk.    

We note however that results will be somewhat dependent upon the time period considered.   

Reducing volatility in market stress: sterling performance in periods of economic weakness 

Whilst historically sterling may have been seen as a safe-haven currency, there is little evidence in the more 

recent past of the last three decades to suggest sterling benefits from so-called “safe-haven” status.   

As illustrated in the next chart, the sterling effective exchange rate index has weakened in 6 of the past 7 global 

equity earnings recessions since 1987. Conversely, in line with its “safe-have” status, or perceived tendency to 

appreciate in times of market stress as the global reserve currency, the US dollar effective exchange rate index 

has risen over the course of 6 of the last 7 global equity earnings recessions.   

Sterling and US dollar effective exchange rates 

 

Granted the 1990-94 global earnings recession coincided with the UK’s ejection from European Exchange Rate 

Mechanism, but the incident highlighted characteristics of the UK economy which made it susceptible to the rapid 

depreciation that followed – namely, twin current and fiscal account deficits and high relative inflation at the time.  

The 2015-17 global earnings recession, of course, coincided with the surprise outcome of the vote to leave the 

EU.  Anticipation of a supply-side, and hence inflationary, shock from disruption to trade and labour markets, 

alongside the UK’s persistent twin deficits, and hence ongoing dependence on capital inflows, resulted in a sharp 

depreciation in sterling.   

Most recently, in the first quarter of 2020 on the back of the Covid pandemic and recognition that it would affect 

the global economy and trade, sterling depreciated sharply. Sterling potentially suffered from being an economy 

dependent on global trade and the relative size of central borrowing packages announced.    

 

 

 

 

55

65

75

85

95

105

115

125

Dec 87 Dec 91 Dec 95 Dec 99 Dec 03 Dec 07 Dec 11 Dec 15 Dec 19

Global equity profit recessions Sterling effective exchange rate index US effective exchange rate index

143



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 37 

Exchange rate movements 1 January 2020 to 31 August 2020   

 

Since the pre-crisis levels in mid-March 2020, sterling has fallen 10% against the Euro and 5% against the Yen, 

but is now back to similar levels against the US dollar (perhaps more a reflection of a recent weakening dollar 

rather than strong pound).  

The relative weakness of sterling in times of market and economic stress is something that we consider 

a likely feature going forward. In isolation, this suggests retaining a lower level of currency hedging than 

the neutral 50-70% range identified earlier.    

We have also looked at whether there is a strong reason to apply a different level of hedging to one of the core 

currencies. The analysis shows a higher correlation between rises in inflation linked gilts and the fall in sterling 

relative to the yen, but given the relative size of the Japanese equity market within global equities, not so much 

so as to justify a different target level of hedging. 

Current valuations 

Given the longer-term depreciation of sterling since mid 2015, unhedged global equity returns to a sterling-based 

investor have been higher than the hedged returns.   

Hedged vs unhedged equity returns Dec 1987 – Aug 2020 

 

126

128

130

132

134

136

138

140

142

144

146

1

1.05

1.1

1.15

1.2

1.25

1.3

1.35

1.4

01/12/2019 01/01/2020 01/02/2020 01/03/2020 01/04/2020 01/05/2020 01/06/2020 01/07/2020 01/08/2020

USD/GBP EUR/GBP JPY/GBP (rhs)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Dec 87 Dec 92 Dec 97 Dec 02 Dec 07 Dec 12 Dec 17

T
o
ta

l 
re

tu
rn

 i
n
d
e
x
. 

1
0
0
 =

 3
1
 D

e
c
 1

9
8
7

Unhedged Hedged

144



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 38 

Purchasing power parity (PPP) theory asserts that changes in inflation differentials between regions will be offset 

in the long-term by an equal and opposite change in the exchange rate, i.e. an exchange rate should adjust to 

allow for relative inflation between two countries over the long-term, so that prices for products and services are 

the same in each. However, history also tells us that exchange rates may diverge from “fair value” for several 

reasons and for considerable periods of time.  As such, forecasting short-term exchange rates is notoriously 

difficult and is why many investors simply choose to hedge all or no exposure or select an arbitrary proportion.   

The chart below shows the deviation in inflation-adjusted exchange rates from long-term average.  

Real sterling exchange rates deviation from average since 1970 

 

The chart would suggest Sterling is currently less expensive, and might suggest a higher level of currency 

hedging would be appropriate. However, exchange rates can, and do, diverge considerably from PPP 

benchmarks and longer-term inflation adjusted averages for several reasons: 

• Economic – relative GDP and/or productivity growth, inflation and interest rate differentials 

• Financial – current and fiscal account balance and asset flows 

• Political uncertainty 

This can lead to periods of under- or over-valuation even if, over time, currencies do tend to oscillate around 

longer-term inflation-adjusted averages and market forces, not least the scope for arbitrage, tend to limit their 

deviation, returning them towards these levels.   

Looking forward, a premium for holding sterling might not seem unreasonable given the potential headwinds and 

ongoing uncertainty around the implications for the UK exit from the EU. 

On balance, we do not think there is any reason to adjust the strategy currency target on valuation 

grounds, at least in the short to medium term. 

Capital requirements and costs of running a hedging programme 

When a currency contract expires, one party has to make good its position to the other reflecting the movement 

in exchange rates since the contract was implemented. The chart below illustrates the range of monthly 

movement between sterling and the US dollar (by far the Fund’s largest regional equity holding). 

  

-50

-30

-10

10

30

50

70

1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

$/£

¥/£

€/£

Sterling more 
expensive

Sterling less 
expensive

145



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 39 

Monthly moves in USD/GBP, frequency of occurrence since 1987 

 

The chart shows that most monthly moves in sterling versus the dollar are between +/-3%, with only 2 

observations of a fall in sterling of 10% of more.  

Reflecting one of these extreme events, we note that during the latter part of February and first three weeks of 

March this year, sterling collapsed vs the Yen, Euro and US dollar by around 12%.  

On a programme of c.£850m, that meant a potential settlement of £100m. Given the hedging position was only 

covering 50% of the Fund’s equity exposure, it should be noted that the Fund had made £200m due to the same 

currency movements on the equities held. However, equities had fallen in value, and hence selling equities to 

settle the currency hedging would mean locking in the capital losses. 

Rather than selling equities, Aegon hold a cash reserve of c.£50m as at 30 September 2020, and they also have 

access to index-linked gilts which they can sell.  

In the normal course of events the flow of profits due to sterling strengthening or capital calls due to sterling 

weakening will be modest. However, the Fund needs to have access to capital in order to meet any settlement on 

currency losses. At the margin this tends towards a hedging target at the lower end of the acceptable 

range.  

Finally, we note that implementation costs will be dependent on mandate size but are typically a few basis points 

and should not therefore overly influence the validity of a currency hedging strategy.   

 
  

Sterling weaker 

146



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 40 

Appendix 2 – The future for property 

Introduction 

The UK property market has been undergoing structural change for a number of years, attributable to changes in 

urbanisation, demographics and investor sentiment. As Chart 1 shows below, the makeup of the broader market 

(represented here by the MSCI UK Quarterly Property Index) has been changing over the last two decades. 

Chart 1 – Sector Composition of MSCI UK Quarterly Property Index 

 

Source: MSCI. 

As the chart shows, retail represented just under half of all property investments in 2000 but this exposure has 

seen a decline to around 30% today, a trend that is expected to continue. Conversely, the industrial sector, which 

includes warehouses, manufacturing premises and logistics & distribution facilities, has been increasing its share 

over time, largely due to the increased demand for large distribution and logistics units. This trend is expected to 

continue but the increased presence of larger distribution and logistics facilities could make the sector more 

cyclically exposed to any decline in the economy amid lower consumer spending, reflecting the switch in consumer 

buying behaviour from high street to online. More recently, the office sector has experienced a decline in market 

share, pointing to a more recent trend towards flexible and remote working. Finally, the proportion of the UK 

property market represented by alternatives has grown to 15% and is expected to increase further; CBRE 

projections suggest exposure to move from 15% today to 25% by 2030. 

This paper examines recent UK property market performance before examining existing structural trends and the 

impact of the pandemic in either accelerating or stalling these trends, looking across each of these four sectors. 

We also explore how these changing market dynamics are likely to influence property returns going forward and 

discusses some of the ways that investors can reposition their portfolios over the coming years. 

Recent UK property market performance 

Before we describe the changing picture within sectors, it is important to understand how UK commercial property 

has performed over recent years, both before and during the onset of the pandemic.  

There was a concern even pre-pandemic that elements of the commercial property market were in the downturn 

phase of a cycle. However, the timing of the pandemic means that a normal market cycle cannot be presupposed. 

In fact, the future of all sectors will be affected by the shape of the economic recovery, affecting recent and future 

performance. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

Retail Office Industrial Alternatives

147



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 41 

  

The Bank of England indicated in August that it expects unemployment to reach 7.5% by the end of 2020, assuming 

a UK-EU trade agreement deal and assuming an extension of the furlough scheme. While there have been 

extensions to the furlough scheme, a trade agreement by 1 January 2021 remains uncertain at this stage.  

Hence, relative to the Bank of England position, on the downside, there is therefore the potential for no EU trade 

agreement, a continuation of further national lockdowns to control pandemic waves, or if a vaccine is slow to be 

distributed. 

Chart 2 – Rolling 3 Year Returns of the MSCI UK Monthly Property Index (All Property 2006-) 

 

Source: MSCI. 

The chart above shows that the returns for the UK property market have been falling since early 2016. This includes 

both the total return and capital return which were on an upward trend until Brexit-related uncertainty caused both 

measures to trend downwards. The chart shows that despite the Brexit-related uncertainty, the stability of income 

has remained, with the income return remaining just above 5% p.a. Rental growth has also been on a downward 

trend since 2016 reflecting the uncertainty that Brexit has had on the property market.  

While this chart shows how the broad UK property market has performed, it masks significant sector divergence, 

with the industrial sector performing far stronger than the retail sector in particular which has been under significant 

structural change (we explore this later in this paper). 

The UK property market saw an initial steepening of capital value falls in the early months of the pandemic, causing 

total returns to fall, although these have since moderated. Although all sectors have fallen, the retail sector has 

been the standout poorest performer so far this year. 

Sector analysis 

We now explore the changing dynamics in each of the four main property sectors:  

• retail;  

• industrials,  

• offices; and  

• alternatives. 

-25

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

15

20

25

2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Total Return Capital Growth Income Return Rental Value Growth

148



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 42 

Retail: All doom and gloom? 

Coming into 2020, the wider UK property market performance was already being dragged down by the retail 

sector. In 2019 16,073 store units closed across the UK with over 143,000 total job losses. This trend has 

continued into 2020 with 13,868 stores closing and job losses numbering over 125,000 so far in 2020 (up to 1 

September), with this number expected to increase to over 235,000. 

The pandemic and lockdown have certainly exacerbated a crisis in retail, a sector already struggling with a 

combination of the shift of consumer behaviour to online shopping, a slowing of consumer spending since 2015 

and fierce competition amongst retailers. The growing number of vacancies paired with the fact that investors are 

actively looking to reduce their retail exposure over the last few years has meant that capital values and overall 

performance of the sector has taken a significant hit. 

Given the national lockdown when all non-essential shops were closed, it’s no surprise that traditional retail is 

struggling. Rent collections in retail have been down markedly since March and estimates are that this will 

continue; although collection statistics vary across firms, Fitch reported three large property REITS collected 

between 16-36% of retail rents in June 2020, reflecting retailers having had essentially zero or drastically reduced 

revenues. With the recent extension of the moratorium on evictions until December, there is comment that some 

performing retailers deferring rents and landlords have little recourse in these situations. 

Since shops have started reopening, some cities are seeing a rebound in fortunes. While in London there has 

been a decline of footfall with levels only reaching around 31% of pre-crisis as at September 2020, the pandemic 

has changed commuting patterns (and thus spending patterns), meaning that footfall in some smaller regional  

towns, such as Blackpool and Bournemouth, has actually increased to 141% and 133% of pre-pandemic levels 

respectively. The obvious uncertainty is whether this is a short-term catch up, and what will be the longer-term 

trend.  

One change coming out of the pandemic is some renewed attention to turnover-based leases, which could help 

keep some retailers in business. Turnover-based leases see tenants pay rent based on their turnover and how 

sales perform. Certainly in this model, the landlord has a more active interest and becomes a participant in the 

store’s outcome; while this might result in more volatile and cyclical income streams, we wouldn’t expect the use 

of such leases to become commonplace and, as such, the overall impact to investors is likely to be muted. 

On a broader note, uncertainty around retailer performance and rising vacancies across the country will likely add 

downward pressure to rents, a picture worsened by the macro elements: should unemployment increase 

considerably or there is prolonged uncertainty, consumer spending will be hit, which will mean further pain for the 

retail sector in general. 

While the traditional retail picture is bleak, there are some potential brighter spots of retail that continue to attract 

investment. Essential retail, such as supermarkets, are well valued by investors for being typically long-term, 

inflation-linked leases. As supermarkets have stayed open throughout the pandemic, and even seen an uptick in 

revenue during lockdown as people couldn’t eat out, this particular sub-sector has fared very well. Other asset 

managers are looking to the future shopping experience with large retail parks (referred to as retail warehouses) 

anchored by a supermarket or large, well-known retailer. These are expected to fare well as they are naturally 

better pre-dispositioned for social distancing with spacious, outdoor layouts and also potentially support greater 

integration of click-and-collect as there is floor space available for storage.  

So what will happen with the abundance of vacant or distressed retail stock? If city centres wish to revitalise their 

high streets, the local councils will likely have to look to alternative uses for properties, which could provide some 

regional office or residential supply to other sectors.  

149



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 43 

Industrials: Logistics and the rise of ecommerce 

There has long been a rise in online shopping to the detriment of bricks and mortar retail. With the national 

lockdown affecting non-essential shops, this caused a massive spike in ecommerce activity as spending shifted 

online. Online ecommerce penetration jumped from 19% to 32% from February 2020 to May 2020 with a slight 

decrease since. Chart 3 below breaks this out by sector: 

Chart 3 – The Growth of E-Commerce in the UK 

 

Source: CBRE and the Office for National Statistics. 

Logistics, a sub-sector of industrials, has been a popular allocation for investors for some time.  The second 

quarter of 2020 saw a record take-up for UK logistics property, mainly driven by ecommerce-related functions. 

This is a spike in activity previously fuelled by tenants seeking to secure both larger warehouse spaces and 

smaller, “last-mile” facilities close to city centres.  

According to Fitch, rent collection in the logistics sector for April-June was 95% with collection rates for “big-box” 

assets higher than urban warehouses with smaller tenants.  This trend is augmented by investor demand for 

assets in such a resilient sector, which is pushing prices higher, particularly for large warehouses with prime 

tenants, such as Amazon, and investors need to be selective going forward. Although ecommerce could see a 

slight impact if consumer spending is reduced, this is not expected to dampen the enthusiasm or expectations for 

long-term logistics sector growth. 

Offices: Working hard or hardly working? 

The trend of flexible, or remote working, and for more flexible co-working spaces had begun to grow in favour, in 

part due to the rise of tech start-ups across the country and the growing popularity of collaborative working 

spaces made popular by the likes of WeWork.  

With lockdown forcing the vast majority of office workers to work from home, this trend has become the “norm”, 

and there have been many articles about the death of the office. While these concerns may be overstated, there 

has certainly been a sentiment shift amongst workers and companies are taking heed and re-examining their 

office space requirements. 

Pre-pandemic, employees who were working from home at least part of the time were a relatively small proportion 

of the workforce but had been growing as demonstrated in Chart 4.   

150



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 44 

Chart 4 – The Rise in Home Working 

 

Source: Federated Hermes and Morgan Stanley Research. 

A survey by Morgan Stanley has indicated a significant acceleration of this trend with all demographics and sectors 

indicating a preference to work from home more frequently in the future. There has been deterioration in sentiment 

for offices, with 93% of respondents to the RICS Q2 survey expect businesses to cut back on their office space 

requirements to some extent. A more recent survey by the Institute of Directors also reflects this trend with over 

50% of executives planning to cut office space after the pandemic, with over 21% indicating this cut is likely to be 

significant. In addition, nearly three-quarters of the executive respondents indicated that they would encourage 

staff to increase working from home post-pandemic. This change of demand is set to change the dynamics of office 

sector, but we may not see the impact for a few years as companies are unlikely to break current leases and will 

make any changes at lease renewal stage.  

However, we do not believe the pandemic spells the death of the office overall. The office remains important for 

both employers and employees. The office promotes cohesion, collaboration and brand recognition, and there is 

no question of the importance of the social aspect in this regard and the broader mental health wellbeing for most 

employees. However, office space originally marked for fixed desks may instead become more collaborative 

working spaces with increased hot-desking. 

For investors, it is expected that location becomes even more important: well-located, best-in-class assets, with a 

strong ESG profile, will maintain the most robust valuations. However, as with all sectors, office demand could be 

affected by the economic recovery: a lack of economic recovery will likely lead to corporate insolvencies and 

increased layoffs and unemployment. 

Alternatives: Mixed fortunes 

Alternatives is a catch-all sector for assets outside of the main three sectors: retail, office and industrials. Within 

alternatives, hotels and residential (typically purpose-built rental accommodation rather than individual houses 

and flats) are the most established sectors, but there has been a more recent emergence of student 

accommodation and healthcare underpinned by similar fundamentals: changes in demographics, a rise in middle-

class incomes and urbanisation.  

 

9.1% 9.4%
8.5% 8.5% 9.0% 9.1% 9.6% 9.7% 10.0% 10.1%

10.1%
11.0% 11.1%

11.3%
11.6%

12.7%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

% Usually working from home % Sometimes working from home Total

151



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 45 

Residential property has, by far, proven itself to be the most resilient sector during the crisis and this is no real 

surprise as it is expected that the population will continue paying for its housing costs whenever possible. The 

Private Rented Sector (PRS) is a nascent sector in the UK but is quickly gaining traction, although there is very 

limited supply. Given the resilience and supply and demand factors, this will continue to be a sector of interest for 

investors going forward. 

Other sectors within alternatives have had a much more mixed picture. UK hospitality has seen a bifurcation in 

performance. On the one hand, business hotels in city centres have suffered dramatically and have uncertain 

futures given the lack of business travel and the uncertainty over whether (or even if) business travel will 

normalise back to pre-pandemic levels. On the other hand, hotels positioned to take advantage of the UK boom 

in domestic holidays are performing beyond expectations.  

Investment in student accommodation has risen over the last few years and one would expect the pandemic to 

cause challenges in this sector. While we may have expected the pandemic to have discouraged foreign students 

(or at least encouraged deferral of places), for high quality assets linked to red brick universities, there has been 

no change in performance. In fact, initial data shows lower than expected vacancy rates as universities have 

taken on more domestic students. A key question is the extent to which this persists. 

With the healthcare sector, it remains to be seen how it will fare through the pandemic. While an ageing 

population had meant a rise in care homes and investment as a sector, the sector has suffered general 

reputational damage due to its handling of the pandemic and the fact that care home residents suffered more 

than the general population. 

Income based property 

Long lease property funds invest in a subset of the UK property market, specifically targeting properties let to 

(typically higher quality) tenants on long, index-linked leases typically in excess of 15 years. Long lease funds 

have invested in a wide range of sub-sectors including supermarkets, leisure, offices, medical facilities, hotels 

and student accommodation, where the income stream is expected to be robust and sustainable. The resilience 

of these sectors throughout the pandemic has been mixed: given the long duration requirement of lease 

agreements, long lease property funds have avoided significant exposures to the troubled parts of the UK retail 

sector (high street retail and shopping centres), and have benefitted from exposure to supermarkets. However, 

exposures to hotels, leisure and student accommodation has seen the biggest immediate stress due to a fall in 

rent collections amid the lockdown enacted in March.  

Commercial ground rents can be considered an extension of long-lease, with even greater value placed on the 

income rather than residual values. The main security for holdings, other than tenant quality, is the over-

collateralisation provided through vacant possession values being greater than the value of the ground rents. 

While the pandemic has placed greater pressure on rent collection than long lease funds given exposure to 

leisure sector, this vacant possession value provides protection to valuations, so long as vacant possession 

values do not decline materially too.     

We have explored many of these sectors above and to date rent collection on long lease funds has been stronger 

than the broader market, but it should be noted that the starting yield on long lease property is typically lower 

than for the broader property market (reflecting the expected security of income) and any tenant credit event can 

therefore impact the stability of future returns. 

A reduction in broad market rents that leads to overrenting of long-lease properties would also affect residual 

values. Any reduction in rent collection and increasing concerns about the short-term prospects of some sectors 

that long lease funds target, predominantly leisure and student accommodation, means that the near-term 

outlook for these elements of some long lease funds is less predictable as this pandemic continues, but we have 

152



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 46 

greater conviction in the medium and long-term prospects of long lease funds compared to core balanced 

property funds. 

Forward-looking return expectations 

As is expected in times like these, any forecasts for economic growth are ever-changing in the face of changing 

expectations for economic recovery and potential lockdowns. The UK is now officially in a recession. In July 2020, 

UK GDP had recovered 18.5% above its low in April but still remained below Q4 2019 by some 11.5%. For Q3 as 

a whole, the expectation is that GDP will be around 7% less than Q4 2019. However, there are differing views, 

even within the Bank of England, as to how protracted the recovery will be amid assertions that some sectors may 

not fully recover.  

For property specifically, capital values at an aggregate level fell through the first half of 2020. However, it is hard 

to base too much certainty about the outlook on these figures - the few transactions that have been completed 

have focused on prime, i.e. best in class assets, and there hasn’t been much of a move in pricing for these assets. 

The temporary protections such as government support, moratorium on evictions, and lenders overlooking 

covenant breaches has removed motivation for any stressed or distressed sellers. While there is some stability 

coming through in the data, it could be seen as a potential “false dawn” if there are more insolvencies and 

unemployment to come and, in this scenario,, once transactions normalise, it’s likely that values would fall further. 

Many property managers we have spoken to expect capital value declines to continue into next year, with CBRE 

predicting a total fall peak-to-trough across all property of about 15% over 11 quarters with the expected trough in 

H1 2021. This compares favourably to corrections in the past with the Global Financial Crisis peak to trough decline 

being 40% over 8 quarters and the 1990s correction which took 14 quarters and a value drop of 25-30%. This 

smaller peak-to-trough is mainly attributable to the monetary policy backdrop with low yields across the board.  

With this unprecedented low yield environment, property yield spreads are relatively wide versus fixed income 

yields from a historical perspective. It is expected that this will give some support to values, suggesting less decline 

than seen in other market shocks.  

With capital values likely to continue to face downward pressure well into 2021, total return expectations among 

those property investors brave enough to make forecasts over the next 3-5 years have low single digit returns for 

UK commercial property. Income returns should mitigate the declining capital values but we do not believe we have 

yet reached the bottom of the current property cycle. While rental value growth had been broadly flat over the last 

few years, in mid-2019 this started trending downwards month-on-month. Void rates on the MSCI UK Monthly 

Property Index are also trending higher, driven by increased vacancies in the retail sector, and are now above 

historical averages. 

So, what next? Looking further afield 

The return expectations outlined above do not compare favourably to returns experienced over the last decade so 

investors will have to look to other areas in the property sector for attractive risk-adjusted return going forward.  

We expect future property allocations among investors could look markedly different to current allocations, which 

are dominated by the UK core commercial property market sectors. There are potentially two areas of the property 

market investors may look to target to mitigate against the current risks to UK commercial property. 

UK Residential Sector 

There is a structural imbalance in the UK housing market with a chronic shortage of supply caused by under-

development and an increase in the population. People are renting for longer as it takes a lot longer to save a 

deposit to buy a house. According to a Government report in 2018, the number of households in the Private Rental 

Sector (PRS) had doubled in 15 years, with 20% of households now residing in PRS. This is a demand trend we 

expect to continue, which will further support this nascent sector going forward. 

153



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 47 

The residential sector has experienced materially more stable rental growth relative to the commercial property 

market over the last 15 years, with year on year growth typically range bound between +1% and +3%, except in 

H2 2009/H1 2010 when it dropped to -1%. This compares with the commercial property market, which has varied 

between a low of -8% (in H2 2009) and +5% (source: Thomson Reuters, DataStream, ONS, MSCI and ASI).  

We have also seen the resilience of the sector during the pandemic and expect that it will continue to be the most 

resilient sector as people typically prioritise paying rent over other expenses regardless of their economic situation. 

Investing in the residential sector provides diversification to a commercial property portfolio and we consider it to 

be a good complementary investment.  

The residential property market currently only accounts for just over 3% of the MSCI UK Monthly Property Index, 

although we expect this share to grow over the coming years.  

The sector is still relatively difficult for investors to access, reflecting the national lack of supply. As such most 

investment will require some development risk, and we are seeing focused strategies that sometimes blend an 

element of social housing as well.  

Returns vary according to the sub-sector of the residential market, in particular with higher returns available for the 

private rented sector compared to social and affordable housing, which is subject to greater regulation. In any 

event, investors will be potentially need to invest at the construction stage in order to generate returns that are 

more comparable with historical UK commercial property returns as investing in purely operational assets will 

deliver returns many consider to be insufficient to make an allocation. 

Global Property 

On a relative value basis, UK property is currently considered undervalued compared to most of the continent, 

mostly due to underperformance following the Brexit referendum in 2016 and the ongoing risk premium arising 

from the uncertainty of a Brexit deal. Once there is more certainty on a Brexit deal (or even no deal and the dust 

has settled), we can expect international capital flows back into the asset class and yields will begin to compress.  

According to LaSalle Investment Management, the UK real estate market in 2018 was only around 6% of global 

institutionally owned real estate with a regional breakdown as follows: Americas 36%, Europe 28%, Asia Pacific 

31% and ROW 5%. While the UK has always been attractive for foreign capital as it is a relatively liquid market 

backed by a strong legal framework, the benefit of a global allocation to property is the diversification beyond the 

domestic market provided from an enhanced opportunity set. While there is no doubt that real estate markets 

outside of the UK are undergoing similar trends, particularly in retail, a focus on resilient sectors internationally 

would be of benefit to all investors with a property allocation. 

It is important to look beyond Europe to include allocations to the United States, the largest and most liquid property 

market in the world, as well as potentially Asia-Pacific. According to Invesco, the investable universe in transparent 

and developed markets is estimated at $19.3 trillion, equating to over 70% of the total global real estate universe.  

Diversification through a global property approach brings the benefit of scope for risk reduction both within a 

portfolio and can reduce the risk profile of the overall property portfolio.  

We acknowledge some will have retained scars from investing in overseas property from the global financial crisis 

when many were left with poor performing, illiquid overseas holdings that often took years from which to redeem. 

Implementation challenges remain to mitigate risks, minimise tax leakage and deliver attractive risk-adjusted 

returns. However, we believe lessons have been learnt from the mistakes made over a decade ago and there are 

a greater number of truly global strategies now available to investors for investors looking for long-term holdings 

and a focus on broader return rather than income focused return.  

154



 

 Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

January 2021 48 

ESG and Impact Investing 

ESG, climate change and sustainability in particular, are now firmly on the agenda in major real estate markets as 

investors look to manage climate change risks especially. The global transition away from fossil fuels and towards 

a low-carbon economy has significant impact on buildings, with Savills having estimated that real estate is 

responsible for almost 40% of energy and process-related emissions globally.  

Asset managers predict that it will become almost impossible to sell buildings that aren’t climate friendly, requiring 

further investment to bring them up to standard. Highly efficient buildings can mean higher levels of operational 

performance, lower emissions and lower cost of capital. 

Investors are also increasingly taking into consideration the social side of ESG. There is no denying that real estate 

plays a significant role in our lives and society; from houses and flats where we live to our workplaces, where we 

shop and locations where the things we use or buy are made or stored. There is, therefore, a real social impact of 

building in and around communities, from creating jobs to providing housing.  

Investors concerned with ESG can look to specific funds or strategies with either a focus on the environment or 

social impact, but it is worth noting that many asset managers are already integrating ESG within their core 

investment processes. 

Important Considerations 

One of the key considerations investors must consider when investing in property is transaction costs. Unlisted UK 

commercial property is an expensive asset class to invest in, typically incurring high spreads of c.7-8% from entry 

to exit, largely due to stamp duty. While fund structure may increase the tax efficiency and reduce costs, investors 

should generally make allocations for the long-term and only invest if they are prepared to lock capital away for at 

least a full market cycle.  

Investors looking to transition some or all of their current UK core commercial property portfolios into newer areas 

of the market should be mindful that it can take a number of quarters for capital to be drawn in the solutions outlined 

in the previous section so should plan accordingly. 

 

155



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classified as Internal 

 

 

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

FOR PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS ONLY 

 

Leicestershire County Council Pension Fund (“LPF”) Strategic Asset Allocation third party 

advice review:  

Scope of work: Hymans Robertson report reviewed – 21st December 2020 – 6th January 2021  

LGPS Central Limited (“LGPSC”) officers: Colin Pratt (Investment Director), Stanislav Grozev 

(Portfolio Manager), Gordon Ross (Chief Investment Officer), Ian Brown (Head of Private Markets), 

Mike Hardwick (Investment Director). 

 

Executive Summary 

The broad Strategic Asset Allocation proposed by the investment consultant is unchanged from last 

year. In our review of last year’s recommendations LGPS Central commented that we were 

comfortable that the estimated long-term asset class returns used by the consultant were 

reasonable, and that the resultant assumption for long-term investment returns at a total Pension 

Fund level provided sufficient ‘headroom’ to give a strong possibility of achieving a return that is at 

least as high as that assumed within the 2019 actuarial valuation of the Fund. 

While the intervening period has been unique from both a social perspective and within investment 

markets, overall returns have been surprisingly good – although very volatile. The speed and extent 

of the market sell-off in February and March 2020 was unusual, but not as unusual as the speed and 

extent of the recovery within asset classes such as equities and corporate bonds.  

The consultant’s long-term (20-year) investment return expectations are lower across all asset 

classes than they were at the time of the 2019 actuarial valuation. For certain asset classes 

(specifically within bond and credit markets) this reflects the reality of lower yields, while in others it 

reflects a combination of the higher-than-anticipated short-term returns that have been achieved 

and the game-changing impact of COVID-19 onto the global economy and individual 

companies/asset classes. LGPS Central believes that these lower forecast returns remain reasonable 

and still suggest that the required investment return can be achieved by the proposed Strategic 

Asset Allocation. 

Overall, the proposed Strategic Asset Allocation appears to give a good balance of risk and return 

that is appropriate for a Pension Fund of Leicestershire’s level of maturity. 

There are a number of comments that we would like to make in respect of specific proposals 

included in the investment consultant’s report. 

  

PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

FOR PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS ONLY 

 

Appendix B  

157



 

Classified as Internal 

Private Equity 

It is noted that the Leicestershire Pension Fund is currently above its target weighting to Private 

Equity (PE). The lack of certainty about cashflows within PE makes maintenance of any target 

difficult when it is expressed as a percentage of assets, given the number of moving parts within a 

Pension Fund. 

It is often tempting to ‘manage’ the weighting down by not committing further capital, in the 

expectation that distributions being ahead of drawdowns going forward will create a natural 

rebalancing. This, however, risks having gaps within vintage years and this is not optimal, given that 

it is impossible to know in advance when the best vintage years will be. It seems sensible to continue 

to commit capital to new vintage years, despite the already overweight position and the consultant’s 

proposals recognise this. 

Figures provided by Adams Street Partners (ASP) suggest that net cash distributions from 

Leicestershire Pension Fund’s investments with them will turn significantly positive in 2021 and 

accelerate thereafter, meaning that new commitments (which will be drawn over multiple years) 

should be able to be made without further increasing the overweighting of the asset class. 

Historically, falls in quoted equity markets have encouraged LPs to sell some of their PE investments 

within the secondary market as the ‘denominator effect’ has pushed their PE weighting up. Given 

the remarkable turnaround in quoted markets since the middle of March 2020 – in respect of both 

the speed and level of market rises – there may be less motivated sellers than would have been 

expected six month ago as this denominator effect has reversed itself very quickly. There are also 

signs of ‘dry powder’ within dedicated secondary funds and this may lead to overpayment (i.e. 

narrower discounts) by managers. While these two factors may point to a less attractive secondary 

market opportunity than has been brought about by previous quoted equity market falls, there are 

still sufficient reasons to suggest that the secondary market will still offer attractive returns for 

investors. The secondary market has matured considerably over the last decade and many sales are 

now inspired by portfolio management techniques rather than simply to manage the overall 

weighting of the asset class. 

ASP’s secondary fund offerings are, however, different to many secondary fund strategies in that 

they are looking to purchase only select funds that they know and understand. They often buy single 

funds where the GP is leading the sale on behalf of investors, and where the GP will only allow sale 

to a select group of investors. Many of the GP funds purchased in the secondary market by ASP are 

held already held within their Primary Funds (c. 80% by value).  

An unwillingness to buy anything that they do not fundamentally believe to be exceptionally 

attractive tends to lead to smaller discounts than the average achieved within the secondary market 

and as an illustration their current secondary fund has achieved an average discount of 7%, against a 

market average of roughly double this over the investment period so far. ASP’s historic performance 

in the secondary market has been strong, despite not benefitting hugely from simply buying at big 

discounts to NAV, and well over 80% of the performance achieved has come from improved 

company valuations rather than the discount achieved on purchase. Their secondary product 

offering is differentiated to much of the market, and not in direct competition with it.  

An investment in the new ASP Secondaries Fund is justified by their historic strong performance and 

by market dynamics which suggest they will be able to usefully deploy any capital raised. Their 

current Secondary Fund (Fund VI) offering is, however, currently only about 75% committed and the 

use of a subscription line for Fund VII means that it may be at least 18 months before any capital is 

158



 

Classified as Internal 

drawn from investors. If the Leicestershire Pension Fund has a strong desire to increase its exposure 

to secondary PE funds more quickly than this, LGPS Central would be happy to help them to consider 

the options available.  

Currency Hedging 

It would be difficult to argue that Sterling’s position as one of the world’s ‘safe haven’ currencies still 

exists, or that it will be regained in the foreseeable future. As a result, it is not unreasonable to 

suggest that, in general, Sterling will weaken against other major global currencies (USD, JPY, EUR 

and increasingly the Chinese Renminbi) in times of market stress.  

If Sterling is expected to generally weaken in times of market stress, having a hedge in place will 

offset some of the gains that would otherwise be achieved due to the strengthening of overseas 

currencies against Sterling. Further, the hedging produces an outcome in this situation whereby cash 

is required to meet any daily mark-to-market losses incurred by the hedges. While the need to sell 

assets to meet this cost can be managed to a certain extent by the retention of a ‘float’, it is sub-

optimal for this float to be too large as it means that cash is always retained and cannot be invested 

productively (i.e. into assets that are expected to produce positive performance in the long-term). A 

reduction of the Sterling hedge makes the physical management of the cashflows relating to it more 

straightforward and reduces the risk of having to make forced sales at inopportune times. But this is 

not in itself a good reason to reduce the hedge; were Sterling to strengthen the opportunity cost of a 

lower hedge would by far outweigh any practical benefits achieved by easier management of the 

hedge.  

Currency hedging reduces overall volatility of returns, although there is only a relatively modest 

difference in this volatility at any level between 30% and 70%. Amending the level of currency hedge 

will impact onto future investment returns and it makes sense to take into account the current 

perceived ‘fair value’ of Sterling against its actual level when making a change. Given that the 

proposal is to reduce the level of the hedge, it is clearly optimal to do this when Sterling is strong. 

Assessing fair value for any asset is somewhat subjective, and currencies are generally judged on a 

relative basis rather than in absolute terms so are even more difficult to value definitively. The broad 

principle of a reduction in the hedging amount is based on sound logic of protecting value when it is 

most needed (i.e. when asset values are falling). The timing of the change is more difficult, and it 

would be worthwhile seeking the views of a number of different investment managers with specific 

currency expertise to try to ascertain the appropriate way forward. LGPS Central would be happy to 

use its contacts to assist in this. The Leicestershire Pension Fund’s major currency exposure is to the 

US Dollar and market positioning by investors currently suggests an expectation for weakness within 

this currency. The market is, of course, not always correct. 

LGPS Central’s current view is that Sterling does not have an obvious material mis-valuation against 

overseas currencies in general, although the very recent announcement of a new national lockdown 

is likely to slow the speed of economic recovery and limit any immediate sterling strength. We do, 

however, believe that the USD may well suffer in the period ahead and it is our least favoured 

currency. Given that the USD is the largest exposure within the hedge, we are of the opinion that 

reducing the default hedge at this point should only be undertaken after it has been given very 

careful consideration. 

It is considered sensible to continue to allow Kames Capital flexibility on the percentage of each 

currency to actually hedge (i.e. they can deviate from the default if they feel this to be appropriate). 

159



 

Classified as Internal 

This will allow them to take account of factors that may be relevant to a single currency (e.g. they 

may consider it likely that the JPY will strengthen while the USD simultaneously weakens). 

The Leicestershire Pension Fund also has exposure to currencies through assets other than equities 

and bonds, and it would be appropriate to review the position of this at the same time as 

considering the potential implementation of a lower equity-related currency hedge. It is likely that 

the only meaningful exposures to currencies outside of the equity-related positions would be for the 

US Dollar and Euro. 

Indirect Residential Property 

The current underweight position of property investment relative to benchmark is noted, and the 

consultant’s view that there is no obvious urgency to correct this position is broadly supported by 

LGPS Central. This does not mean to say that there are not opportunities within the market, but 

there has certainly not been any significant fall in asset prices (except where justified by specific 

events such as tenants going into administration) that make the market appear extremely cheap. 

Sector and individual property selection are likely to be key to strong performance in the near-term. 

We believe that there will always be opportunities within the property market and that it is best to 

keep an open mind to investing in opportunistic value-add opportunities that are usually best 

accessed via specialist managers that are able to use their expertise, network and dynamism to 

harness them. 

Adding an exposure to residential property (over-and-above the modest investment within the La 

Salle portfolio) will enhance diversification within a property portfolio.  

Investors have been gaining exposure to residential property for a number of years now, having 

found it very difficult to access the area previously due to the need to purchase multiple properties 

(for both diversification and lot size reasons) and the logistical management issues that this brings. 

While there are now many more structured ways of accessing the residential opportunity, it is our 

fundamental view that it remains an area from which achieving good investment returns is quite 

difficult. There is limited evidence of managers who have been successful within this niche area and 

some of the track records are not long enough to cover a genuine residential property market cycle, 

so it is an area on which we remain wary. Getting access to the right manager with the right strategy 

is key. 

There are certain areas of the property market to which it makes sense for individual investors, no 

matter how large, to gain access through pooled funds run by specialist managers. LGPS Central 

continues to work with Partner Funds to try to agree a suitable product that will allow them access 

to these areas indirectly. At present there is insufficient clarity about the structure of this product 

(e.g. will it be a ‘sleeved’ approach with individual Partner Funds able to allocate to those areas in 

which they have an interest) and the timing of its launch to know whether a future product will be 

suitable for Leicestershire Pension Fund’s requirements. Residential does, however, seem to be an 

area of strong interest from Partner Funds and it seems highly likely that this will form part of the 

offering. If this is the case we will be looking to invest only with ‘best in asset class’ managers and 

only in the areas of residential property where the risk/return relationship appear strongest, as we 

do not believe that a blanket approach to residential property will necessarily enhance returns 

relative to broader commercial property opportunities.   

  

160



 

Classified as Internal 

Summary 

LGPS Central is of the opinion that the overall Strategic Asset Allocation proposed by the investment 

consultant is a sensible balance of risk and return that is suited to the maturity of the Leicestershire 

Pension Fund, and is one that has a high probability of producing the long-term returns that are 

required to meet the discount rate used in the latest actuarial valuation. 

Within Private Equity we support continued commitment to the asset class, despite the currently 

overweight position. Net distributions from ASP are likely to be strong in 2021 and beyond and 

provide plenty of scope to ‘recycle’ them without increasing the actual weighting. Secondary PE 

Funds can potentially enhance returns and reduce risk within the asset class, particularly when they 

have a differentiated approach and do not rely exclusively on large discounts to Net Asset Value to 

produce returns. The ASP Secondaries Fund VII is one such opportunity, although LGPS Central is 

happy to assist the Leicestershire Pension Fund if it wants to gain secondary market exposure more 

quickly than is likely to be achieved through a commitment to this Fund. It is also considered optimal 

for Leicestershire Pension Fund to continue to commit to Primary Funds in order to ensure that no 

vintage year ‘gaps’ appear within its PE portfolio. 

There is no obvious reason from an investment perspective to suggest that there is a pressing need 

to close the gap between the actual and target weighting within the property asset class, although 

attractive opportunities should be taken when they become available. Indirect residential property 

investment would assist in diversifying the current almost exclusive weighting to commercial 

property, although LGPS Central believes that only experienced property investment managers 

operating within the most attractive sub-sectors of residential property are likely to add value 

relative to a continued focus on commercial property.  

Within the Leicestershire Pension Fund’s currency hedging program, LGPS Central agrees that 

Sterling is not currently (and is unlikely to return to) a ‘safe haven’ currency and will in general tend 

to weaken in times of market stress. This will lead to currency losses that occur at the same time as 

losses within the Leicestershire Pension Fund’s other assets. The volatility reduction achieved at any 

level of hedge of equity currency exposure between 30% and 70% is relatively insignificant, so there 

is no clear case that there is an ‘optimal’ level of hedge. Changing a currency hedge position does, 

however, alter future investment outcomes quite significantly and should only be undertaken 

following detailed consideration about whether the timing is appropriate. LGPS Central’s view is that 

the USD (the main currency exposure achieved through equities) is more likely to weaken against 

sterling than it is to strengthen in the period ahead, and if this is correct the proposed reduction in 

the hedge ratio does not seem to be currently appropriate. While LGPS Central supports the 

principle of a lower hedge, we would strongly recommend that the timing of its implementation is 

considered very carefully and that the views of a number of currency experts are sought. We would 

be very happy to assist the Leicestershire Pension Fund in obtaining these views. 

LGPS Central is happy to answer any questions relating to this report. 

 

Colin Pratt, Investment Director – Targeted Return and Manager of Managers 

6th January 2021 

 

 

161



 

Classified as Internal 

 

This document has been produced by LGPS Central Limited and is intended solely for your 

information purposes. Any opinions, forecasts or estimates herein constitute a judgement, as 

at the date of this report, that is subject to change without notice.  It does not constitute an 

offer or an invitation by or on behalf of LGPS Central Limited to any person to buy or sell any 

security or product.  Any reference to past performance is not a guide to any future 

performance.  The information and analysis contained in this publication have been compiled 

or arrived at from sources believed to be reliable, but LGPS Central Limited does not make 

any representation as to their accuracy or completeness and does not accept any liability 

from loss arising from the use thereof. The opinions and conclusions expressed in this 

document are solely those of the author. This document may not be produced, either in 

whole or part, without the written permission of LGPS Central Limited. 

 

All information is prepared as of 06/01/2021 if not stated otherwise 

 

This document is intended for PROFESSIONAL CLIENTS only. 

 

LGPS Central Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. 

Registered in England Registered No: 10425159. Registered Office: Mander House, Mander 

Centre, Wolverhampton, WV1 3NB 

 

 

162


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2020.
	Minutes

	6 Funding Strategy Statement - Employer Risks and Exits
	Appendix - FSS - Consultation on Employer Reg Flexibilities January 2021(f)

	7 Draft Responsible Investment Plan 2021.
	Appendix A LGPSC Stewardship Code 2020 Reporting Brief
	Appendix  B 2020 RI Plan update Jan 2021

	8 Annual Review of the Asset Strategy and Structure.
	Appendix A - LCCPF strategy review 2021 vf 130121
	Appendix B - LGPS Central Leicestershire SAA comments - January 2021 (final version)




